Actuate ne

One Design One Server One User Experience

Using Information Console

Information in this document is subject to change without notice. Examples provided are fictitious. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form, or by any means, electronic or mechanical, for any purpose, in whole or in part, without the express written permission of Actuate Corporation.

© 1995 - 2013 by Actuate Corporation. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

Contains information proprietary to:

Actuate Corporation, 951 Mariners Island Boulevard, San Mateo, CA 94404

www.actuate.com

The software described in this manual is provided by Actuate Corporation under an Actuate License agreement. The software may be used only in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Actuate software products are protected by U.S. and International patents and patents pending. For a current list of patents, please see http://www.actuate.com/patents.

Actuate Corporation trademarks and registered trademarks include:

Actuate, ActuateOne, the Actuate logo, Archived Data Analytics, BIRT, BIRT 360, BIRT Analytics, The BIRT Company, BIRT Data Analyzer, BIRT iHub, BIRT Performance Analytics, Collaborative Reporting Architecture, e.Analysis, e.Report, e.Reporting, e.Spreadsheet, Encyclopedia, Interactive Viewing, OnPerformance, The people behind BIRT, Performancesoft, Performancesoft Track, Performancesoft Views, Report Encyclopedia, Reportlet, X2BIRT, and XML reports.

Actuate products may contain third-party products or technologies. Third-party trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners, companies, or organizations include: Mark Adler and Jean-loup Gailly (www.zlib.net): zLib. Adobe Systems Incorporated: Flash Player. Amazon Web Services, Incorporated: Amazon Web Services SDK, licensed under the Apache Public License (APL). Apache Software Foundation (www.apache.org): Ant, Axis, Axis2, Batik, Batik, SVG library, Commons Command Line Interface (CLI), Commons Codec, Crimson, Derby, Hive driver for Hadoop, Pluto, Portals, Shindig, Struts, Tomcat, Xalan, Xerces, Xerces2 Java Parser, and Xerces-C++ XML Parser. Castor (www.castor.org), ExoLab Project (www.exolab.org), and Intalio, Inc. (www.intalio.org): Castor. Day Management AG: Content Repository for Java. Eclipse Foundation, Inc. (www.eclipse.org): Babel, Data Tools Platform (DTP) ODA, Eclipse SDK, Graphics Editor Framework (GEF), Eclipse Modeling Framework (EMF), and Eclipse Web Tools Platform (WTP), licensed under the Eclipse Public License (EPL). Gargoyle Software Inc.: HtmlUnit, licensed under Apache License Version 2.0. GNU Project: GNU Regular Expression, licensed under the GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPLv3). HighSlide: HighCharts. Jason Hsueth and Kenton Varda (code.google.com): Protocole Buffer. IDAutomation.com, Inc.: IDAutomation. IDRsolutions Ltd.: JBIG2, licensed under the BSD license. InfoSoft Global (P) Ltd.: FusionCharts, FusionMaps, FusionWidgets, PowerCharts. Matt Inger (sourceforge.net): Ant-Contrib, licensed under Apache License Version 2.0. Matt Ingenthron, Eric D. Lambert, and Dustin Sallings (code.google.com): Spymemcached, licensed under the MIT OSI License. International Components for Unicode (ICU): ICU library. jQuery: jQuery, licensed under the MIT License. Yuri Kanivets (code.google.com): Android Wheel gadget, licensed under the Apache Public License (APL). LEAD Technologies, Inc.: LEADTOOLS. The Legion of the Bouncy Castle: Bouncy Castle Crypto APIs. Bruno Lowagie and Paulo Soares: iText, licensed under the Mozilla Public License (MPL). Microsoft Corporation (Microsoft Developer Network): CompoundDocument Library. Mozilla: Mozilla XML Parser, licensed under the Mozilla Public License (MPL). MySQL Americas, Inc.: MySQL Connector. Netscape Communications Corporation, Inc.: Rhino, licensed under the Netscape Public License (NPL). OOPS Consultancy: XMLTask, licensed under the Apache License, Version 2.0. Oracle Corporation: Berkeley DB, Java Advanced Imaging, JAXB, JDK, Jstl. PostgreSQL Global Development Group: pgAdmin, PostgreSQL, PostgreSQL JDBC driver. Progress Software Corporation: DataDirect Connect XE for JDBC Salesforce, DataDirect JDBC, DataDirect ODBC. Rogue Wave Software, Inc.: Rogue Wave Library SourcePro Core, tools.h++. Sam Stephenson (prototype.conio.net): prototype.js, licensed under the MIT license. Sencha Inc.: Ext JS, Sencha Touch. ThimbleWare, Inc.: JMemcached, licensed under the Apache Public License (APL). World Wide Web Consortium (W3C) (MIT, ERCIM, Keio): Flute, JTidy, Simple API for CSS. XFree86 Project, Inc.: (www.xfree86.org): xvfb. ZXing authors (code.google.com): ZXing, licensed under the Apache Public License (APL).

All other brand or product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners, companies, or organizations.

Document No. 130131-2-640302 January 28, 2013

Contents

About Using Information Consolev
Chapter 1
Introducing Actuate Information Console
Delivering BIRT content 2
About Information Console
Browsing content in a volume
Understanding content life cycle
Getting started
Navigating
Selecting a view
Applying a skin
Accessing Information Console features
Understanding available features
Reviewing BIRT iHub license options 12
Setting options
Choosing general options
Setting an e-mail address
Enabling filter options
Setting the document viewing option
Updating password
Choosing dashboard options 14
Choosing notification options 15
Creating a default folder for document viewing 16
Using browser bookmarks 18
Customizing skins
About optional browser-based tools 19
About Information Console documentation 22
Obtaining documentation
Using PDF documentation
Obtaining documentation updates 24
Chapter 2
Working with items in a volume
Working with a file
Viewing file properties
Deleting a file
Archiving a file
Adding a file

About document files	.31
Viewing a document	.31
Opening a BIRT dashboard or gadget	.32
Downloading a file	.33
Working with file types	.33
Understanding file categories	.34
Using Information Objects	.35
Using Documents You Can View	.36
Using Items You Can Run	.38
Sharing access to a file or folder	.39
Setting privileges for a file or folder	.39
Working with a folder	.43
Using Folders	.43
Viewing folder properties	.44
Creating a folder	.45
Deleting a folder	.46
Finding a file	.47
Understanding folder organization	.47
Searching files and folders	.47
Filtering items in a folder	.51
Using a channel	.52
Subscribing to a channel	.53
Viewing a job completion notice	.54
Viewing a document from a channel	.54
Deleting a job completion notice	.55
Chapter 3	
Using BIRT dashboards	57
About dashboards and gadgets	.58
About BIRT dashboard functionality	.58
About web browsers	59

About web browsers
Using the personal dashboard
Subscribing to a dashboard file
About dashboard options
Organizing the personal dashboard
Copying a shared dashboard64
Showing user selections on a dashboard65
Printing a dashboard
Saving dashboard changes
Restoring dashboard settings
Types of dashboard gadgets
About report gadgets

About extras gadgets	
About data visualization gadgets	
About data selection gadgets	
About performance gadgets	
Using a gadget	81
Drilling into a chart gadget	83
Filtering gadget content	
Filtering top and bottom values	
Exporting gadget content	
Exporting gadget data	
Maximizing gadgets	90
Refreshing gadget content	93
Showing linked gadgets	93
Switching the view of a cross tab gadget	95
Zooming in to a chart	96
Concelling and get content concertion	
Chapter 4	
Running file jobs	
About running and scheduling file jobs	100
Rupping a file job	101
Punning a BIPT design or report everytable ish	101
Cabadalina a fila iab	101
Scheduling a file job	
Using parameters	108
Understanding parameter types	109
Using multiple-value parameters	

Making expressions for ad hoc parameters	
Using a dynamic filter operator	
Tracking a file job	
Using date-and-time expressions in names	

Chapter 5

Using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices	23
About using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices12	24
Using Mobile Subscriptions	26
Configuring a connection profile	28
Using BIRT Viewer for mobile devices 13	30
Viewing a report	30
Navigating a multipage report 13	32
Using parameter values 13	33
Exporting a report 13	35
Printing a report	37

Index	143
Launching third-party applications	.139 .140
Sharing a report	.139

Using Information Console provides information about using Actuate Information Console to access, create, and run files stored in an Encyclopedia volume.

This document is a guide for general users of a default Information Console installation. Technical concepts and explanations about how to accomplish common activities are included in the following chapters. For more detailed information about any of the subjects discussed, see the complete set of Actuate documentation included with Actuate software or contact your volume administrator.

The following chapters are included:

- About Using Information Console. This chapter provides an overview of this guide.
- *Chapter 1. Introducing Actuate Information Console.* This chapter explains how Information Console supports delivering BIRT content using a web browser.
- Chapter 2. Working with items in a volume. This chapter explains how Information Console supports specific file and folder operations on an Actuate server system.
- *Chapter 3. Using BIRT dashboards.* This chapter describes how an Information Console user works with shared dashboards.
- *Chapter 4. Running file jobs.* This chapter explains how to schedule and run file jobs using Information Console.
- Chapter 5. Using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices. This chapter provides information about using BIRT Mobile with Information Console.

Chapter

Introducing Actuate Information Console

This chapter contains the following topics:

- Delivering BIRT content
- About Information Console
- Getting started
- Accessing Information Console features
- Reviewing BIRT iHub license options
- Setting options
- About optional browser-based tools
- About Information Console documentation

Delivering BIRT content

In a diverse and global business enterprise, corporations need a way to create, publish, and distribute content on a scheduled basis to a variety of users. These users require online and offline access to information from network environments, such as the internet, intranets, and extranets. Information Console provides an efficient, scalable, searchable, and easily customizable solution for document delivery and collaboration as well as data analysis and monitoring.

Information Console supports the following user activities:

- Analyzing data with browser-based tools
- Distributing a report using channels and mobile devices
- Filtering data according to user and security requirements
- Monitoring multiple documents and mashups with dashboards
- Scheduling customized report documents
- Searching for a file
- Uploading and storing multiple file types

Information Console supports customization to meet any organization's needs. This manual explains features and visual layout available to a user with all functionality enabled, as in a default Information Console installation. Contact your Actuate server administrator if features described in this document do not appear in your installation.

About Information Console

Actuate Information Console is a browser-based application for users to edit, print, run, schedule, share, and view business documents. Information Console supports accessing and viewing items stored in a managed repository called an Encyclopedia volume. An Actuate server system can store one, or multiple Encyclopedia volumes.

There are two general presentation modes in Information Console:

- A file explorer mode for interacting with document files, jobs, and channels
- A dashboard mode for interacting with dashboards and gadgets

Depending on licensed options, users access additional browser-based tools such as Interactive Viewer for reorganizing document presentation or BIRT Studio, a design tool for creating and editing report documents. BIRT Dashboard and gadget tools are available with the BIRT 360 license option.

Browsing content in a volume

Information Console requires a web browser. The following web browsers are supported for use with Information Console:

- Google Chrome 7.x, 12.x, 14 22.x
- Internet Explorer 7.x, 8.x, and 9.x
- Mozilla Firefox 4 15.x
- Safari 4, 5

After entering the web address of Information Console, a user logs in to access files and dashboards stored on the Encyclopedia volume. Figure 1-1 shows a high-level view of a user's web browser interacting with Information Console and an Encyclopedia volume stored on an Actuate server system.



Figure 1-1 Actuate browser-based application architecture

Understanding content life cycle

All content is stored in an Encyclopedia volume through one of the following methods:

- Run or schedule a file job.
- Save a document from a browser-based tool.
- Publish a document from an Actuate desktop designer software.
- Upload a file by an Actuate Encyclopedia volume administrator.

Information Console users either view an existing document for printing and editing, or run a job to create a document with updated or filtered data.

Users with appropriate privileges can open design and template files in browser-based tools to change the design or data sources. Files opened in browser-based tools for design can be republished to the Encyclopedia volume.





Getting started

A user opens Information Console to connect to a volume. Each user must have a user name and password to log in to a volume using Information Console. A URL address to the log in web page is also required.

When logging in, an Information Console user selects a volume profile name. A volume contains items such as dashboards, design templates, documents, gadgets and information objects.

Information Console appears to the user as a file explorer, as one or more dashboards, or the combination of both of these modes. Views and skins affect the presentation of the My Documents page. When dashboards are used, page layout is defined separately for each dashboard or gadget control. Dashboard use is described later in this book.

Information Console supports customization. If you cannot see a feature, file, folder or function described in this book, contact an administrator to establish the access, user role, and file or folder privileges that may be required for the feature. For example, an administrator can limit access to My Documents and make some dashboards available to only some users.

This manual describes functionality available to different Information Console user roles. Most examples show a user who can access all features available in an administrator security role. This user has privileges to access a home folder created by an administrator. For comparison, some examples show limited functionality available to a non-administrator user.

How to log in to a volume using Information Console

- 1 To open the Information Console login page, do one of the following tasks:
 - If you installed Information Console with BIRT iHub, choose Start→All Programs→Actuate→BIRT iHub. In the iHub welcome page, choose Log In Now.
 - Alternatively, start a web browser. Provide the URL for the Actuate Information Console and choose Log In Now. A default URL looks like the following web address:

http://actuate1:8900/iportal/

where

- actuate1 is the web server that provides the interface to an Actuate server and 8900 is the port number of Information Console.
- iportal is the home directory in which Information Console resides.

Your URL differs if Information Console has been customized.

- **2** To log in, provide the following login credentials:
 - In Volume profile, select an Encyclopedia volume name, if necessary.
 - In User name, type the user name.
 - In Password, type the password associated with the user name.
 - In Language, select an available locale. A locale determines the date, time, currency, and number formats displayed in Information Console. The user interface appears in US English if the selected language is not available.
 - In Time zone, select a time zone. This selection specifies the time zone for jobs scheduling and time stamp for files.

The example in Figure 1-3 shows user choices for logging in to a volume named urup, using a western United States locale.

ACTUATE.	Information Console	0
Volume profile:	urup 💌	
User name:	user	
Password:	••••••	
Language:	English (United States)	
Time zone:	America/Los_Angeles	
	Log In	

Figure 1-3 Logging in to a volume using Information Console

3 Choose Log In. The Information Console home page associated with your login credentials appears.

How to log out of a volume using Information Console



Choose Log out to quit a user session of Information Console, as shown in Figure 1-4.

🕕 🕜 📴 🗕 Log out

Figure 1-4 Logging out using Information Console

Navigating

After logging in to a volume using Information Console, you begin to navigate from one of the following pages:

- Documents, if you have no Home folder assigned
- A folder in Home assigned by an administrator for your use
- A default dashboard defined by an administrator
- A dashboard you last visited before quitting your previous session, if dashboards are enabled

The example in Figure 1-5 shows the home folder assigned to a typical user.



——Navigation pane

Figure 1-5Viewing a home folder using Information Console

Table 1-1 describes each part of the Information Console web page.

 Table 1-1
 Parts of the Information Console web page

Part name	Description
Banner menu	Displays links to user options, the about and license page, online help, and session log out.

Part name	Description
Dashboard bar	Displays links to dashboards, to add new dashboards, to add content to a dashboard, and to save a dashboard file that is being edited.
File and folder pane	Displays links to the contents of the current folder. The selected file view manages the display of this pane.
Inner banner menu	Provides links to the user's home directory or the document folder if a home directory does not exist, BIRT Studio, Add file, the file search pane, and mobile browsing information.
Navigation pane	Displays links to document folders, job status, channels, and mobile subscriptions in the current Encyclopedia volume. The selected skin manages the display of this pane.

 Table 1-1
 Parts of the Information Console web page

Selecting a view

To change the way in which Information Console arranges items in the file and folder pane, in View, choose one of the following options:

Categories

In Categories view, files and folders appear grouped in categories, as shown in Figure 1-6. Common operations available for each file appear as icon images. All additional file operations are available by selecting an option from the File menu.

👔 🗾 🔍					
<u>urup</u> > <u>Public</u> > BIRT and BIRT Stu	ıdio Examples 🤜	*			
Create Folder	Add File	Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View: Catego	ories 📩	View options
Documents You Can View					
🎰 BIRT Examples Read Me	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	1 19.9 KB		
🔲 Crosstab Sample Revenue	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	1 504 KB	• 🏵	
🔲 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM			
			Share		File menu
Items You Can Run			Q Details		
🔀 Chart Filtering with HtmlButt	on Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18	🗱 Delete		

Figure 1-6 Viewing files in Categories view

Details

In Details view, files and folders appear organized alphabetically in a table, as shown in Figure 1-7. File type and page count are visible. Common file operations available for each file appear as options on the File menu.

Û						
<u>uru</u>	p > <u>Public</u> > BIRT and BIRT Studic	Examples 🔻				
	Create Folder A	dd File Filter: <u>On </u>	Off		View: Details	Ŧ
	Name	Туре	Version # Version	Size	Modified Pages	
iiin a	BIRT Examples Read Me	HTML Document	1	19.9 KB	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	-
1	Chart Filtering with HtmlButtor	Actuate BIRT Design	1	37.8 KB		7
	Client Investment Portfolio	Actuate BIRT Design	1	227 KB	1, Run	-
1	Crosstab Sample Revenue	Actuate BIRT Design	1	133 KB	1, 🛃 Run And Save	
	Crosstab Sample Revenue	Actuate BIRT Documen	t 1	504 KB	1, 💮 Schedule	_
1	Customer Dashboard	Actuate BIRT Design	1	102 KB	1, Download	
	Customer Dashboard	Actuate BIRT Documen	t 1	328 KB	1. O Details	
	Customer Order History	Actuate BIRT Design	1	74.5 KB	1, 🗱 Delete	
1	HTML5 Chart Click Legend To	Actuate BIRT Design	1	33.7 KB	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	-

Figure 1-7 Viewing files in Details view

Icons

In Icons view, files and folder names appear below a large icon that represents the file type. File names are organized alphabetically in multiple rows, as shown in Figure 1-8. Common operations available for each file appear in the File menu when the cursor hovers over the file icon.



Figure 1-8 Viewing files in Icons view

List

In List view, files and folder names appear below a small icon that represents the file type. File names are organized alphabetically in multiple rows, as shown in Figure 1-9. Common operations available for each file appear in the File menu when the cursor hovers over the file icon.

urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples 🔻						
Create Folder Add File Filter: <u>On </u> Off		View: List 💽				
BIRT Examples Read Me (Versi	utton (Vers	Client Investment Portfolio (Version 1)				
Crosstab Sample Revenue (Ve	e (Version	Customer Dashboard (Version 1)				
<u>Customer Dashboard (Version</u>	Version 1)	M <u>HTML5 Chart Click Legend To Show</u> (Version 1)				
M HTMLS Chart Dynamic Plot Line (Version 1)	/ersion 1)	HTML5 Chart Highlight Above Average (Version 1)				
MINLS Chart Max Value Annot. Q Details (Version 1) C X Delete	<u>Details</u>	Monthly Revenue Analysis (Version 1)				
Multi-lingual Report (Version 1 🕺 Newsfeeds (Version 1)		Orders by Product (Version 1)				

Figure 1-9 Viewing files in List view

Most examples in this manual show and describe Information Console using the Categories view.

Applying a skin

Information Console provides graphic layout options called skins. You can select alternate skins using Options, as described later in this chapter. Most examples in this manual show and describe Information Console using the default treeview skin.

A skin controls the layout of elements that appear in the Information Console navigation pane. Information Console provides the following skin options:

Classic

Classic skin displays Documents, My Jobs, and Channels as icons in the sidebar, as shown in Figure 1-10.

Documents My Jobs Channels Mobile Subscriptions	urup 🗸 Create Folder	Add File Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View: Categories 🔹
	Folders		
	⁼ Dashboard = Home	🖨 Public 🗎 Resources	

Figure 1-10 Viewing documents in Classic skin

Tabbed

Tabbed skin displays Documents, My Jobs, and Channels as tabs at the top of the page, as shown in Figure 1-11.

Documents	My Jobs	Channels	Mobile Subscriptions	
urup 🔻				
Create Fold	der	Add File	Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View: Categories 💌
Folders				
🗐 Dashboard			🗐 Public	
🗐 Home			🗐 Resour	ces

Figure 1-11 Viewing documents in Tabbed skin

Treeview

Treeview skin displays Documents, My Jobs, and Channels as a hierarchy in the navigation pane. The hierarchy starts at the root folder, as in Figure 1-12.

My Documents 🔻 🗛		🚑 Add Content 🛛 🗐 Save
Urup Documents Dashboard Home	urup 👻	
E Resources	Create Folder	Add File Filter: On Off View: Categories 💌
	Folders	
	🗐 Dashboard 🗐 Home	🚔 Public 🚔 Resources

Figure 1-12 Viewing documents in Treeview skin

The examples in the preceding three figures show how the standard Categories view looks in each of the three different skins. All Information Console skins show volume, system, and user information in the banner.

Accessing Information Console features

Information Console provides user access to content stored in a volume on an Actuate server system. Using Information Console, you access the features and options included in the system license and available in your user role. Actuate supplies Information Console with all features available to all users by default.

An administrator may customize the features available in Information Console. For more information about customizing Information Console, see *Information Console Developer Guide*.

Information Console provides unique functionality levels that complement the default security roles on the volume. For more information about how an administrator manages security roles, see *Managing an Encyclopedia Volume*.

Understanding available features

When you log in to a volume using Information Console, the features available to you depend on the security role and functionality level set for you by an administrator. As supplied, Information Console provides the following features:

Channels

Provides access to one personal or multiple subscribed channels

- Customization
 Provides access to Customization options for an Information Console skin
- Documents
 Provides access to documents and navigate files and folders in a volume to
 which you have View privilege
- Jobs

Provides access to submit and access notifications in My Jobs

- Mobile Provides access to BIRT Mobile viewing
- Search

Provides access to search for items in a volume

An Information Console subfeature permits a user with required privileges to use Information Console features in the following ways:

Add File

Permits you to add a file to a volume. You must have required privileges for each file and folder you add.

- Advanced Data Permits you to modify and synchronize data sets using BIRT Studio.
- Create Folder
 Permits you to create a folder in which you have required privileges.
- Dashboard Developer Permits you to build and administer dashboard files.
- Delete File

Permits you to delete a file for which you have required privileges, using Delete option on the File menu.

Delete Folder

Permits you to delete a folder for which you have required privileges, using Delete option on the Folder menu.

Download File

Permits you to download a file from folder in a volume. You must have required privileges to the file and folder.

- Interactive Viewing Permits you to open the browser-based BIRT Interactive Viewer.
- Job Priority Permits setting a job priority value up to your maximum allowed number.
- Self Notification With Attachment
 Barmite your to generate electronic metification of a fill

Permits you to generate electronic notification of a file job with an attachment containing details.

- Share Dashboard Permits you to share a BIRT dashboard for which you have required privileges.
- Share File

Permits you to share a file for which you have required privileges using Share option on the File menu.

Subscribe Channel

Permits you to subscribe to multiple channels for which you have required privileges.

All users can delete files or folders to which they have Delete privilege. All users can use interactive viewing if the Interactive Viewer option for iHub is installed. When a BIRT 360 option for iHub is installed, all users can view existing dashboards.

Reviewing BIRT iHub license options

iHub license options enable multiple Information Console users to access Encyclopedia volumes, to deploy specific file types, run jobs, query data sources, and use browser-based tools such as BIRT Interactive Viewer, BIRT Studio, and BIRT Data Analyzer. The volume administrator manages user access to the options licensed for an Actuate server system.

How to review BIRT iHub license options

- **1** In the Information Console banner, choose About.
- **2** Select License. The example in Figure 1-13 shows the licensed options on a BIRT iHub server system.

About	License				
The licer	nse for this s	system is a work unit license.			
Enterpri	se mode lice	ense.			
Major Re	elease 22				
The CPU	Core limit is	s: unlimited CPUs			
Licensed	d for: Evalua	tion			
Your lice	nse expires	on: Thursday, March 14, 2013			
Listed b	elow are the	e Work Units licensed:			
 BIRT Online (8) BIRT Factory (1) BIRT 360 (8) BIRT Data Analyzer (8) BIRT Studio (8) 					
These Ir	nformation C	console options are currently licensed:			
 Multi- BIRT (BIRT 1 BIRT 5 BIRT 6 BIRT 6 BIRT 6 	Tenant Opti Option (Unlir Interactive \ Studio Optio Page Level S 360 Option (ort Data Co	on (Unlimited users) mited users) /iewer Option (Unlimited users) n (Unlimited users) security Option (Unlimited users) Unlimited users) nnector Option (Unlimited users)			
These Ir	nformation C	Console options are not licensed:			
• Multi-	Tenant (Nar	ned User) Option			

Figure 1-13 Verifying available licensed options

Setting options

Options control how Information Console appears to each user. Options persist between Information Console user sessions. When logged in to a volume, you access Options from the Information Console banner.

How to view an option

1 Log in to a volume using Information Console.



2 Choose Options from the banner menu, as shown in Figure 1-14.

Options

Figure 1-14 Choosing options in the banner menu

Choosing general options

In Options—General, you can set the following options:

- Your e-mail address
- Preferred graphic skin
- Preferred file navigation view

- Analytics experience level
- Visibility of file-name filters
- Document viewing preference
- Password update

Setting an e-mail address

A user can update or add an e-mail address that Information Console associates with the user. This e-mail address is used to notify a user of document job completion or failure.

The notification can include the generated document as an attachment to the e-mail message. If e-mail notifications do not arrive, contact the volume administrator to see if the e-mail service is available.

Enabling filter options

To display filter options on Information Console pages, select Display Filter for Channels, Documents, and Jobs. The setting Enable filters does not prevent a user from turning filter options off in individual pages.

Setting the document viewing option

To open each document that a user runs in a separate browser window, select Open in a new browser. Some web browsers can override this setting and open new windows in a separate tab of the web browser.

Updating password

The Encyclopedia volume administrator sets an initial user name and password for each user. To change the password for a user name, in Old password, type the user's current password. In New password, type characters different from those in the current password. In Re-enter new password, type those characters again to confirm the new password.

Choosing dashboard options

When the BIRT 360 option is available, the user can reset dashboard options. Users can reset their dashboard to show a blank dashboard, to use the system default, or to load a shared dashboard file. This process erases all the user's existing shared or user dashboards loaded in the user's personal dashboard file. Dashboard and gadget files saved to a folder are not removed.

A user's dashboard settings can be reset in the dashboard options pane. This option erases any existing dashboards in the user's account.

Dashboards can be reset in the following ways:

- Blank dashboard starts Information Console with a blank dashboard.
- System default starts Information Console with default settings configured by the volume administrator.
- Shared dashboard starts Information Console with the user-selected shared dashboard file.

Figure 1-15 shows dashboard options for an Information Console user.

General	My dashboard Notification
	et my dashboard to
	Blank dashboard
	System default
	C Shared dashboard Browse
_ Default	layout:
	C One Column
	Two Columns
	C Three Columns
	C Free Form
Free for	m layout default settings:
	Show Grid
	🔽 Snap to Grid
	Grid Spacing: 18 🔽 px

Figure 1-15 Dashboard options for an Information Console user

Users can configure the default layout for their new dashboards. All new dashboards can have 1, 2, 3 column layout or a free form layout.

Dashboard designers who use the free form layout for gadgets can activate a grid and select spacing of the grid. This helps the user to organize gadgets on the new dashboard. When Snap to Grid is selected, gadgets in a free form layout will snap to the grid lines to help the user align multiple gadgets on the dashboard.

Choosing notification options

The Encyclopedia volume administrator sets initial report notification options, as shown in Figure 1-16. A user can change these options at any time.

The notification options determine if and how the user can receive notifications about successful and failed jobs. The notification options also apply to jobs that the Encyclopedia volume administrator or other users submit and to which you have access. You can choose to receive notices through e-mail, in your personal channel, or both. By default, notices for failed and successful jobs appear only in your personal channel.

How to set notification options

1 In Options—Notification, select your preferred options. Figure 1-16 shows typical notification options.



 Figure 1-16
 Notification options for an Information Console user

2 Choose Save Options. New settings take effect immediately.

Creating a default folder for document viewing

To any user having a home folder defined, the My Documents file explorer shows the home folder for that user. To create custom shortcuts to folders in Information Console, copy the My Documents page. Rename a copied My Documents page and set it to load any folder that a user has privileges to view.

For example, copy the My Documents page and set the copied dashboard to always display the Sales folder in the Encyclopedia volume. Then, rename the copied My Documents page to Sales. Users with appropriate rights view contents of the folders loaded on the Sales page.

How to display default folders

- **1** Log in to Information Console.
- **2** Choose Copy from the My Documents menu, as shown in Figure 1-17.



Figure 1-17 Copying the My Documents dashboard

3 Choose Default Folder in the copied page menu, as shown in Figure 1-18.

My Documents	My Docume	ents (1) 🔻	5	Customization
Surun			3	Customization
Documents			-	Default Folder
Dashboard		Lat	I	Rename
🗄 🛅 Home		<u>urup</u> >	Þ	Сору
🕀 🛅 Public			5	Refresh
⊕ 💼 Resources			×	Delete

Figure 1-18 Choosing Default Folder

Default Folder appears, as shown in Figure 1-19.

Default Folder		x
Please enter a nev	v default folder for the tab:	
Default folder	/Home/user	Browse
	OK Cancel	



4 Choose Browse. Select Folder appears, as shown in Figure 1-20.



Figure 1-20 Browsing to find a new folder to display

- **5** Select a folder and choose OK. The selected folder appears in Default Folder.
- 6 In Default Folder, choose OK. The new page now shows the selected folder.

Using browser bookmarks

Information Console is a browser-based application and uses URL addresses to interact with an Encyclopedia volume. Many of these URL addresses can become browser bookmarks or favorites for fast user access to selected web pages of Information Console. The following activities can be saved as browser bookmarks or favorites:

- Logging in to Information Console
- Running or scheduling a job
- Viewing a document file

Bookmarks for running a job or viewing a document require users to log in to Information Console.

Many documents exist for temporarily viewing. When the time-out period for such a document expires, the web URL for the document becomes unavailable. Additionally, document privileges can limit which users can see or run a report.

Some browser-based tools, for example BIRT Viewer and BIRT Interactive Viewer, include a link option that can create a URI to rerun a document on demand by any user with the appropriate privileges. For more information about accessing Information Console with custom URIs, see *Information Console Developer Guide*.

E-mail notifications also include direct links to new documents.

Customizing skins

Information Console users can change the visual appearance of Information Console by creating a new skin or customizing an existing one. To customize a skin, select the tab menu in My Documents. Then, choose Customization, as shown in Figure 1-21.





For more information about creating and customizing a skin for Information Console, see *Information Console Developer Guide*.

About optional browser-based tools

Information Console provides access to additional Actuate browser-based tools. These tools open in the web browser when editing or viewing specific Actuate file types in Information Console. Each browser-based tool includes online help for additional information about the active tool. Manuals are also available in PDF or printed format from Actuate Corporation.

Browser-based tools require specific option licenses. The volume administrator chooses if all users or selected users can access these tools. Contact your volume administrator for information about what tools are available through your Information Console.

The following browser-based Actuate tools can launch from Information Console:

BIRT Data Analyzer

Supports the multidimensional analysis of data cubes and viewing data as tables and charts. BIRT Data Analyzer launches in the following instances; when a user edits a cross tab component inside a BIRT document, when a user analyzes a BIRT data object store file, and when a user maximizes a cross tab gadget on a dashboard. Users can save their data analysis as cube view files.

See this tool's online help for additional information. Figure 1-22 shows BIRT Data Analyzer launched from a data object store file.

	i 🗹 📴 🗞 🖡	1/1				?
Measures and «	Rows Year	Quarter Month				
Customer Cu	Filters Delete All					*
Region	B Grid Chart					
		E Classic Cars	Planes	Ships	🗉 Trains	Grand Total
	Year/QTR/Month 2004	Revenue \$1,682,980	Revenue \$438,255	Revenue \$292,595	Revenue \$86,897	Revenue \$2,500,729
	Grand Total	\$1,682,980	\$438,255	\$292,595	\$86,897	\$2,500,729

Figure 1-22

BIRT Data Analyzer interface

BIRT Interactive Viewer

Supports filtering, formatting, and viewing BIRT document files. For example, the user can change the order in which values display and show or hide detail rows. Figure 1-23 shows BIRT Interactive Viewer.

	1/5		n (d		
0	Disable Interactivity	els, Inc			
2	Save Design	pointe Parkway CA 94404		Customer	Order History
	Save Document	A	ustralian Colle	ctors, Co.	
4	Print	ion	9	Sales Representative: A	ndy Fixter
1	Export Content				
B	Export Data	DO4 _			
=	Parameters	Description	Qty	Unit Pric	e Order Total
	тос	E 10120	Order Date:	Apr 29, 2003	
		1996 Moto Guzzi 1100i	29	\$118.94	\$3,449.26
	Hide/Show Item	2003 Harley-Davidson Eagle Drag Bike	46	\$158.80	\$7,304.80
Ľ	Link to this page	P-51-D Mustang	29	\$82.79	\$2,400.91
: ?	Help	1936 Harley Davidson El Knucklehead	46	\$57.54	\$2,646.84
524_:	1578	¹ 1997 BMW R 1100 S	35	\$110.45	\$3,865.75

Figure 1-23 BIRT Interactive Viewer interface

This browser-based tool launches by selecting Enable Interactivity from the BIRT Viewer menu or by maximizing a report gadget on a BIRT dashboard. See this tool's online help for additional information.

BIRT Performance Scorecard

Displays information in formats such as performance view, briefing book, maps, dashboards, initiatives, reports, and performance dashboards. Figure 1-24 shows BIRT Performance Scorecard.

A 6	ACTUATE. 🏦 💷 🗣 💐 🕯	② 🕕 Database Sample Corporate	e User Administrator 💌 🍹	
**	CompanyLogo			
	Views 🔍 🖻	Maps 🔍 🛃	Links 🔍 🛃	
	An Overall View of	Homepage Map 🔺	News!! - Attend Web Seminars	
	Performance	Quarterly Review Meeting	Search the Internet	
	Overall View of Performance	Agenda	BIRT Report Studio	
	(All Comparatives)	Strategy Map	Actuate Website	
e			Customer Service Web Site	
ation Pan	Books 🔍 🛃	Initiatives 🔍 🖄 🛃	Performance Management	
	Corporate Management 🗕	Customer Service Improvement Plan	Diocinales	
avi	A Sample Book	Comprehensive review of		
ž	Individual Scorecard Book 📃	customer service call handling		
	All Critical problems	ctual vs. Target, Sep 2011	R. 🛃	
	Staff Turnover Rate	Zone 2	=	
	Customer Complaints	Eastern US		
			×	

Figure 1-24 BIRT Performance Scorecard interface

Choosing Classic Scorecard Web Client from the inner banner menu launches BIRT Performance Scorecard. This option appears only if the license includes the BIRT 360 Plus option. For more information about using BIRT Performance Scorecard, refer to the BIRT Performance Scorecard online help.

Figure 1-25 shows how to launch BIRT Performance Scorecard.

My Documents		-Launch BIRT
🖻 🖶 Documents	👔 🔟 🔍 🛋	Performance
🕀 🚞 Dashboard		Scolecalu
🕀 🛅 Home	urup > Home > administrator 🔻	
🕀 🛅 Public	Create Eolder Add Eile Filter: Op L Off	
🗄 🛅 Resources		

Figure 1-25 Opening BIRT Performance Scorecard

BIRT Studio

Supports business users editing existing Actuate BIRT design files or creating new document designs. Figure 1-26 shows BIRT Studio.

ACTUATE.			BIRT Studio
📲 🕹 🔒 🖓 👘 🗙 🔊 ()	· 🗍 🖪 🏪 Σ 🍸 📄	📊 X 🗉 A 🐁 🗷 🕨	Using first rows of data <i>d</i>
Available Data	_		
🚯 🌾 💌 🥰	R	eport Header	
🖃 📷 Sales 📃	Optio	nal Table Header	
Order Number	Customer Ord	er Product nber Name	Quantity Ordered
Shipped Date	Mini Gifts 1011 Distributors Ltd.	3 1958 Setra Bus	21
Status Comments	Mini Gifts 1011 Distributors Ltd.	3 1940 Ford Pickup Truck	49
Customer Number	Mini Gifts 1011 Distributors Ltd.	3 1939 Cadillac Limousine	50
Address 1	Mini Gifts 1011 Distributors Ltd.	3 1996 Peterbilt 379 Stake Bed with Outrigger	23
Insert >	Mini Gifts 1013 Distributors Ltd.	5 1968 Ford Mustang	42
Themes	Mini Gifts 1013 Distributors Ltd.	5 1968 Dodge Charger	48
Page Setup	Mini Gifts 1013 Distributors Ltd.	5 1970 Plymouth Hemi Cuda	24
Report Items	Mini Gifts 1013	5 1969 Dodge	29

Figure 1-26 BIRT Studio interface

BIRT Studio launches when a user edits an existing BIRT design file or when a user wants to create a new BIRT design file. Choosing BIRT Studio from the inner banner menu launches BIRT Studio. This option appears only if the volume license includes the BIRT Studio option. For more information about using BIRT Studio, refer to the BIRT Studio online help. Figure 1-27 shows how to launch BIRT Studio.

My Documents 🔻	\$	
⊜urup		— Launch BIRT Studio
🖻 🖶 Documents		
🗉 🛅 Dashboard		
🕀 🛅 Home	urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples 🔻	
🕀 💼 Public	Create Folder Add File Filter: On Off	

Figure 1-27 Opening BIRT Studio

BIRT Viewer

Supports basic viewing tasks, such as navigating BIRT document files, using a table of contents, viewing parameter information, and exporting data. This browser-based tool is the default viewer for BIRT document files. See this tool's online help for additional information. Figure 1-28 shows BIRT Viewer.

≣- 1/5	4 4 > >			
Enable Interactivity	els, Inc			
🗾 Save Design	pointe Parkway CA 94404	C	ustomer Or	der History
📑 Save Document	A	ustralian Collectors,	Co.	
📇 Print	son	Sales R	epresentative: Andy Fix	ter
🔁 Export Content				
📑 Export Data	004			
Parameters	Description	Qty	Unit Price	Order Total
ы тос	10120	Order Date:	Apr 29, 2003	
Linda / The sur The set	1996 Moto Guzzi 1100i	29	\$118.94	\$3,449.26
Hide/Show Icem	2003 Harley-Davidson Eagle Drag Bike	46	\$158.80	\$7,304.80
: 🖉 Link to this page	P-51-D Mustang	29	\$82.79	\$2,400.91
: 💡 Help	1936 Harley Davidson El Knucklehead	46	\$57.54	\$2,646.84
524_1578	1997 BMW R 1100 S	35	\$110.45	\$3,865.75
Figure 1-28	BIRT Viewer int	erface		

About Information Console documentation

Actuate Information Console documentation covers topics listed in Table 1-2.

You can obtain HTML and PDF files from the BIRT Exchange or Actuate Customer Support site. Additional documentation is also available from these sites. This document is the online help for Information Console. Each browser-based tool contains its own online help files.

Obtaining documentation

Actuate provides technical documentation in PDF, HTML, and print formats. You can download PDF or view HTML versions of the documentation from

For information about this topic	See the following resource
 Building BIRT Dashboards Creating and sharing dashboards Creating Actuate and custom gadgets Managing dashboard resources Linking gadgets 	Building BIRT Dashboards
 Using BIRT Data Analyzer Organizing and formatting a cross tab Filtering cross tab data Working with data cubes Working with charts 	Using BIRT Data Analyzer
 Using BIRT Studio - iHub Edition Using BIRT Studio Editing and formatting report content Organizing and filtering data Presenting data 	Using BIRT Studio - iHub Edition
 Using Information Console Managing folders and files Running file jobs Using BIRT Dashboards Personalizing Information Console 	Using Information Console
 Working with Actuate BIRT Viewers Using Actuate BIRT Viewers Editing and formatting a report Organizing and filtering data Modifying charts and cross tabs 	Working with Actuate BIRT Viewers
Actuate Glossary Definitions of Actuate product terminology	Actuate Glossary
Adobe Acrobat Catalog A utility that can search all the documents in the Actuate manuals directory	Adobe Acrobat Catalog

Table 1-2 Information Console documentation

Birt-exchange.com. If you purchase the product, you can also download documentation using the File Transfer Protocol (FTP), as instructed in the e-mail from Actuate Distribution.

If you request a physical package, install the files using the Online Documentation and Localization Resource Files DVD, which ships as part of your Actuate software package. If you select the typical setup when you install from the DVD, the installation creates the Actuate11\Manuals directory.

Using PDF documentation

In each PDF version of a book, the table of contents and the index page numbers contain links to the corresponding topics in the text. In the table of contents, you access the link by positioning the pointer over the topic. In the index, you access the link by positioning the pointer over the page number.

The Actuate11\Manuals directory contains a file, master-index.pdx, which is an Adobe Acrobat Catalog utility that can search all the documents in the Actuate Manuals directory. This tool provides a convenient way to find information about a particular topic in Actuate documentation.

Obtaining documentation updates

The release notes contain late-breaking news about Actuate products and features. The release notes are available on the Actuate Support site at the following URL:

http://support.actuate.com/documentation/releasenotes

Updates to documentation in PDF form are available at the following URL:

http://support.actuate.com/documentation

If you are a new user, you must first register on the support site and log in to view the release notes.

These following URLs also provide updated product information:

http://www.birt-exchange.com
http://www.actuate.com

Chapter

2

Working with items in a volume

This chapter contains the following topics:

- Working with a file
- Working with file types
- Sharing access to a file or folder
- Working with a folder
- Finding a file
- Using a channel

Working with a file

After logging in, Information Console displays a view of folders and files available in an Encyclopedia volume. The navigation pane displays available folders. The file and folder pane displays files and folders that the user can access. The example in Figure 2-1 shows a folder in Categories view.

Each file type supports specific file operations. For example, a file type may support viewing documents, running a file job, editing a design file, or querying an information object.

An Information Console user manages a file by adding a file to folder, viewing details about a file, deleting a file, viewing content in a file, searching for a file, or sharing a file. The security role for a user and the access rights for a file determine the tasks a user can perform on a selected file. Options for Encyclopedia volume licenses determine which file types users can open and which file jobs users can run. For example, running an Actuate BIRT document requires:

- The Actuate BIRT Report option licensed and installed on volume.
- The user's security role must allow running jobs.
- The file privileges must allow the user to read and execute the specific file.

Viewing file properties

File properties include general information about the file such as file creator, type, location, version, author, access rights, and archiving policy for the selected file. The access rights show the file privileges for the current user. Access rights for other users are visible using the file's share operation.

How to view file properties

- 1 Navigate to a file.
- **2** To see detailed information for the file, make one of the following choices:
 - In Details or Categories view select File menu, as shown in Figure 2-1. Then, choose Details.

û	1 🕺 🔍				
urup	p > <u>Public</u> > BIRT and BIRT St	udio Examples 🔻	·		
	Create Folder	Add File	Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View: C	ategories 💌
D	ocuments You Can View				
	BIRT Examples Read Me	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	19.9 KB	
П	Crosstab Sample Revenue	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	504 KB	💮 🔻

Figure 2-1Opening the file menu in Categories view

 In Icons or List view, open the File menu by hovering the cursor over a file icon, as shown in Figure 2-2. From the File menu, choose Details.





Detail appears, as shown in Figure 2-3.

🔒 🗾 🔍						
urup > <u>Public</u> > <u>B</u>	IRT and BIRT	⁻ Studio Example	<u>s</u> > Crosstab S	ample Revenue	.rptdocument (V	ersion 1) : Detail
General						
Name:		Crosstab Sa	mple Revenue	,		
Туре:		(RPTDOCUM	MENT)			
Location:		/Public/BIR	T and BIRT St	udio Example	s	
Version Name:						
Version:		1				
Description:						
Size:		504 KB				
Created:		1/17/2013	2:18 PM			
Created by:		Administrato	or			
Shared:		Yes				
Access Rights						
<u>Read</u>	<u>Write</u>	<u>Execute</u>	<u>Delete</u>	<u>Grant</u>	<u>Secure</u> <u>Read</u>	<u>Visible</u>
V	×	×	×	×	×	V
Auto Archive						
There is no arch	nive policy as	signed to this i	tem.			

Figure 2-3 Viewing detailed file information

Deleting a file

Only an administrator or a user with the appropriate security role and delete privilege for a file can delete that file. Deleting a file removes it from the Encyclopedia volume. Deleting a file does not remove temporary versions or external links to the file. Temporary versions exist until they expire or time out and links to the deleted file fail. For example, temporary file links appear when:

• Other documents contain links to the deleted document.

- The deleted document is embedded with JavaScript in an external web page.
- Dashboard gadgets use the documents or present them.
- Job and channel notifications exist for the file job that created the deleted file.
- Links to temporary or transient documents that exist in the Information Console's cache memory that have not expired.

How to delete a file

- **1** Navigate to a file.
- **2** To confirm that you have the Delete privilege for a file, select the File menu for that file. Then, choose Details, as shown in Figure 2-4.

Items You Can Run			
🜃 Chart Filtering with HtmlButton	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 P	— File menu
🜃 Client Investment Portfolio	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 P Share	
🜃 Crosstab Sample Revenue	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 P 🔾 Details	
🜃 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 P 🗱 Delete	

Figure 2-4 Accessing details for an Actuate BIRT design file

In Detail, verify that a check mark appears below Delete in Access Rights, as shown in Figure 2-5. Choose Back to return to the file view.

urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT	Studio Example	<u>s</u> > Crosstab S	ample Revenue	.rptdesign (Vers	ion 1) : Detail
General					
Name:	Crosstab Sa	mple Revenue			
Туре:	(RPTDESIG	N)			
Location:	/Public/BIR	T and BIRT St	tudio Example	s	
Version Name:					
Version:	1				
Description:					
Size:	133 KB				
Created:	1/17/2013	2:18 PM			
Created by:	Administrato	r			
Shared:	Yes				
Access Rights		_			
<u>Read</u> <u>Write</u>	<u>Execute</u>	<u>Delete</u>	<u>Grant</u>	<u>Secure</u> Read	<u>Visible</u>
V V	V	V	V	<i>v</i>	V
Auto Archive					
There is no archive policy ass	signed to this i	tem.			

Figure 2-5 Confirming the Delete privilege for a file
3 For the file to delete, select the File menu, then choose Delete, as shown in Figure 2-6.



Figure 2-6 Choosing Delete for a file, using the File menu

Archiving a file

An archive policy is necessary to automatically delete or archive a single file, files within a folder or all files of a selected type. The Encyclopedia volume administrator assigns archive policies. A file can have one of the following archive policies:

- Delete file when they reach a certain age.
- Delete file on a fixed date or time.
- Do not delete file with an archive policy.
- Archive file before deletion.

Adding a file

Information Console supports a user adding a file to a selected folder in a volume. Add File appears to a user, as shown in Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7 Adding a file to a selected folder

If a file with the selected name exists in the destination folder, a new version of the named file having duplicated archive rules, description and privileges appears in the destination folder. After adding a file, edit the file privileges using the share operation. For information about files and folders to which you have access, contact your volume administrator.

How to add a file

- 1 In an Encyclopedia volume, navigate to a folder to which you want to add a file.
- **2** To select options for the added file, choose Add File, as shown in Figure 2-8.



- **3** In Add File, browse for a file name.
- **4** In Choose File to Upload, select a file. Figure 2-9 shows a document file on the local computer selected.

Choose File to Upload				×
🕜 💮 🚈 👻 Computer 👻 Local Disk (C:) 👻	- 🛃	Search Local Disk (C:)	- 2
Organize 🔻 New folder			-	?
Name 👻	Date modified	Туре	Size	
ServiceProcedures.txt	1/16/2013 3:53 PM	Text Document		1 KB
File name: ServiceProcedures.txt	•	All Files (*.*)		•
		Open 👻	Cancel	



Choose Open. In Add File, the path to the selected file appears in File.

5 Use the default selection, Create a new version, as shown in Figure 2-10.



Figure 2-10 Selecting file upload options

If a file having the same name already exists in the destination folder, select alternate options.

- **6** Optionally, when a file already exists in the folder, select options to copy properties from the latest version of the file.
- **7** Optionally, copy file privileges for the new file from the current folder, the user's privilege template, or the latest version of the file that already exists in the folder.
- **8** Optionally, to add multiple files in a folder to which you have Visible and Write privilege, select Expand archive.
- 9 Choose OK. The file appears in the destination folder, as shown in Figure 2-11.



Figure 2-11 Viewing a file added to a folder

About document files

A document file presents information accurate at a single point in time. Using Information Console, you view a document file immediately. No update of the data appearing in the document occurs. In Categories view, document files appear listed in the Documents You Can View category.

An Actuate document file presents formatted and structured content from a data source, such as a database, spreadsheet, or text file. An Actuate document file contains data that a user can view and manipulate, using the browser-based Interactive Viewer tool. You can save an Actuate document file in third-party document formats such as Adobe PDF and IBM Advanced Function Printing (AFP) and Microsoft Office formats such as Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.

Download third-party files for viewing and editing outside of the Actuate server system. An Encyclopedia volume administrator can store custom file types in a volume. To open a custom file type, use the default viewing software. If multiple or no viewers are available locally for a selected file, choose or download a tool appropriate to open the file.

Viewing a document

Using Categories view, select a document listed in Documents You Can View. To view a document, choose one the following options, as shown in Figure 2-12.

- Document name, to view the newest version
- Version number, to view a specific version

]Document name
<u>urup</u> > <u>Home</u> > user ▼				
Create Folder	Add File	Fixer: <u>On </u> Off	View: Categories 💌	
Documents You Can Vi₂w	/			
🕙 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	279 KB 🔻	File menu
🚥 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	159 KB 🛛 🔻	
	Version 2	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	159 KB 🛛 🔻	
	Version 3	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	159 KB 🛛 🔻	
🕙 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	79.5 КВ 🛛 🔻	

Figure 2-12 Viewing a document file

Alternatively, in View, choose Details, Icons, or List. Select File menu. Then, choose View Document. View Document appears on the file menu in the Details, Icons, or List view, as shown in Figure 2-13.



Figure 2-13 File menu options for a document file

The software tool defined as the viewer for each document file type opens the file, as described in the following list:

- Document files such as Adobe PDF, IBM AFP, or Microsoft Word, Excel, and PowerPoint open using the default viewer. For example, Adobe Acrobat Reader is the default viewer for Adobe PDF files.
- A BIRT document file opens in the browser-based BIRT Viewer or Interactive Viewer tool.
- A BIRT dashboard or gadget file opens in a web browser.

Opening a BIRT dashboard or gadget

Using Categories view, select a dashboard or gadget file listed in Documents You Can View. Then, using the My Documents file explorer, choose either of the following links:

- Document name, to view the newest version.
- Version number, to view a specific version.

Alternatively, in View, choose Details, Icons, or List. Select File menu. Then, choose Open. Figure 2-14 shows file options for a BIRT dashboard or gadget file, using Details view.

🚘 Open
🧭 Edit Dashboard
其 Download
🎳 Share
Q Details
🗱 Delete

Figure 2-14 File menu options for a BIRT dashboard file

Alternatively, subscribe to a dashboard or gadget to add it to your personal dashboard file. For more information about subscribing to a dashboard, see "Using the personal dashboard." For information about building and editing BIRT dashboard files, see *Building BIRT Dashboards*.

Downloading a file

A user with appropriate folder and file privileges can download a file using Information Console. To download a file, navigate to a file, select File menu, then choose Download, as shown in Figure 2-15.



Figure 2-15 Downloading a file from an Encyclopedia volume

Working with file types

Information Console provides access to several different types of files stored in folders in a volume. An Information Console user having Write privilege can add a file to a folder. Contact your Encyclopedia volume administrator for information about any file type not described in this document.

A typical Information Console user works with the following types of files:

BIRT design and document files

A developer creates a BIRT design file using Actuate BIRT Designer Professional or Actuate BIRT Studio, and publishes the file. Running a design job updates data and generates a final document format, for example, an Adobe PDF, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Word, or BIRT document file. Users interact with the data and format of BIRT document files using browserbased tools such as Actuate Interactive Viewer. Users schedule these files for conversion to a final document. BIRT documents embed their data into the file to avoid additional database queries.

BIRT data object files

Data object files contain one or more data sets and data cubes. There are two types of data object files, a data object design file or a data object store file. Data object design files do not contain data but make queries on demand to their data sources.

Administrators can cache this data as data object store files to avoid on-demand queries of external databases and to ensure that multiple dashboards use the same data. Data object store files support multiple versions. A data architect creates data object files using BIRT Designer Professional, and publishes the file to the Encyclopedia volume.

BIRT dashboard files

Dashboard files contain one or more dashboards built with various gadgets. Dashboards present data from BIRT documents, BIRT data objects, and external web-based sources for user analysis and interaction. Dashboards appear as a file or as a subscribed web page in Information Console.

Users can interact with dashboard data using charts, Adobe Flash objects, cross tab gadgets and tables. Data selection gadgets enable users to filter multiple data displays at the same time.

BIRT information object files

A BIRT information object is a pre-defined SQL query that retrieves and optionally caches data from external databases. A data architect creates an information object using BIRT Information Designer, and publishes the object. A developer uses an information object as a data source for document designs.

BIRT design files that use an information object as a data source to request new or cached data from the information object. The developer makes this choice when building the document design.

For more information about each file type and other tools that support it, consult the complete set of Actuate documentation, included with Actuate software.

Understanding file categories

Using the default Categories view, you see the files in a volume to which you have View privilege. Categories view arranges items in the following categories:

- Information Objects
- Documents You Can View
- Items You Can Run

The example in Figure 2-16 shows items available to view in the home folder assigned to a typical Information Console user.

🔒 🗷 🔍					
<u>urup</u> > <u>Home</u> > user ▼					
Create Folder	Add File	Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View:	Categories 💌	Change view
Information Objects					
Information Object				~	
Documents You Can View					
🚥 Adobe PDF File	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB	~	
🔠 BIRT dashboard design	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB	1	
BIRT gadget design	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB	~	
BIRT Report Document	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB		Files grouped
🕙 Microsoft Excel 2007	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB	~	by category
🗐 Microsoft Word 2007	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB		
Items You Can Run					
🗾 BIRT Report Design	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	0.11 KB	2 🕄 😌 🔻	

Figure 2-16 Viewing files organized by categories

The following sections describe each file category and provide a list that shows and describes the file types that appear in each category. The list also contains file operations available for each file type. All file types support viewing file details.

Using Information Objects

The Information Objects category contains files types that specify how to connect to or how to cache data from external databases. Table 2-1 summarizes types of information object files that Information Console supports.

Icon	File type	Actuate file description	Available operations
P	iob	Information object	Create Report Design, Delete, Share
	sma	Data source map	New Query, Create Report Design, Delete, Share

 Table 2-1
 Supported information object file types

The available file operations are:

- Delete Removes the selected file.
- Share Assigns file access privileges on the selected item.

Create Report Design

Opens the browser-based BIRT Studio tool to create a new BIRT design file using the selected information object.

Using Documents You Can View

The Documents You Can View category includes file types such as HTML, PDF, Excel, Word, and PowerPoint files. Text files containing text information or data output are in this category, for example, TXT files and CSV data files. Files in this category are typically the output of report designs or executable files. Table 2-2 summarizes the types of document files Information Console supports.

 Table 2-2
 Document types supported by Information Console

Icon	File type	Actuate file description	Available operations
	afp	IBM Advanced Function Printing document	Delete, Open, Share
CSV	CSV	Comma separated values file	Delete, Open, Share
2	cubeview	BIRT cube view file	Delete, Open, Share
8	dashboard	BIRT dashboard file	Edit, Delete, Open, Share
=	data	BIRT data object store	Delete, Open, Share
•	doc	Microsoft Word document	Delete, Open, Share
1	docx	Microsoft Word 2007 and 2010 document	Delete, Open, Share
0	epr	External procedure object	Delete, Open, Share
Ø	gadget	Dashboard gadget file	Delete, Open, Share
HTML	htm or html	HTML document	Delete, Open, Share
PDF	pdf	Adobe PDF file	Delete, Open, Share
PS	ps	PostScript document	Delete, Open, Share
	psv	Pipe-separated values file	Delete, Open, Share
	ppt	Microsoft PowerPoint file	Delete, Open, Share
	pptx	Microsoft PowerPoint 2007 and 2010 file	Delete, Open, Share

Icon	File type	Actuate file description	Available operations
	rptdocument	BIRT report document	Delete, Schedule, Open, Share
	rptlibrary	BIRT report design library	Delete, Open, Share
	rpttemplate	BIRT report design template	Delete, Open, Share
RTF	rtf	Rich text format	Delete, Open, Share
TSV	tsv	Tab-separated values file	Delete, Open, Share
	txt	Text file	Delete, Open, Share
*	xls	Microsoft Excel spreadsheet	Delete, Open, Share
2	xlsx	Microsoft Excel 2007 and 2010 spreadsheet	Delete, Open, Share

 Table 2-2
 Document types supported by Information Console

The available file operations are:

Delete

Removes the selected file.

- Edit
 Edits the selected dashboard file.
- Open

Opens the selected file in the default viewer for that file. For example, a report document opens in BIRT Viewer and a PDF document opens in Adobe Acrobat Reader.

Dashboard and gadget files open in a temporary web page of the user's web browser unless the user subscribes to the dashboard file or adds the gadget file to an existing dashboard. If no default viewer is available for the selected file format, the option to download the file appears.

Share

Assigns file access privileges on the selected file.

Schedule

Schedules a time to run the selected file as a job, saves its output, and optionally, sets the job to recur over a fixed period.

View in PDF

Views the query output file as a PDF file.

Using Items You Can Run

The Items You Can Run category includes report designs and executable files. When an Information Console user runs a job, the generated output appears as a document in Documents You Can View.

Table 2-3 summarizes the file types that run in Information Console.

Table 2-3	Actuate design and executable files supported by Information
	Console

Icon	File type	Actuate file descriptions	Available operations
-	datadesign	BIRT data object design file	Schedule, Delete, Share
	rov	Report parameter values	Run, Run and Save, Schedule, Delete, Share
	rptdesign	BIRT report design	Run, Run and Save, Schedule, Edit, Delete, Share

The available file operations are:

- Delete Removes the selected file
- Edit

Edits the selected BIRT report design file in BIRT Studio if that option is installed

Run

Immediately runs the selected file as a job, saves its output as a temporary document, and opens it in the default file viewer

Run and Save

Immediately runs the selected file as a job, and saves its output

Schedule

Schedules a time to run the selected file as a job, saves its output, and optionally sets the job to recur over a fixed period

Share

Assigns file access privileges on the selected file

Sharing access to a file or folder

An Information Console user with an appropriate security role and licensed options must also have the access and privileges required to perform a task on a file or folder. An Information Console user must share a file or folder to set privileges on it or allow other users to access it. Only an administrator and the owner of a file or folder and can access a file or folder that is not shared. To prevent other users from accessing a file or folder, select Do not share for the item.

Setting privileges for a file or folder

An administrator or a file or folder owner can set privileges on a file or folder. A folder owner or an administrator can choose to apply privileges to only the folder or to all the files and subfolders in that folder. Table 2-4 lists and describes all supported privileges and the task that each privilege allows a user to perform.

Table 2-4	Privileges and allowed tasks for a folder or file		
Privilege	Symbol	Allowed task	
Delete	D	Delete the folder or file.	
Execute	Ε	Run a design, dashboard, or executable file. Only an administrator can set this privilege. The execute privilege does not apply to folders or document files.	
Grant	G	Change privileges for a file or folder. An administrator has grant privileges on all files and folders by default.	
Read	R	View and print an entire report. Privilege to view the contents of a folder. The file or folder must be visible.	
Secure read	S	View and print only restricted parts of a document.	
Visible	V	See a folder or a file in a list.	
Write	W	Modify a file or the contents of a folder.	

For information about how an administrator manages user privileges for files and folders on a volume, see *Managing an Encyclopedia Volume*.

Table 2-5 lists privileges required to perform typical tasks in a folder or file.

Table 2-5 Tasks and required privileges

Information Console task	Required privilege settings
Creating a new file or folder	Visible on the destination folder
	Write on the destination folder

(continues)

Information Console task	Required privilege settings
Deleting a folder	Visible on the folder
	Delete on the folder
	Delete on all files in the folder
Deleting a file	Visible on the file
	Delete on the file
Downloading contents of a document	Read
Expanding an archive file	Read, Write, and Visible privilege in a folder
Printing a report	Secure read or read
Reading the entire contents	Visible
of a document	Read
Reading restricted contents	Visible
of a document	Secure read
Replacing the latest report	Visible
version	Delete on the current document version
	Execute on the executable file
Running or scheduling a design to run	Delete on the existing report file if execution replaces the file
Setting privileges to access	Visible
any item	Grant
Viewing a file or folder	Visible, read or secure read
Viewing item properties	Visible, read or secure read

 Table 2-5
 Tasks and required privileges (continued)

An administrator assigns privileges to channels, users, folders, and files that allow each user to perform tasks using channels. If you cannot access a channel to which you want to subscribe or send a notice, contact the volume administrator. Table 2-6 lists the privileges required to perform tasks using a channel.

Table 2-6	Privileges	required to	perform	tasks in a	a channel
-----------	------------	-------------	---------	------------	-----------

Task	Required privilege settings
Reading a notification in a channel	Read or secure read for the report document associated with the notification
Sending a notification to a channel	Write for the channel
Subscribing to a channel	Read for the channel

Task	Required privilege settings
Updating the contents of a channel	Write for the channel
	Visible for a file that generates a report document
	Execute for a file that generates a report document
Viewing a channel	Read for the channel

Table 2-6 Privileges required to perform tasks in a channel

How to set privileges for a folder

- **1** Navigate to a folder. Choose View folder detail.
- 2 In View folder detail, choose Share, as shown in Figure 2-17.

<u>i</u>	۹			
<u>urup</u> > <u>Ho</u>	<u>me</u> > usi	er 👕	🗿 Share	
Create	older	-	Q Details	
This folde	r contair	ns r	🗱 Delete	



- **3** In Share options, to enable users to access the folder, select Share.
- **4** In Available, select Roles or Users. Choose the right arrow to move a role or user from Available to Selected.
- **5** From the list of available privileges, select privileges that a user requires to perform tasks in the folder, as described in Table 2-5. For example, Figure 2-18 shows the available privileges Visible, Read, and Write set for the selected role user, in a shared folder.

C Do not share	e 📀 Share ———					—Access
Available			Selected			
All Operator		•	(User) user -	- [VRW]		
Filter:			🔲 Visible	📕 Secure Read	🔳 Read	1
🕫 Role	s Apply Filter		🔲 Execute	🔲 Write	🔳 Delete	—Available
			🔲 Grant		🔲 All	privileges
C Use	rs Clear Filter		C Apply thes contents of th Recursi contents	e privilege settings to e folder vely include subfolder e existing privilege se	o the rs and their ttings	Options
				ОК	Cancel	



- To set the same privileges for all items in a folder, select Apply these privilege settings to the contents of the folder.
- To set the same privileges for all subfolders and subfolder contents, select Recursively include subfolders and their contents.
- To replace any privileges on items in the folder with displayed selections, select Replace existing privilege settings.
- 6 Choose OK.

How to set privileges for a file

- **-**
- 1 Navigate to a file. Choose File menu for that file. Then, choose Share, as shown in Figure 2-19.

Items You Can Run		
🖾 Chart Filtering with HtmlButton	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM 2 P
🗹 Client Investment Portfolio	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 Share
📝 Crosstab Sample Revenue	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 Q Details
📝 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 🗱 Delete

Figure 2-19 Selecting Share for a file

2 In Share options, to enable user access to a file, select Share, as shown in Figure 2-20.

C Do not share	Share					
Available			Selected			
All			(Role) All -	[VR]		
Operator		•				
Filter:			Visible	🗖 Secure Read	🔽 Read	Available
Roles	Apply Filter		Grant	Vvrite	L Delete	privileges
C Users	Clear Filter				_	
				ОК	Cancel	

To prevent access to a file, select Do not share.

Figure 2-20 Setting access and privileges for a file

- **3** In Available, select Roles or Users. Choose the right arrow to move a role or user from Available to Selected.
- **4** From the list of available privileges, select privileges that a user requires to perform tasks on the file, as described in Table 2-5.

For example, Figure 2-20 shows the available privileges Visible and Read set for the selected role All, for a shared file.

5 Choose OK.

Working with a folder

The My Documents navigation pane displays a view of folders for which a user has the Visible privilege. The navigation pane lists folders in a tree diagram. If the tree diagram is not visible, select the Tree View skin in Options—General. Users can select a folder as a destination for documents from a file job.

Using Folders

Folders are containers in which files stored in an Encyclopedia volume are organized. The following folders are available in a new Encyclopedia volume:

- Dashboard, where shared dashboard files are stored.
- Home, where each user can store their personal files.
- Public, where all users can store shared files.
- Resources, where resource files are stored that are shared among multiple documents and designs. Examples of these files include BIRT data objects, graphic files such as a company logo, and report library and theme files.

Figure 2-21 shows the Categories view of folders in a volume called urup.



Figure 2-21 Navigating Information Console folders

Choose a folder from the navigation pane or the file and folder pane to open it. File and folder privileges determine the files and folders a user can view and open. As a user navigates to a folder, Information Console displays the path. For example, Figure 2-22 shows the path to a folder called BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples, in a volume called urup.

urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT St	udio Examples 🔻	·			— View folder detail
Create Folder	Add File	Filter: <u>On </u> Off	View: Ca	tegories 💌	—Path
Documents You Can View					
🞰 BIRT Examples Read Me	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	19.9 KB		
🔝 Crosstab Sample Revenue	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	504 KB		
🔝 Customer Dashboard	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	328 KB		

Figure 2-22 Displaying the folder details and path

Contact the volume administrator to move existing files and folders.

Viewing folder properties

To view properties for a selected folder, select View folder detail. Then, choose Details from the context menu. Folder properties such as folder name, creator name, creation time, description, path location of the folder, if the folder is a shared and folder access rights appear in Details. For example, Figure 2-23 shows Details for an advanced user viewing properties for a folder called Public. Public was created by the administrator.

General									
Name:		Public							
Туре:		Folder							
Location:		1							
Description:									
Size:		0.00 KB	.00 KB						
Created:		1/17/2013 2:1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM						
Created by:		Administrator							
Shared:		Yes							
Access Rights									
<u>Read</u>	<u>Write</u>	<u>Execute</u>	<u>Delete</u>	<u>Grant</u>	<u>Secure</u> <u>Read</u>	<u>Visible</u>			
V	×	×	×	×	×	V			
Auto Archive									
There is no archi	ve policy	assigned to this i	tem.						

Figure 2-23 Examining folder properties in Detail

The Folder menu appears in Navigation pane when the cursor hovers over a folder icon. The Folder menu also appears in the file and folder pane when using the Icons, or List view. Figure 2-24 shows how a user can view folder properties. In this example, the Folder menu appears open for the Public folder.

 $\overline{}$

My Documents 🔻	😜 🚑 Add Content 📑 Save	
eurup		
⊕ 💼 Dashboard ⊖ 📹 Home	urup > Public 🗸	— View folder detail
Copen Folder	Create Folder Add File Filter: On Off View: Categories -	
Share	Folders	
Details Delete Minorie Supscript	 BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples Information Objects Based Examples 	— File and folder pane

Figure 2-24 Displaying the folder details

Creating a folder

A user who has the appropriate security role and the required visible and write privileges for a folder can create a subfolder in that folder. The user that creates a folder can assign access privileges to that folder for other users or groups.

How to create a folder

1 Navigate to a folder. Choose Create Folder, as shown in Figure 2-25.



Figure 2-25 Creating a new folder in a user home folder

2 In Create Folder, type a folder name in Name, then type descriptive text in Description. For example, type Sales Data in Name and sales statistics for last year in Description, as shown in Figure 2-26.

<u>urup</u> > <u>Home</u> > <u>user</u>	> Create Folder			
Name:	Sales Data			*
Description:	sales statistics for last year]
		ок	Cancel	

Figure 2-26 Typing a new folder name and description

Choose OK.

The new folder appears in the volume, as shown in Figure 2-27.



Figure 2-27 Viewing a new folder

Deleting a folder

Users with the appropriate security role and privileges for a folder can delete the folder. Deleting a folder also deletes all files and subfolders in the selected folder.

How to delete a folder

- 1 Navigate to a folder for which you have the Delete privilege.
- 2 Choose View folder detail, as shown in Figure 2-28.

urup > <u>Home</u> > <u>user</u> > Sales Data 🔝 —	View folder detail
Create Folder Add File Filter: On Off View: Categories 🗸	
This folder contains no items.	

Figure 2-28 Viewing folder detail

- **3** In View folder detail, choose Delete.
- 4 In the confirmation message, choose OK.

When deletion completes, Information Console displays a status message in Delete file/folder(s) Status. Figure 2-29 shows an example of a successful file deletion.



Figure 2-29

Viewing the result of a successful folder deletion

Finding a file

Information Console offers users multiple tools to find the files that they need. The following options assist users in finding and displaying files:

- Folders
- Search
- Filter
- Channel notification

Understanding folder organization

Use folders to organize related files into groups. Users with the appropriate security role and the required visible and write privileges for a folder can create and name subfolders. A user can save a file from a viewer or one generated from a job in a folder for which he has appropriate privileges. To move existing files, contact the Encyclopedia volume administrator.

An administrator assigns each user a Home folder in which to save his own files. A Public folder exists for storing shared files. A Resources folder exists for storing files such as company logos, that may appear in multiple documents. The Dashboard folder exists for storing dashboard and gadget files.

For information about folders other than the default folders, select View folder detail, then choose Details. Contact your Encyclopedia volume administrator for additional information, if necessary.

Searching files and folders

Searching helps a user to find an item without scanning long lists of files and folders. Search appears in the banner for Information Console users having intermediate-, advanced-, and administrator-level roles.

Information Console supports searching for files or folders within a folder. The scope of a search is limited to a selected folder and its subfolders. To search the entire Encyclopedia volume, start at the top of the folder hierarchy. A file and folder search displays files and folders for which a user has View privilege.

How to use expressions in searches

Search expressions use special characters called operators to find files that match the condition in the expression. For example, Information Console supports using the special character, *, as a wildcard to indicate any variable number of characters before or after a string.

Table 2-7 lists the operators available to search for folders and files.

Operator name	Symbol	Usage		
Asterisk	*	Match zero or any number of characters.		
Brackets	[]	Match any character in the set between the brackets.		
Caret	\wedge	Match everything not in the bracket set.		
Comma	,	Combine search terms and expressions.		
Exclamation	!	Match everything NOT equal to the search expression.		
Greater than	>	Match everything greater than, or alphabetically after, the value that follows the operator.		
Hyphen	-	Separates upper and lower limits of the search range.		
Less than	<	Match everything less than, or alphabetically before, the value that follows the operator.		
Number sign	#	Match any single ASCII numeric character [0–9].		
Question mark	?	Match any one character.		

 Table 2-7
 Operators used to form search expressions

Searches include the file-name extension. For example, the following expressions would find the file BIRTcharts5.rptdocument, and other files with similar names:

- BIRT*
- BIRTcharts*
- BIRTcharts5.rptdocument
- BIRTcharts#*
- BIRTcharts[3-6]*
- *5*

The following expressions, however, would not find BIRTcharts5.rptdocument:

```
BIRTcharts5
```

The file-name extension is included as part of the name when matching a search expression. The search for "BIRTcharts5" fails because there is not a file or folder named "BIRTcharts5". The search for *5 fails because the end of the document name is "ts" and not "5".

Table 2-8 lists examples of search queries.

Expression	Search result
[A-E]*	Returns files starting with A, B, C, D, or E
[AE]*	Returns files starting with A or E
[^A-E]*	Returns files that do not start with A, B, C, D, or E
?????	Returns files that have 5 characters in its name
Model?2010*	Returns files whose name has a single character between Model and 2010
##	Returns files containing 2 numeric characters anywhere in the name
BIRT*	Returns files that start with BIRT
>D	Returns files that have a name starting with D or a letter higher in the alphabet than D
70 - 90	Returns files that have a numeric name from 70 up to 90
A - C	Returns files starting with A, B, or C
BIRT*, customer*	Returns files that begin with BIRT or customer
*.rptdocument	Returns files that have the file-name extension .rptdocument
*.rptdocument, *.rptdesign	Returns files that have the file-name extension .rptdocument or .rptdesign.
*document	Returns files whose file-name extension ends with the letters "document"

 Table 2-8
 Example search expressions

Searching for the expression "*document" finds files that finish with the word "document", such as file.rptdocument and file.cubedocument. A file named April Report Document.rptdesign does not match the because the search includes the file-name extension as the end of the file name.

How to use special characters in searches

If a user wants to find a file name that includes one or more special characters, a backslash $(\)$ must precede each special character in the search expression.

Table 2-9 lists the special characters that require a backslash before them when used in searches.

 Table 2-9
 Special characters in searches that require a backslash

Character name	Symbol	Character name	Symbol
Ampersand	&	Hyphen	-
			(continues)

Character name	Symbol	Character name	Symbol
Asterisk	*	Less than sign	<
Backslash	\setminus	Number sign	#
Close square bracket]	Open square bracket	[
Comma	1	Pipe sign	
Exclamation point	!	Question mark	?
Greater than sign	>	Single quotation mark	1

Table 2-9 Special characters in searches that require a backslash (continued)

For example, to search for a file name that includes the characters "user#", you must type the following search expression:

user\#

If you type user#, the search returns user names that begin with user and end with a number, such as user1 and user2.

How to search for files and folders

- **1** Navigate to the specific folder to search.
- **2** In the Inner banner menu, choose Search.
- **3** In Search Documents, type the name of a file or folder to find.
- **4** Choose Search. The search results shown in Figure 2-30 include all folder and file names that begin with the following characters:

sales*

<u>urup</u> > Search Documents				
			View:	Categories 💌
sales*		Search		
6 items found				
Folders				
/Home/user/Sales				
Information Objects				
/Public/Information Objects Based Examples/Sample_Project	:/Informatio	n Objects/App	lication	Layer/Sales 🔻
Items You Can Run				
🔀 /Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Sales by Customer	Version 1	1/17/201	3 2:18	рм 📝 🗟 💮 🔻
📝 /Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Sales by Employee	Version 1	1/17/201	3 2:18	рм 📝 🗟 📎 🔻
📝 /Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Sales by Product Line	Version 1	1/17/201	3 2:18	рм 📝 🗟 📎 🔻
📝 /Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Sales by Region	Version 1	1/17/201	3 2:18	рм 📝 🗟 📎 🔻

Figure 2-30 Search results

Search results include all available file names that match the search condition.

Filtering items in a folder

Filtering limits the items that appear in a selected folder. By default, filter options are off. With filters off, all items in a folder for which a user has access and the Visible privilege appear to that user. To limit the items that appear, select filter options. For example, a user can select a filter option to display only items that are Documents. Information Console supports filter options that limit display of items in a folder to those that match the following criteria:

- File and folder names that match a search expression
- The most recent version of each file
- Only sub-folders
- Only document files
- Only executable files

How to filter files

1 To enable filter options, in Filter, choose On. The available filter options appear, as shown in Figure 2-31.

urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT	Studio Examples 🔻	
Create Folder	Add File Filter: On <u>Off</u>	View: Categories 💌
Filter: 🔲 🗖 Latest versi	ion only 🔽 Folders 🗹 Documents 🖡	Z Executables Apply Reset
E : 0.04 E		

Figure 2-31 Enabling filter options

- **2** Choose Reset to set the filter to its default setting.
- **3** Limit the display to document files only, verify Documents is selected, deselect Folders, and deselect Executables.
- **4** In the Filter text field, type a specific text character or string that appears in the beginning of a file's name.

Type the special character * as the last character. For example, the following shows files that start with the letters CU:

CU*

5 Choose Apply. A filtered list of items appears. For example, Figure 2-32 shows a filtered list of document files. Optionally, choose a different folder to apply the same filter inside the new folder.

👔 🗾 🔍				
urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT S	tudio Examples	5 🔻		
Create Folder	Add File	Filter: On <u>Off</u>	Vie	ew: Categories 💌
Filter: 🔲 🗖 Latest versi	on only 🗖	Folders 🗹 Documer	nts 🔲 Executables	Apply Reset
Documents You Can View				
🎰 BIRT Examples Read Me	Version 1	1/17/2013 2:18 PM	19.9 KB	~

Figure 2-32 Filtering reports by viewable documents

6 Choose Off in Filter to disable filter options.

Using a channel

A channel is a service to which users and security roles subscribe. Channels use publish-subscribe technology to deliver job completion notices and documents from a central server across the internet to users. Using Channels, an Information Console user can open a document or read information about the job that generated it in a channel to which he subscribes.

Every Information Console user is subscribed to a personal channel. A user cannot unsubscribe from a personal channel. An administrator sets options that control whether the server sends job completion notices to a user's personal channel by default, and if so, under what conditions notices are deleted. A user can also set these options, using Options—Notification.

A user scheduling a job can choose whether or not to send a job completion notice for the job. If the user decides to send a notice, it appears in the user's personal channel and any other channels the user specifies when setting up the job.

A user with access and privileges can subscribe to multiple channels. Choose Channels to view all currently subscribed channels as shown in Figure 2-33, or to subscribe to a new channel.

My Documents 🔻 巓		🚑 Add Content	🔚 Save
Urup Documents Dashboard Home Dublic E Resources	Channels Show subscribed channels		
Channels	Channel Name Description		
Mobile Subscriptions	Personal Channel		

Figure 2-33 Viewing subscribed channels

Filtering a channel limits the notices that a user sees in a channel. To limit the notices that you see in a channel, use the same procedure that you use to filter file names in a folder. For example, in your personal channel, choose Filter On. Then, type characters in Filter. Use the asterisk (*) special character to search for a partial string.

A volume administrator may create multiple channels to group job notifications together. For example, in a typical channel created for sales managers, all sales managers in the US can subscribe to the US Sales channel in which links to US sales reports appear.

Subscribing to a channel

Every Information Console user is subscribed to their personal channel. A user can be subscribed to multiple channels. If a channel is not visible, contact an administrator to establish the required access and privileges.

How to subscribe to a channel

- **1** Log in to Information Console.
- **2** Choose Channels from the My Documents navigation pane. The Channels page appears.
- **3** Select Subscribe to channels and choose OK, as shown in Figure 2-34. Available channels appear in a list.

Channels
Show subscribed channels 🚽 📃 OK
Show subscribed channels
Subscribe to channels Channel Name Description
🖾 Personal Channel

Figure 2-34 Displaying available channels

4 Select subscribe for each desired channel, as shown in Figure 2-35.

🔒 🗾 🔍		
Channels Filter: <u>On </u> Off		
Channel Name	Description	Subscribe
Proposals	Proposal reports	
Purchasing	Purchasing reports	
Sales	Sales reports	ঘ
Stock	Warehouse reports	ঘ
	ОК	Cancel

Figure 2-35 Selecting from available channels

5 Choose OK.

Viewing a job completion notice

A channel lists notices that indicate completed status for scheduled file jobs. Each job completion notice provides a link to view more details about the file job. The job completion notice for a successful job includes a URL link to the document generated by the job.

A job completion notice provides the following summary information:

- File size
- Finished date and time
- Headline
- Job name
- Output file name
- Version number

Figure 2-36 shows several job completion notices that summarize file jobs.

<u>Channels</u> > Personal Channel					— Output file name
Filter: On Off					- Version number
Client Investment Portfolio	Version 3	1/15/2013 8:54 AM	27500	Q	Version number
Client Investment Portfolio				I	— Job name
Portfolio spreadsheet for user 🛛 🗕					— Job headline
🔤 <u>Client Investment Portfolio</u>	Version 2	1/15/2013 8:54 AM	83291	Q	
Client Investment Portfolio					
Client Investment pdf for user					
🕙 <u>Client Investment Portfolio</u>	Version 1	1/15/2013 8:53 AM	17036	Q	— View job detail
Client Investment Portfolio					
Client Investment portfolio report fo	or user				

Figure 2-36 Viewing job completion notices in a personal channel

Q

Choose View job detail for a job completion notice to see the following information:

- Notification settings
- Output document information
- Report information
- Schedule information
- Status

Viewing a document from a channel

In Channels, choose the channel in which you expect to find a job completion notice. In a notice for a successful job, select the link that shows the document

name or the link that shows the document version number. The document appears in the viewer set for that document type on the user's machine.

Deleting a job completion notice

A user can delete a job completion notice from their personal channel and from any channel for which that user has Write privilege. Deleting a job completion notice removes that notice from the channel but does not remove the output file or the completed job details that appear in My Jobs.

How to delete a job completion notice from a channel

- 1 In My Documents, choose Channels.
- **2** In Channels, choose a channel name for which you have Write privilege.
- **3** Choose View job detail to display details for each file job. Details for the file job appear, as shown in Figure 2-37.

<u>Channels</u> > <u>Personal Channel</u> > Sales by Region : Detail		
Open	Delete Job	
Schedule (Succ	ceeded)	
Job Name:	Sales by Region	
Owner:	user	

Figure 2-37 Viewing details of a file job

4 Choose Delete Job. The selected job notification is removed from the channel and a delete success message appears.

3

Using BIRT dashboards

This chapter contains the following topics:

- About dashboards and gadgets
- Using the personal dashboard
- Types of dashboard gadgets
- Using a gadget

About dashboards and gadgets

An Actuate BIRT dashboard is a self-contained web application that delivers business performance data in interactive charts, cross tab tables, formatted text, and Adobe Flash visualizations. You can download, explore, and monitor data displayed on your personal dashboard. Use the browser-based dashboard tools to organize dashboards, subscribe to shared dashboards, or build new ones.

Dashboards display a variety of gadgets that enable users to find and analyze data. Data that appears in a dashboard is either queried on demand or cached as BIRT data objects for fast analysis.

Network content with a URL address, such as images, videos, text, web pages, and Google gadget files, can display on dashboards. The network content and business data link together for enhanced analysis and data presentation. Figure 3-1 shows a dashboard in Information Console.



Figure 3-1 Displaying a sample dashboard layout

This chapter describes how to view and subscribe to shared dashboard files. For information about building and sharing BIRT dashboard files, see *Building BIRT Dashboards*.

About BIRT dashboard functionality

Users interact with dashboard data using the gadgets on the dashboard. Each gadget is a self-contained data viewer. For example, gadgets can display interactive BIRT reports, tables, cross tabs, and charts. Other gadgets enable users

to display selected data such as a list of customers or a calendar. External resources can display on the dashboard, such as HTML pages, images and web services.

Actuate BIRT dashboards support the following user activities:

- Building web-based reports and performance indicators using charts, tables, cross tabs, and Adobe Flash objects
- Reviewing multiple BIRT files at the same time
- Viewing part of a BIRT file instead of the entire file
- Displaying and linking multiple data sources
- Interacting with data by launching browser-based tools such as BIRT Data Analyzer
- Keeping information up-to-date using refresh timers
- Exploring and exporting data using filtering, drill-down analysis, and drill-through hyperlinks
- Mixing external web services with existing business data

Users can analyze cross tab gadgets using BIRT Data Analyzer. For more information about maximizing gadgets, see "Maximizing gadgets," later in this chapter.

The BIRT 360 option for BIRT iHub is required to open dashboard and gadget files. Some optional features require appropriate BIRT iHub options. For example, to use browser-based tools such as BIRT Interactive Viewer for iHub or BIRT Data Analyzer, the appropriate BIRT iHub options are required. Dashboard and gadget files use the same file access privileges as other Actuate files.

About web browsers

BIRT dashboards rely on the your web browser to present information. Using supported web browsers assures consistent display of dashboards and gadgets. Although external resources can be displayed in a dashboard, the security settings, installed browser plug-ins (like Adobe Flash Player), and printer settings are managed by your web browser.

Using the personal dashboard

In Information Console, a user can open a dashboard file from the My Documents file explorer or add a dashboard file to their personal dashboard. Each user receives a personal dashboard to display multiple dashboard files. Changes on a user's personal dashboard persist across sessions in the user's Information

Console account. In Information Console, users add dashboard files to their personal dashboard by subscribing to a dashboard file.

The personal dashboard displays either shared or user dashboard files. Shared dashboard files enable groups of users to monitor the same charts and analyze the same data by subscribing to the same dashboard file. User dashboard files are private and enable individuals to build and manage their own dashboard files for personal use.

User types define what a user can accomplish with a dashboard file. The Information Console administrator manages the following user types:

- All users can refresh dashboards, interact with data selector gadgets and maximize gadgets for access to browser-based tools such as BIRT Interactive Viewer and BIRT Data Analyzer. The dashboard file or gadget is reset each time it is viewed.
- Business users are the same as basic users but also use report and extras gadget types to create and share dashboards. This user can subscribe to shared dashboard files, copy shared dashboards, and use shared gadgets in their own dashboards. Business users can also share their dashboards.
- Dashboard developers are the same as business users but also create gadget scripts, use data visualization gadgets, and use data selection gadgets.

Subscribing to a dashboard file

Shared dashboard files contain one or more dashboard tabs. You can subscribe to, rename, reorder, copy, or delete a shared dashboard. You can also interact with gadgets on a shared dashboard, for example, using data selectors to filter a report gadget, print a chart gadget, or interact with the data using BIRT Interactive Viewer. Modifications to gadgets on shared dashboards reset the next time the dashboard refreshes or updates.

Shared dashboards appear with the share icon on the dashboard title. Users with write privileges to the dashboard file update shared dashboard files by overwriting the saved version of the dashboard. When a shared dashboard is changed, users that subscribe to the dashboard receive the changes the next time the dashboard opens or refreshes.

How to subscribe to a dashboard file

1 Choose Add Content, as shown in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2 Subscribing to a shared dashboard

3

<u>م</u>

2 Choose Dashboard Gallery, as shown in Figure 3-3.





If Shared Folders is not visible, choose Home first and then choose Shared Folders.

3 Double-click the Documents dashboard to add a new Documents dashboard to your personal dashboard, as shown in Figure 3-4.



Figure 3-4

Adding a new dashboard

About dashboard options

Each dashboard has a tab with a name describing the contents of the dashboard. Users can organize and manage their dashboards with these options, for example change the name of a dashboard or copy a dashboard.

-

Dashboard options are in the dashboard's menu, as shown in Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5 Accessing dashboard options

Shared dashboards have different options than a user dashboard. Table 3-1 lists dashboard options for shared and user dashboards.

Table 3-1	Options for shared and user dashboards	
-----------	--	--

Option	Description	Shared	User
Сору	Duplicate the dashboard as a new dashboard.	1	1
Delete	Remove the dashboard.	1	1
Layout	Select column or free form layout for gadgets on the dashboard.		1
Manage Data	Select one or more BIRT data objects or BIRT data object Stores to be data sources of the dashboard.		1
Options	Modify dashboard name, header and footer text, auto refresh rate.		1
Print	Print the contents of the active dashboard.	1	1
Refresh	Query and update data object design, BIRT design and external files in use.	1	1
Rename	Change the name of the dashboard.	1	1
Share	General sharing options and privileges on the dashboard.		1
Show Selections	Display and optionally reset any data selectors used on the dashboard.	1	1

Organizing the personal dashboard

Users can personalize the following dashboard options:

- Change the order of a displayed dashboard in Information Console.
- Copy a dashboard to enable editing.
- Delete a dashboard.
- Display all selections on a dashboard.
- Rename a dashboard.

How to change the dashboard order

To change the dashboard order, drag a dashboard title and drop it after an existing dashboard title, as shown in Figure 3-6. The placement indicator shows possible locations for the new dashboard.

				— Dashboard title
My Documents	New Tab 5 🔻 New Tab	o 6 📉 New Tab 7 🗌	Orders	
				— Placement indicator
		Now Tab 5		
		New Tab 5		

Figure 3-6 Changing the dashboard order

How to delete a dashboard

Delete a dashboard from your personal dashboard when you no longer need it. When you delete a user dashboard from the personal dashboard it is permanently removed unless you previously saved the dashboard. You can subscribe again to shared dashboards that you remove from your personal dashboard.

1 On the dashboard menu choose Delete, as shown in Figure 3-7.

My Documents	🏼 🖉 Accounting	🛯 🖉 Orders			_
	-		2	Share	
			I	Rename	
			Đ	Сору	
			জ	Refresh	
			×	Delete	
			4	Manage Data	
			4	Print	
				Layout	•
				Show Selections	
			-	Options	



2 On Delete Tab, choose Yes, as shown in Figure 3-8. The selected dashboard is removed.



Figure 3-8

Deleting a dashboard

The personal dashboard appears without the deleted dashboard tab.

How to rename a dashboard

-

-

1 On the dashboard menu, choose Rename, as shown in Figure 3-9.





2 In Rename Tab, type a new dashboard name, as shown in Figure 3-10.

Rename Tab	x
Please enter a new name for the tab: Orders	
OK Cancel	

Figure 3-10 Renaming a dashboard

Choose OK. The personal dashboard displays the new name.

Copying a shared dashboard

A user can copy a shared dashboard. A copied dashboard becomes a user dashboard that a user can edit or share using a new name. A copied dashboard does not link to the original shared dashboard. Updating the original shared dashboard file does not change a copied dashboard.

User dashboards support the following dashboard and gadget features:

- Adding or deleting gadgets on the dashboard
- Changing gadget location, using a columns or free form layout
- Setting the auto-refresh time for gadgets on a dashboard
- Managing data sources for gadgets on a dashboard
- Changing chart and Flash object types of a dashboard
- Showing or hiding selected gadget headers, borders, and browser-based tools

For more information about building and editing a dashboard, see *Building BIRT Dashboards*.

How to copy a dashboard

To copy a dashboard, select Copy from the dashboard menu, as shown in Figure 3-11.

My Documents	Accounting	Orders 🔻		<u>_</u>	
	5		3	Share	
			I	Rename	
			Ð	Сору	
			ଜ	Refresh	
			×	Delete	
			÷2	Manage Data	
			4	Print	
				Layout	•
				Show Selections	
			*	Options	

Figure 3-11 Copying a dashboard page

-
The copied dashboard appears at the end of the displayed dashboard names. Copied dashboards become user dashboards that you can edit.

Showing user selections on a dashboard

Data selection gadgets enable users to choose data to display on a dashboard. Choose Show Selections to display or remove all data selections on a dashboard.

How to reset selections on a dashboard

- -
- 1 On the dashboard menu choose Show Selections, as shown in Figure 3-12.





The Show Selections gadget appears on the dashboard.

2 In the Show Selections gadget, select Clear All, as shown in Figure 3-13, to remove all selections from the dashboard.

Show Selections	▼ 🗖	
	Clear All	Clear selections

Figure 3-13 Clearing all selections on a dashboard

Gadgets on the dashboard update to show data without filtering from user selections.

Printing a dashboard

Choose Print from the dashboard menu to print the current dashboard. A print preview is generated displaying the gadgets on the dashboard.

Many gadget types can export a PDF as an alternative to printing the gadget contents. For more information about exporting gadget contents, see "Exporting gadget content," later in this chapter.

Printing a dashboard uses your web browser's printing capability. See your web browser online help for printing options that it supports.

How to print a dashboard

1 Choose Print from the dashboard menu, as shown in Figure 3-14.

Applutic	- 11	-
Analytic	3	Share
COUNTRY	I	Rename
UK	Þ	Сору
	କ୍ଷ	Refresh
CITY	×	Delete
	- 2	Manage Data
Cowes	4	Print
Liverpool London		Layout 🕨 🕨
Manchester		Show Selections
	÷	Options

Figure 3-14 Printing a dashboard page

Print Preview appears.

2 In Print Preview, after reviewing the preview, choose Print, as shown in Figure 3-15.

Print Preview						x
Close Print						
	Crosstab - I	Data Cube			▼ □	Bar Chart - Data Cube 🛛 🔻 🗖
		Year	2003	2004	2005	
	COUNTRY	CITY	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalSales by CITY, by Year
	UK	Cowes		55621.705		
Ø		Liverpool	13596.9	45443.543	37258.941	es
Cowes		London	49198.432	13619.621		Liver
Liverpool		Manchester	25305.781	61797.513		pool
Manchester	Grai	nd Total	88101.113	176482.382	37258.941	Lon
						Man
	Summary 1	Table - Data Set			▼ □	ester
↓						50,000
	PRODUCTI	LINE Sum (ORDERE	Average D) (ORDERED	Min) (ORDERED)	Sum (TotalSales)	
Classic Cars	Classic Car	rs 35582	35	10	\$3,853,923	
Motorcycles	Motorcycle	<u>s</u> 12778	35	20	\$1,121,426	
🗹 Planes	<u>Planes</u>	11872	35	11	\$954,638	
🗹 Ships	<u>Ships</u>	8532	34	20	\$663,998	
🗹 Trains	Trains	2818	34	20	\$188,533	
	Grand Tot	al 71582	34	10	\$6,782,518	

Figure 3-15 Previewing the dashboard for printing

3 In the web browser print window, select an available printer. Then, choose Print.

Saving dashboard changes

Changes to a user dashboard or to a dashboard file that you have permission to edit are saved automatically at a time interval configured by the volume administrator. You can use the save status to verify that the current changes will be available the next time that you log in to Information Console.

Figure 3-16 shows a dashboard save status.

My Documents	Accounting	Orders 🔻	₽		A	dd Content	Save	-Save	
Column Chart - Data	i Set	▼ □	Report	- Customer	Order Histo	ry	-	olalao	
				1/5		• • • •			

Figure 3-16 Verifying the save status of a dashboard

The save status displays the following information:

- Save: the dashboard has not yet been saved or a saved dashboard has been changed since the last time it was saved.
- Saving: your changes are being saved.
- Saved: previous changes have been saved and there are no other changes to the dashboard that you can save.

You can save changes to dashboards on your personal dashboard by clicking the save status when it displays Save. Shared dashboards continue to reset to the most recent version but user dashboards will save their most recent changes.

Dashboards opened as a file from the Information Console file explorer have the following save options if you have permission to edit the dashboard:

- Save: save the current dashboard settings to the existing dashboard file.
- Save as: save the current dashboard to a new dashboard file.

How to save a dashboard as a new dashboard file

2

Follow these instructions to save a new dashboard file from a dashboard opened from the Information Console file explorer.

1 In My Documents, open a dashboard file for editing. Figure 3-17 shows opening a dashboard in the Information Console file explorer.

ur	ù Ø ≪ u <u>p</u> > <u>Dashboard</u> > Contents ▼					
	Create Folder	Add File	Filter: <u>On</u> Off	View: Catego	ries 💌	
	Documents You Can View					
8	Analytic	Version 1	1/17/2013 5:55 PM	154 KB	<u>í</u>	— Edit
8	Documents	Version 1	1/17/2013 8:05 AM	0.75 KB	2 🗸	

Figure 3-17 Editing a dashboard file

2 Select Save. Choose Save As, as shown in Figure 3-18.



Figure 3-18 Selecting Save As

3 In Save As, select an output location and name for the new dashboard file, as shown in Figure 3-19. Use Browse to navigate to a new location if necessary.

Save As			x
Output location:	/Home/administrator	Brov	vse
Name		Туре	
		DIRECTORY	
administrator_da	ashboard.dashboard	DASHBOARD	
Name:	Analytic.dashboard		
	ОК	Cancel	

Figure 3-19 Selecting the output location and name for the dashboard

4 Choose OK to save the new dashboard file.

Restoring dashboard settings

You can reset your personal dashboard to one of the following options:

- Blank dashboard
- System default
- Shared dashboard file

Resetting your personal dashboard erases the existing personal dashboard. Save any user dashboards before resetting your dashboard. After resetting the personal dashboard, you can subscribe again to shared dashboards.

How to restore a personal dashboard

Follow these instructions to restore your personal dashboard to your system default. The volume administrator configures the system default.

1 Choose Options from the banner menu, as shown in Figure 3-20.

🗋 🕜 📔 Options

Figure 3-20 Choosing options in the banner menu

2 Choose My dashboard.

R

- **3** Choose Reset my dashboard to.
- **4** Choose System default, as shown in Figure 3-21.

General	My Dashboard Notification
r 🗹 Rese	t my dashboard to
0	Blank dashboard
•	System default
0	Shared dashboard Browse
_ Default I	ayout:
	C One Column
	Two Columns
	C Three Columns
	C Free Form
Free for	n layout default settings:
	🔽 Show Grid
	🔽 Snap to Grid
	Grid Spacing: 18 💌 px
Save O	ptions



5 Choose Save Options.

Types of dashboard gadgets

A dashboard displays data from BIRT data objects in various gadgets, such as lists, tables, cross tabs, charts, and Adobe Flash objects. Gadgets also embed BIRT document and design files, and external HTML-based content.

New Gadget includes several gadget types. Each gadget type supports displaying and interacting with data in a different way, as described in the following list:

Data selection gadgets

Displays user selection choices, for example: lists, check boxes, sliders, calendars, and data version. User choices filter data displayed in linked gadgets.

- Data visualization gadgets
 Displays BIRT data objects in charts, tables, cross tabs, Adobe Flash objects, and Adobe Flex table.
- Extras gadgets
 - Displays HTML-formatted text.
 - Displays an external web page, image, video, or embedded HTML and JavaScript code.

- Displays a Google gadget file.
- Displays a BIRT data object in Adobe Flash charts.
- Performance gadgets
 Displays performance objects such as book sections, briefing books, performance maps, and performance views when BIRT 360 Plus is installed.
- Report gadgets

Embeds a complete or partial BIRT document or design file.

Figure 3-22 shows the layout of a BIRT gadget.



Figure 3-22 Gadget structure

The maximize and menu icons are not visible when the gadget header is not shown. Users can also double-click the gadget title to maximize the gadget or right-click the title to see the gadget menu.

About report gadgets

A report gadget embeds an entire BIRT document file, BIRT design file or an element found in either file that has a reference bookmark, such as a single cross tab, table, or chart, into a gadget. The embedded document retains the file access privileges of the original BIRT document.

If the displayed BIRT file includes parameters, other gadgets can affect the data displayed in the report. Parameters enable users to input values into the BIRT document or design file for filtering, formatting or processing data. Parameters can be required to run a file job or they can be optional.

For example, parameters for a BIRT document can appear as a user selectable list. When a user selects a different item in the list, the report gadget updates to show data relevant to the user choice.

You can also use parameters to request a report in a specific language or to add comments into the final report. Parameters are created by BIRT developers using BIRT Designer Professional.

Report gadgets can display parameters as part of the gadget. After selecting your parameters, choose Run to update the report.

Figure 3-23 shows a report gadget with a parameter as part of the report gadget.

Report - Customer Or	der History		-
Customer	Australia	n Collectors, Co.	•
Run ≣▼ 1/5			
	4	ustralian Collect	ors, Co.
Contact: Peter Fer 636 St Kilda Road Level 3 Melbourne, Victoria Australia	guson 1 3004	Sa	iles Represe
Code	Description	Qty	
Order Number:	10120	Order Date:	Apr 2
S10_2016	1996 Moto Guzzi 1100)i 29	\$118
S10 4698	2003 Harley-Davidson	46	\$158

Figure 3-23 Parameter as part of a report gadget

Use data selection gadgets to search for and send selected values to multiple BIRT reports. After selecting the desired values, the linked report gadgets update to show data related to your selection. These values can filter data displayed in the BIRT report or be used in the BIRT report by scripts.

Figure 3-24 shows a report gadget with a parameter in a separate selector gadget.

Customer (paramete	er)	
Australian Collectables,	Ltd	
Australian Collectors, Co),	
Australian Gift Network,	Co	
Auto Associés & Cie.		-
Report - Customer O	rder History	-
≣- 1/5		
Melbourne, Victori Australia	a 3004	
Code	Description	
Order Number:	10120	0
S10_2016	1996 Moto Guzzi 1	100i 29
S10_4698	2003 Harley-David	lson 46

Figure 3-24 Parameter as a separate data selection gadget

Use parameter gadgets to send one or more selected operators and values to multiple BIRT reports. For example, an Internal Use choice that prints additional information to a report file based on the user selection.

After selecting parameter values and choosing Apply Changes, the report gadget updates the report and displays the new data. For more information about report parameters, see "Using parameters" in Chapter 4, "Running file jobs."

Parameter Gadge	et 1	▼ □
Product Line	In Classic Cars Motorcycles Planes Ships Trains	
Order Date	Equal to 💽 Jan 6, 2003 💌	
Credit Limit	Greater than 💌 10000 💌	
ReleaseDate	8/30/2012	🗖 No value
InternalOnly	r Yes C No	
Comments	none	🗖 No value
City	No Condition	
Order Number		🔽 No value
	Apply Changes	

Figure 3-25 shows a sample parameter gadget.

Figure 3-25 Supplying values to a parameter gadget

You can change the appearance and layout of BIRT document data, when you maximize a report gadget. Report and Reportlet gadgets support multiple drill-through of charts when the BIRT developer enables this functionality, as shown in Figure 3-26.





Modifications to report gadgets on shared dashboards reset the next time the dashboard refreshes. Modifications to a user dashboard are stored in the user's personal dashboard file. Refreshing a report gadget or refreshing a dashboard with a report gadget will rerun the report displayed in the gadget.

About extras gadgets

A gadget from the extras category embeds external content into a dashboard. External content can be on a server inside the local network or a public server on the internet. Hyperlinks in the external content open in new browser pages or within the extras gadget, depending on the external web site design.

The following gadgets are available in the extras category:

Flash charts

Flash charts are Adobe Flash-based charts. These charts require the Adobe Flash Player, installed in your web browser, for viewing and interaction.

HTML gadget

An HTML gadget contains an external web site URL address or embedded HTML and JavaScript code. This gadget displays the external web site or the embedded content.

Image gadget

An image gadget contains an external image URL address. The image displays on the dashboard through an Adobe Flash-based image viewer. This gadget supports the JPG, PNG, and GIF image formats.

Import gadget

An import gadget displays a Google gadget from the internet or a local network. These gadgets can link to data selection gadgets on the dashboard.

Text gadget

A text gadget contains HTML-formatted text. When editing text in the gadget, an HTML text editor appears for visual editing or HTML source editing.

Video gadget

A video gadget contains an external video URL address or embedded HTML or JavaScript code. The video or embedded content plays within the gadget.

For example, some media services offer HTML code for embedding custom video players or play lists into other web sites. The video gadget uses this embedded code to display the external media.

Extras gadgets display their content on demand. If external content is not available or changes occur to the external content between dashboard views, the information displayed in the gadget also changes.

About data visualization gadgets

Data visualization gadgets display data from BIRT data objects. Data visualization gadgets can link to data selection gadgets on the same dashboard to filter data based on user selection.

When a data version gadget is on a dashboard, users can select which version of a BIRT data store file is displayed in gadgets on the dashboard. For example, a data version gadget that displays Q1 2010, Q2 2010, Q3 2010, Q4 2010 enables the user to view data from any quarter of 2010 in the current dashboard.

The following gadgets are available in the data visualization category:

Chart gadget

A chart gadget displays data in a JavaScript-based chart. A user can filter, group, change chart types and aggregate data. Available chart types are area, bar, column, doughnut, line, pie and scatter. A chart gadget supports drill-down when displaying cube-based data. When a chart displays a legend, you can filter data by selecting a legend value. Figure 3-27 shows a column chart.



Figure 3-27 Reviewing a data set in a column chart

Cross tab gadget

A cross tab gadget displays aggregated data in rows and columns. Users can analyze, filter, and download this data by opening the cross tab in the browser-based BIRT Data Analyzer tool. Figure 3-28 shows a cross tab gadget.

Crossta	ab - Data Cube	•										
	1/1			• • I	•							
				2003	3				2004	ŧ		Grand
		1	2	3	4	2003 Total	1	2	3	4	2004 Total	Total
		QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY	QTY
APAC	Australia		447	512	503	1462	436		193	790	1419	2881
	New Zealand		36	196	501	733	259	527		837	1623	2356
	Singapore						79	142	287		508	508
	APAC Total		483	708	1004	2195	774	669	480	1627	3550	5745
NA	Canada				225	225		560	336	95	991	1216
	USA	441	966	2543	4616	8566	1312	2230	3007	4548	11097	19663
	NA Total	441	966	2543	4841	8791	1312	2790	3343	4643	12088	20879
Gra	ind Total	441	1449	3251	<mark>5845</mark>	10986	<mark>2086</mark>	3459	3823	6270	15638	26624

Figure 3-28 Reviewing a data cube in a cross tab

Flash gadget

A Flash gadget displays data in an Adobe Flash-based visualization. Users can filter, group, and aggregate data. Available Flash gadget types are bullet, cylinder, linear gauge, meter, spark line, and thermometer. Figure 3-29 shows a linear gauge gadget.



Figure 3-29 Reviewing a data set in a linear gauge

Flex table gadget

A Flex table gadget displays a data set in a row and column layout. Optionally, users can summarize this data with various aggregation options, filtering, and sorting. Gadget developers can change a Flex table from summary to detail without rebuilding the gadget. Figure 3-30 shows a Flex table gadget.

Adobe Flex Table - I	Data Set		
TERRITORY 1	MIN(ORDERED)	MAX(ORDERED)	SUM(ORDERED)
V APAC	10	90	7034
Classic Cars	10	90	3852
Motorcycles	20	58	1852
▶ Planes	20	50	1330
► EMEA	10	97	28911
▶ Japan	20	55	3180
▶ NA	11 N	85	21107
•	Ц 11		•

Figure 3-30 Reviewing a data set in a Flex table

Table gadget

A table gadget displays a data set in a row and column layout.

Optionally, use aggregation options, filtering, and sorting to summarize this data. The dashboard developer decides if a table gadget displays summary or detailed data when the gadget is created. Figure 3-31 shows a summary table.

Summary Table - Da	ata Set			
≣• 1/1	4 4			
PRODUCTLINE	ORDERDATE	Min (QTY)	Average (QTY)	Max (QTY)
Elanes				
	2003	20	35	50
	2004	20	34	55
	2005	11	36	85
Sub Total (Planes)		11	35	85
EShips				
	2003	20	35	50
	2004	20	34	55
	2005	22	36	49
Sub Total (Ships)		20	35	55
Grand Total		11	35	85

Figure 3-31 Reviewing a data set in a summarized table

About data selection gadgets

You filter data displayed in gadgets by choosing values in data selection gadgets (selectors), such as a list. Other gadgets link to data selection gadgets to filter their displayed data. For example, a selection gadget can be a list of customers. When a user selects a customer from the list, a linked report gadget can show data related to the selected customer.

Data selection gadgets can be linked to other data selection gadgets to present users with related choices. For example, a list gadget displaying customer order numbers is linked to a list gadget displaying customer names. When the user selects a customer name, the order numbers for the selected customer appear in the list gadget of order numbers. The following gadgets are available in the data selection category of gadgets:

Calendar gadget

Users can select day, month, or year from a BIRT data object using calendar gadgets. Fast access to a month or year is available by selecting the month and year, as shown in Figure 3-32.



Figure 3-32 Values in a calendar gadget

Check box gadget

Check box gadgets display data with a check box next to each value, as shown in Figure 3-33. This gadget supports multiple-value selections. Users can also clear the selected value.



Figure 3-33 Values in a check box gadget

Combo box gadget

Combo box gadgets display data in a drop-down list, as shown in Figure 3-34. This gadget supports typing of values, using auto-suggest functionality, and selecting from a list of values.





Data version gadget

This gadget enables you to select the data object store version to display on the dashboard. Other gadgets on the dashboard that use the same data object store display the version selected by the user. Users can select the most current data object store by choosing Latest from the list of available versions.

Figure 3-35 displays different versions of the data object store that a user can select.

Versions - Sales.data	-
Latest	
Version 1 (2010, Q1)	
Version 2 (2010, Q2)	
Version 3 (2010, Q3)	
Version 4 (2010, Q4)	
Version 5 (2010 Final, EMEA)	



List gadget

List gadgets display data in rows, as shown in Figure 3-36. This gadget supports multiple-value selections and searching list items. Press the Ctrl key while selecting separate values; press Shift key while selecting a range of values. You can also clear the selected value.

List - Product 🔷 🔻	
1957 🦪 🍠	 Clear selected value
1957 Chevy Pickup 1957 Vespa G5150 1957 Corvette Convertible 1957 Ford Thunderbird	Search

Figure 3-36 Values in a list gadget

Radio button gadget

Radio button gadgets display data with a radio button next to each value, as shown in Figure 3-37. This gadget supports single-value selections.

Radio - Y	ear	4
0 2003	2004	0 2005

Figure 3-37 Values in a radio gadget

Selector group gadget

Selector group gadgets display values in a cascade. You can pick from lists of related values. When the user chooses apply, linked gadgets on the dashboard update to display data related to the all user selections in the data selector gadget. Figure 3-38 shows a slider gadget.

Data Selector - Customers	~	
	Apply	— Apply selected values
Customer Country	$\langle \rangle$	
FRANCE		Clear selected values
Customer City		
Paris	~	
Customer Name		
Lyon Souveniers	~	— List

Figure 3-38 Values in a selector group gadget

Slider gadget

Slider gadgets display data as a sliding bar with tick marks next to known values. You can slide one or two thumbs along the slider to select values. When two thumbs are displayed, the value between the two thumbs is used to select data. Figure 3-39 shows a slider gadget.

Slider - Week		Slider thumb
Week20	Week 38	

Figure 3-39 Report parameters in a slider gadget

About performance gadgets

Performance gadgets are part of BIRT 360 Plus and display performance objects such as book sections, briefing books, performance maps, and performance views.

Each performance gadget includes a toolbar to enable additional features. For more information about using performance objects, see *User Guide for BIRT Performance Scorecard*.

The following gadgets are available in the performance category:

Book section gadget

This gadget displays a section from a briefing book on the dashboard. Sections are pages or chapters within a briefing book. You can drill-down in displayed measures and use the book toolbar to access additional features such as displaying a time period and comparing data. Figure 3-40 shows an example of a book section gadget.



Figure 3-40 Viewing a book section gadget

Briefing book gadget

This gadget displays a briefing book on the dashboard. Briefing books are a collection of performance measures and locations, organized by individual sections, which are tabs in the book. You can view different sections and use the book toolbar to access features such as displaying a time period and comparing data.

Figure 3-41 shows an example briefing book gadget.

New Briefing Book Gadget 1	*	
Actions 🔻 🖉 Links 🔻 🚖 E-mail 👻 Cover Page	💌 🖶 📷 💣 🔐 Comparison: 💽 Period: 💽	
Customer	T CompanyLogo	
Corporate Excellence	A Sample Book	
VP C/Service	Publisher: Admin	

Figure 3-41 Viewing a briefing book gadget

Performance map gadget

This gadget displays a performance map on the dashboard. You can open links to other objects, such as a briefing book or performance view and use the map toolbar to access features such as displaying a time period and comparing data. Figure 3-42 shows an example performance map gadget.



Figure 3-42 Viewing a performance map gadget

Performance view gadget

A performance view gadget displays performance views on the dashboard. Views show measures, locations, and data in a hierarchical structure. You can drill down in displayed measures and locations and use the view toolbar to access additional features such as displaying a time period and comparing data.

Figure 3-43 shows an example performance view gadget.



Figure 3-43 Viewing a performance view gadget

Using a gadget

A dashboard contains one or more gadget files that display data. Each gadget has actions common to all gadgets, such as printing, refreshing, and maximizing. Other actions are specific to the gadget type such as drill-through and zoom.

Some gadgets offer additional interactivity, depending on the gadget content. For example report gadgets can include toolbars, launch browser-based tools or contain hyperlinks to other Information Console documents or web sites.

You can interact with gadget content depending on the type of gadget:

- Analyze, edit, and add a chart view to cross tabs using BIRT Data Analyzer.
- Drill into charts displaying data cubes to see summary or detail data.
- Drill-through charts that contain hyperlinks to other reports.
- Filter displayed data using data selectors.

- Modify and format reports and tables using BIRT Interactive Viewer.
- Zoom in to a chart's *x*-axis, *y*-axis, or both to view increased detail.

Gadgets on a dashboard include a menu to interact with the gadget and its contents, as shown in Figure 3-44.

Text Gadget 1		 Gadget menu
Sample Text	🎳 Share	
	🔄 Refresh	
	🗱 Delete	
	Always Show Header	
L	🖉 Edit	
	Maximize	
	I Rename	
	Bring To Front	
	Send To Back	
· · · ·	🖳 Link	
	😥 Show Linked Gadgets	

Figure 3-44 Gadget menu

You can refresh data, interact with gadget content, or maximize gadgets to launch browser-based tools, from shared dashboards. Users can move, resize, share, and edit gadgets on user dashboards.

Table 3-2 lists the options available on gadgets.

Option	Description	Shared	User
Always Show Header	Choose to display the gadget header, which includes the gadget icons.		1
Analyze	Maximizes selected gadget and launches appropriate browser-based tool.	1	1
Bring To Front	Move a floating gadget in front of other gadgets.		1
Delete	Remove the selected dashboard gadget.		1
Dock	Change a gadget floating freely to a gadget that is docked to a dashboard column.		1
Edit	Display general options and any special options available to the selected gadget.		1
Float	Change a docked gadget to a floating gadget that can be moved freely.		1

Table 3-2	Gadget settings for shared and use	r gadgets
-----------	------------------------------------	-----------

Option	Description	Shared	User
Link	Choose one or more data selection gadgets on the current dashboard that can filter data in the current gadget.		1
Maximize	Maximizes selected gadget and launches appropriate browser-based tool.		1
Refresh	Reload the content of the selected gadget.	\checkmark	1
Rename	Change the name of the selected gadget.		1
Send To Back	Move a floating gadget behind other gadgets.		1
Share	General sharing options and privileges.		1
Show Linked Gadgets	Display an outline around gadgets that are linked together on the dashboard.	1	1

Table 3-2 Gadget settings for shared and user gadgets

Drilling into a chart gadget

Users can change the data displayed in a chart gadget when Drill into appears in the context menu. Users choose from available categories to view chart data in greater detail. For example, a user viewing a chart of sales data by state can drill down and see sales data by city, office, or employee.

How to drill down in a chart gadget

≣◄

- **1** Select the chart content, the context menu appears.
- 2 In the context menu, choose Drill into <value> where <value> is a data category or data series displayed in the chart, as shown in Figure 3-45.



Figure 3-45 Choosing a drill-down into a chart gadget

The chart displays the new data category or series selected. Users can continue to drill down and receive more detail or drill up to the previous chart view.

Filtering gadget content

Users can filter data displayed in gadgets to limit a display of data to only data matching one or more filter conditions. For example, a user filters a pie chart of top customers from a selected city whose total purchases are above \$30,000 USD. Users can change the data displayed in the following gadgets using filters:

- Chart gadgets
- Flash gadgets
- Flex table gadget
- Table gadget

To filter report and Reportlet gadgets in interactive mode, maximize the gadget.

How to filter a chart gadget

1 Select the gadget content. Filter appears, as shown in Figure 3-46.



Figure 3-46 Filtering a gadget's data

- **2** Choose Filter. Filter appears, as shown in Figure 3-47.

Filter			х
Filter By:	Value: Measures/TotalSales	~	
Condition:	Greater Than or Equal To	*	
Value:	100000	Select Values	
	Advanced Filter Clear Filter		
	OK Cancel		?

Figure 3-47 Creating a filter

- **3** Select the following options:
 - Select the data column to filter. This example uses Measures/TotalSales.
 - Select the filter condition. This example uses Greater Than or Equal To.
 - Type a value. This example uses 100000.
- **4** Choose OK to apply the filter condition.

Optionally, choose Select Values to see a list of possible values. Choose Advanced Filter to create additional filter conditions. Clear Filter erases the current values.

Filtering top and bottom values

You can filter top and bottom values displayed in a gadget to the highest or lowest values in a data set. For example, you can display the top 15% of sales or the lowest 25 customer orders. The following gadgets support filtering top and bottom values:

- Chart gadgets
- Flash gadgets
- Flex table gadget
- Table gadget

To use top and bottom filtering for report and Reportlet gadgets in interactive mode, maximize the gadget.

How to filter the top values in a chart gadget

- **1** Select the chart content. The context menu appears.
- **2** In the context menu, select Filter → Top/Bottom N, as shown in Figure 3-48.

≣⊸	7				
		Filter 🕨	7	7	Filter
C		Change Subtype		N	Top/Bottom N
M	1	Format Chart			
	3	Export Data			
	B	Export Content			

Figure 3-48 Filtering the top or bottom values of a gadget's data

3 In Top/Bottom N—Filter, select Top Percent and enter a value of 15, as shown in Figure 3-49.

Top/Bot	tom N	х
Filter By:	ORDERNUMBER 🗸	
Filter:	Top N Bottom N	15
	Top Percent	
	Bottom Percent No Condition	
	OK Cancel	?

Figure 3-49 Adding a top filter

4 Choose OK. The chart gadget displays the top 15% of the selected data.

Exporting gadget content

Report and data visualization gadgets can export visual content in the following formats: AFP, PDF, and PostScript. Chart gadgets that do not use Adobe Flash also support exporting visual content in Microsoft Excel, Microsoft PowerPoint, and Microsoft Word formats. Gadgets using Adobe Flash for information display can print using the Flash Player print menu, accessible when you right-click on the Adobe Flash object.

Table 3-3 lists gadgets that support exporting their content in different formats.

Gadget type	Normal	Maximized	Flash printing
Chart	1	1	
Cross tab	1		
Flash chart	✓ (PDF)	\checkmark	\checkmark
Flash object	✓ (PDF)	\checkmark	\checkmark
Flex table			
Image			
Report	1	1	
Reportlet	1	\checkmark	
Table	🗸 (in toolbar)	✔ (in toolbar)	
Video			

 Table 3-3
 Availability of export content and printing for gadgets

For more information about exporting formatted content in different file formats, select Online help in Export Content, as shown in Figure 3-51.

How to export a PDF from a report gadget

1 Open the toolbar menu and select Export Content, as shown in Figure 3-50. Export Content appears.



Figure 3-50 Exporting report gadget content

2 In Export Content, select the PDF export format and choose OK, as shown in Figure 3-51.

Export Content		x	
Export Format:	PDF	v	Export format
 Page Settings 			Expand
Page range			Expand
Page style	Auto	~	
BIDI processing	\checkmark		
Text wrapping			
Text hyphenation			
Font substitution			
Embedded font			
Chart DPI	192		
Render chart in vector graphics	\checkmark		
	OK Cancel	?-	Online help

Figure 3-51 Selecting the PDF export format

3 When prompted, save the PDF file to your computer desktop and open the file for printing using Adobe Reader.

How to print an Adobe Flash-based gadget

Use Print Chart from the Adobe Flash Player for gadgets using Adobe Flash. Right-click the gadget content to display Print Chart, as shown in Figure 3-52.



Figure 3-52 Flash print menu

How to export a PDF from a data visualization gadget

1 Select the gadget content. The context menu appears, as shown in Figure 3-53.



Figure 3-53 Opening a gadget's context menu

- **2** In the context menu, select Export Content as shown in Figure 3-53. Export Content appears.
 - **3** In Export Content, select the PDF export format and choose OK, as shown in Figure 3-54.

Export Content		х	
Export Format:	PDF		Export format
 Page Settings 			
Page range			
Page style	Auto	~	
BIDI processing	V		
Text wrapping	\checkmark		
Text hyphenation			
Font substitution	\checkmark		
Embedded font	\checkmark		
Chart DPI	192		
Render chart in vector graphics			
	OK Cancel		 Online help

Figure 3-54 Selecting the PDF export format

4 When prompted, save the PDF file to your computer desktop and open the file for printing using Adobe Reader.

For more information about exporting formatted content in different file formats, search for the term export content in the online help.

Exporting gadget data

Data displaying in a gadget is a result set from the gadget's data source. Report and data visualization gadgets can export these result sets in the following formats: Comma (CSV), Pipe (PSV), Tab (TSV), and Semicolon (SSV). This data downloads as a file.

If you export column headers with the data, you can select to export the column name or the display name. For example, if you export aggregated data from a flex table gadget and the column name is SUM(sold), exporting the column name gives the header name sold and exporting the display name gives the header name SUM(sold). Seeing the display name is useful when there are multiple aggregations of the same column data, such as SUM(sold), AVERAGE(sold) and MAX(sold).

Exported data can open in the user's default viewing software for the selected data format. For example, after viewing a report of orders by a specific customer, the user wants to export a list of the order numbers to include in an e-mail.

Exporting data from data visualization gadgets displays all result sets from all of your gadgets. Choose the name of the gadget from Available Resultsets to



download the selected data. Chart gadgets export only their result set data while they are in minimized form.

Exporting data from report or reportlet gadgets displays all result sets within the displayed BIRT document. Choose the result set from Available Resultsets to download the selected data.

Table 3-4 lists gadgets that support exporting their data in different formats.

Gadget type	Normal gadget size	Maximized gadget size
Chart	\checkmark	\checkmark
Cross tab	✓ (in toolbar)	
Flash chart	\checkmark	\checkmark
Flash objects	\checkmark	\checkmark
Flex table	\checkmark	\checkmark
Report	\checkmark	\checkmark
Reportlet	\checkmark	\checkmark
Table	✓ (in toolbar)	✓ (in toolbar)

 Table 3-4
 Availability of export data for dashboard gadgets

For more information about exporting data from a gadget, select Online help in Export Data, as shown in Figure 3-56.

How to export data from a gadget

- ≣◄
- 1 In the toolbar menu, select Export Data, as shown in Figure 3-55. Export Data appears.



Figure 3-55 Exporting data from a chart gadget

- **2** In Export Data, complete the following steps:
 - Select the desired columns from Available Columns. This example uses the TERRITORY and TotalSales.

- Select an encoding style. This example uses UTF-8.
- Select additional data export options that match the requirements of the software that will process the exported data. This example sets Values Separator to Comma (CSV), as shown in Figure 3-56.
- **3** Choose OK. Data download begins.

Export Data				х
Available Columns: COUNTRY		Selected Columns:		
CUSTOMERNAME ORDERDATE ORDERED ORDERNUMBER PRICEEACH PRODUCTCODE		TotalSales		
PRODUCTLINE				
Encoding Sty	/le			
	if blank, use t	the local encoding)		
Miscellaneou	s			
Maximum Rows Values Separat	s No Li :or Comi	imit ma (CSV)	~	
Localize Colum	n Name Expo	ort Column Name	*	
Export Column	Data type	Export Locale Neutral format		
📝 Export Column) Header	Export Data with Carriage return		
		OK Cancel		?

Figure 3-56 Choosing data to export from a gadget

Exported files use the default viewing software installed on the user's computer. If multiple viewers are available or there is no viewer for the selected file, the user can choose which software opens the file or choose to download the exported data file. For more information about exporting data, search for the term export data in the online help.

Maximizing gadgets

Although gadgets display in a column or free form layout, users can maximize a gadget to fill the browser window. Maximizing a gadget enables more space for viewing data and launches the browser-based tool for editing the selected gadget.

The following browser-based tools are launched by maximizing gadgets on the dashboard:

- BIRT Data Analyzer launches from cross tab gadgets.
- Interactive Viewer launches from chart, report, Reportlet, and table gadgets.

A browser-based tool can save changes to a gadget when the user has write privileges to the dashboard file.

Gadgets are maximized by:

- Double-clicking the gadget title
- Selecting Analyze from the gadget menu
- Selecting Maximize from the gadget header

Interactive Viewer features, such as saving a file, hiding document parts, printing, and linking or embedding the document page, requires that the BIRT document or design file be opened from Information Console and not from within a gadget.

How to launch BIRT Data Analyzer

Launch BIRT Data Analyzer from a cross tab gadget or a report gadget that contains a cross tab by selecting Maximize from the gadget title. Optionally, double-click the cross tab gadget title to maximize the gadget.

 When the maximized gadget is a cross tab gadget, BIRT Data Analyzer opens as shown in Figure 3-57.



Figure 3-57 Launching BIRT Data Analyzer from a cross tab gadget

• When the maximized gadget is a report or Reportlet gadget, right-click the cross tab and choose Analyze, as shown in Figure 3-58.

Report - Crosstab	Sample R	evenue		▼ 🗖	Minimize
		• • •		(21	Analyze
=• 1.2 01032		Classic Cars	Motorcycles	Planes	/ mary20
		Revenue	Revenue	Revenue	
Year/QTR/Mon	th 1 1	\$109,562	\$39,987	\$31,159	
2004	2	\$108,232	\$45,694	\$34,000	
	3	\$99,512			

Figure 3-58 Launching BIRT Data Analyzer from a maximized report gadget

BIRT Data Analyzer opens.

How to launch BIRT Interactive Viewer

Maximize a chart, report, Reportlet, or table gadget by selecting Maximize. Optionally, double-click the gadget title to launch BIRT Interactive Viewer.

After BIRT Interactive Viewer is enabled, right-click part of the report to display the BIRT Interactive Viewer context menu, for example, right-click a title in a column to display sorting, filtering and additional interaction choices.

Figure 3-59 shows the process of maximizing a report gadget to enable interactive viewing.

Report - Customer Ord	er History		v 🗖	М	aximize				
≣- 1/5									
CLASSIC Classic Mo CLASSIC 2207 Bridg	odels, Inc gepointe Parkway), CA 94404								
		Au	Report - Custo	omer Ord	er History				-
Contact: Peter Ferg 636 St Kilda Road	uson			1/5	 • •	► ►[5	(2	
Melbourne, Victoria Australia	3004		CLASSIC Cla 220 MODELS Sar	ssic Ma)7 Bride Mateo	odels, Inc gepointe F o, CA 9440	Parkway)4			
Order Number:	10120						Aust	ralian Collec	tors
S10_2016 S10_4698 S18_2581	1996 Moto Guzzi : 2003 Harley-David Eagle Drag Bike P-51-D Mustang	1100i 2 dson 4 2	Contact: Pet 636 St Kilda Melbourne, V Australia	ter Fer <u>c</u> Road /ictoria	juson 3004			• ↑ ↓ Ţ	
510_2025	El Knucklehead	- 1001	Cod	е	(Header	•	Qty	
			Order Numb S10_2016 S10_4698 S18_2581 S18_2625 S24_1578 S24_1785 S24_2000	er:	101: 1996 f 2003 l Eagle P-51-l 1936 l El Knu 1997 f 1928 f Navy - 1960 f DBD34	Group Column Filter Sort Alignment Format	 <	der Date:	

Figure 3-59 Launching BIRT Interactive Viewer from a gadget

Refreshing gadget content

Users can refresh a gadget to redraw the gadget content. To update gadgets displaying data from a BIRT data object, such as a data visualization gadget, refresh the web browser. Gadgets displaying BIRT documents, external web sites, or real-time data display the latest data when the user refreshes the gadget.

Choose Refresh from the gadget menu, as shown in Figure 3-60, to refresh the content of a gadget.



Figure 3-60 Refreshing content of a bar chart gadget

Showing linked gadgets

You can see which gadgets are linked to a selected gadget by choosing Show Linked Gadgets from a gadget menu. For example, a user wants to see if any data selection gadgets can change the table gadget they are reviewing. By selecting Show Linked Gadgets in the table gadget's menu, the user can see which gadgets can change the data displayed in the table.

How to show linked gadgets

-

1 On the dashboard menu, choose Show Linked Gadgets, as Figure 3-61 shows.

		Crosstab - D	ata Cube					
UK 🗸								Refresh
			Year	2003	2004	20	i ø	Analyze
CITY	V	COUNTRY	CITY	TotalSales	TotalSales	Total	歐	Show Linked Gadgets
	A	UK	Cowes		55621.705			
Cowes			Liverpool	13596.9	45443.543	372	58.94	11
Liverpool			London	49198.432	13619.621			
London			Manchester	25305.781	61797.513			
Manchester		Gran	id Total	88101.113	176482.382	3725	8.94	1



Gadgets that link to the selected gadget appear outlined, as Figure 3-62 shows.

COUNTRY	•	Crosstab - D	ata Cube			▼ □
ик	~					
			Year	2003	2004	2005
CITY		COUNTRY	CITY	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalSales
		UK	Cowes		55621.705	
	4		Liverpool	13596.9	45443.543	37258.941
Cowes			London	49198.432	13619.621	
Liverpool			Manchester	25305.781	61797.513	
London		Gran	id Total	88101.113	176482.382	37258.941
Manchester						
PRODUCTLINE	*					
	Ø					
🗹 Classic Cars	🗹 Ships					
Motorcycles	🗹 Trains					
Planes						

Figure 3-62 Reviewing which gadgets are linked together

2 On the dashboard menu choose Hide Linked Gadgets, as shown in Figure 3-63. The outline around linked gadgets disappears.

Crosstab - D	ata Cube			2		
					କ୍ର	Refresh
	Year	2003	2004	200	ø	Analyze
COUNTRY	CITY	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalS	5	Hide Linked Gadgets
UK	Cowes		55621.705		-	
	Liverpool	13596.9	45443.543	37258	.941	
	London	49198.432	13619.621			1
	Manchester	25305.781	61797.513			
Gran	d Total	88101.113	176482.382	37258	.941	

Figure 3-63 Hiding linked gadgets

Switching the view of a cross tab gadget

Gadget developers can add a chart view to a cross tab to represent the data displayed in the gadget. When the chart view has been added, users can switch between the tabular view and chart view of the data displayed in the cross tab. Choose Switch View in the context menu of the cross tab gadget

BIRT developers can also add chart views to tables and cross tabs in BIRT design files. This content displays in report and Reportlet gadgets on the dashboard, but this gadget must be maximized for Switch View to appear in the context menu.

How to switch views in a cross tab gadget

1 Left-click the gadget content. A context menu appears, as Figure 3-64 shows.

Crosstab -	Data Cube			▼ □	Context men
	Year	2003	2004	2005	
COUNTR	Y CITY	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalSales	
UK	Cowes		55621.705		
	Liverpool	13596.9	45443.543	37258.941	
	London	49198.432	13619.621		
	Manchester	25305.781	61797.513		
Gra	ind Total	88101.113	176482.382	37258.941	

Figure 3-64 Opening a cross tab gadget's context menu

- **2** In the cross tab gadget menu, select Switch View, as shown in Figure 3-65.

Crosstab - Data Cube 🔹 🗖					
Alignment >	2003	2004	2005		
C(Format +	TotalSales	TotalSales	TotalSales		
UI 📰 Switch View		55621.705			
Export Content	13596.9	45443.543	37258.941		
Export Content	49198.432	13619.621			
Manchester	25305.781	61797.513			
Grand Total	88101.113	176482.382	37258.941		



The chart view appears, as shown in Figure 3-66.

Crosstab -	Data Cube					
	TotalSales by COUNTRY, by Year					
ик		-			2004	
	50,000	100,000	150,000	200,000	2000	

Figure 3-66 Displaying the chart view

Zooming in to a chart

You can zoom in to a chart to see details of displayed data. Chart gadgets and charts in BIRT documents support zooming on the *x*-axis, *y*-axis, or both at the same time. Zoom is enabled by the BIRT dashboard developer.

To make an *x*-axis zoom, select a start point on the *x*-axis, drag the mouse to the end point, and then release the mouse button. Figure 3-67 shows an *x*-axis zoom.



Figure 3-67 Zooming on the *x*-axis

Figure 3-68 shows the results of an *x*-axis zoom. Choose Reset zoom to return the chart to the default display or continue to zoom to view additional detail.



Figure 3-68 Finished zoom on the x-axis

To make a *y*-axis zoom, select a start point on the *y*-axis, drag the mouse to the end point, and then release the mouse button. Figure 3-69 shows a *y*-axis zoom.



Figure 3-69 Zooming on the y-axis

Figure 3-70 shows the results of a *y*-axis zoom. Choose Reset zoom to return the chart to the default display or continue to zoom to view additional detail.



Figure 3-70 Finished zoom on the y-axis

To make an *x*- and *y*-axis zoom, select a beginning point on the *y*-axis, drag the mouse to the end point on the *x*-axis, and then release the mouse button. This creates a box around the points to zoom in to, as shown in Figure 3-71.





Figure 3-72 shows the results of an *x*- and *y*-axis zoom.



Figure 3-72 Finished zoom on the x- and y-axis

Choose Reset zoom to return the chart to the default display or zoom again to view additional detail.

Cancelling gadget content generation

Gadgets have time-out settings to limit how long they can attempt to generate content. Users can cancel gadget content generation in the following ways:

- Press Esc to stop generating all gadget content on the visible dashboard.
- Choose Cancel, when the gadget times out, as shown in Figure 3-73.

Gadget content can be regenerated by refreshing the dashboard in the web browser or by selecting the Refresh option in the gadget menu.

Warnin	g
⚠	Warning! The gadget is handling a large data which will take longer to generate. Would you like to continue?
	Cancel

Figure 3-73 Cancelling generation of gadget content

Chapter

4

Running file jobs

This chapter contains the following topics:

- About running and scheduling file jobs
- Running a file job
- Scheduling a file job
- Using parameters
- Tracking a file job
- Using date-and-time expressions in names

About running and scheduling file jobs

Use Information Console to run or schedule BIRT designs, using file jobs. A file job generates a new document file version. When a file job runs, data appearing in the new document version is updated. Parameter values defined in the design are used to limit any data queries in the design to request a specific set of data.

Running or scheduling a file job makes a query request to the external data sources and applies any selected parameters to the query. When a file job is finished, a new document file is either available for viewing in a temporary cache or saved to the Encyclopedia volume. The finished document file can be viewed or downloaded. A document file generated from some Actuate file types can be converted to other document formats such as Adobe PDF, IBM Advanced Function Printing (AFP), or Microsoft Office formats such as Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.

Table 4-1 shows supported items for which a user can run or schedule a file job, the file format of generated output and which items support saving output in third-party file formats.

Input file type	Output created from file job	Save in 3rd- party formats
BIRT designs	BIRT documents	yes
BIRT data object designs	BIRT data object stores	no

Table 4-1 Supported inputs and outputs for file jobs

Users can schedule jobs to run immediately, in the future, or on a recurring basis. Parameters, if the file designer requires them, control data selection and formatting. For example, a document design that makes monthly sales reports can request which month and year to use when creating the report.

An Information Console user can track or cancel a scheduled file job that appears in My Jobs. Users can also select e-mail and channel notifications for successful file jobs. All users who subscribe to the selected channels receive these notifications with links to the new file.

BIRT document files do not run as a file job. BIRT documents support scheduled conversion to save as third-party file formats such as Adobe PDF, IBM Advanced Function Printing (AFP), and Microsoft Office formats such as Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.

Running a file job can be done in the following ways:

- Run or Run and View to view a new document
- Run and Save to save the new document
- Schedule to create the new document in the future or on a recurring basis
Running a file job

All design and executable files, such as BIRT design files and BIRT data object design files appear in the category Items You Can Run. An Information Console user with appropriate privileges can run a design or executable file job. The output of the job appears as a new document in Documents You Can View or as a temporary, in-memory document for immediate viewing or downloading.

When a job is run, the user decides which result they want:

- Create a new document by running the selected file.
- Create a new document by converting the selected document into a different document format.
- Select parameters to filter data in the new document.

Running a BIRT design or report executable job

BIRT Design files appear in Items You Can Run. Run a design as a file job to create a new document version. Use either the browser-based BIRT Studio tool or BIRT Designer Professional to create a BIRT report design file.

An Information Console user can run a design or executable file job in the following ways:

- Run: prompts for parameters, if required, starts generating the document and opens the resulting document in BIRT Viewer or BIRT Interactive Viewer.
- Run and Save: prompts for parameters, if required, and save-as details before opening the resulting document. The document from the finished file job becomes available in the Encyclopedia volume.
- Schedule: prompts for parameters, if required, scheduling, and save-as details before entering the job in the job task list. The document from the finished file job becomes available in the Encyclopedia volume.

A new document inherits permissions from the privilege template of the user running the file job that generates the document. Optionally, the user scheduling or running and saving a job can choose to copy file permissions from the output folder or from the latest version of the file.

How to run a file job without saving

To generate a document without saving it in a volume, using Categories view:

- 1 In Items You Can Run, navigate to the design or report executable file.
- **2** Choose the file name or version number.

Optionally, using Details, Icons, or List view, choose File→Run. In Icons and List view, File menu appears when the cursor is over a file icon.

For a file requiring parameters, Parameters appears, as Figure 4-1 shows.



Figure 4-1Selecting parameters

3 Select or type values for required parameters. Use the Query by Example syntax if the parameter is ad hoc, as explained later in this chapter.

Choose Finish. The generated document appears in a file viewer.

How to run a file job and save a document

To generate a document and save it in a volume, using Categories view:

- 1 In Items You Can Run, navigate to the design or report executable file.
- **2** Choose Run and Save.

Optionally, using Details, Icons, or List view, choose File→Run and Save. In Icons and List view, File menu appears when the cursor is over a file icon.

For a file requiring parameters, Parameters appears, as Figure 4-2 shows.





3 Select or type values for any required parameters. Choose Next.

Optionally, use the Query by Example syntax when the parameter is an ad hoc parameter, as explained later in this chapter.

4 Provide the information necessary to save the scheduled file, as shown in Figure 4-3.

5

Parameters	Save As			0
Output Loca Home fo Other (p	tion: Ilder Ilease speci	fy)	/Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples	rowse
Document N Version Nam	ame: ie:		Stock report *	
If the File Alr Create a C Replace	eady Exists a new version the latest v	:: on version	□ Keep only the latest version(s)	
Copy permis O Output f My privil	sions from: [:] older ege templat ersion of th	te e file		
Cancel			Back	Finish

Figure 4-3

Adding information to save a file job

- 1 In Output Location, select a location to save the document or select the Home folder location. Other locations are available by typing a new location, navigating to a new save location or by using a date-and-time expression as explained later in this chapter.
- 2 In Document Name, accept the default or type a new name. Optionally, use date-and-time expressions as explained later in this chapter.
- 3 In Version Name, optionally type a custom version name.
- 4 Specify a resolution if the file name already exists in the selected location:
 - To create a new version of the report and retain existing versions, accept the default, Create a new version. Optionally, choose how many previous versions to retain by selecting Keep only the latest. Type the number of versions to keep.
 - To replace an existing report version, select Replace the latest version.
- **5** Optionally, in Copy permissions from, choose Output folder or Latest version of the file.

Choose Finish. Information Console displays and saves the generated document.

Scheduling a file job

Information Console can run an executable, document or design file at a scheduled time to enable the user to:

- Continue with other tasks without waiting for report results.
- Run a bursting report. Report bursting generates other report jobs.
- Save the output report document in a specific format or convert an existing BIRT Report document file into another format like Adobe PDF or Microsoft Office formats such as Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.
- Schedule the design or document file to run at a later date and time. For example, outside of peak use time.
- Schedule the design or document file to run on a recurring basis.
- Send a notification with an optional headline to one or more channels that a new document version is available.

Scheduled file jobs support set priority levels between 1 and 1000. The higher the priority value, the higher the priority on the volume.

Table 4-2 lists supported file types and conversion options for report output.

File type	File-name extension	Conversion options
Acrobat portable document format file	pdf	Page range, page style, BIDI processing, text wrapping, text hyphenation, font substitution, embedded font, chart DPI, render chart in vector graphic
Comma-separated values file	CSV	Table name, column list, export columns data type, locale neutral format, encoding, maximum rows
IBM Advanced Function Printing	afp	Page range, chart DPI, page DPI, Plex mode, support the following images: black and white, grayscale, single color, full color RGB, color CMYK
Microsoft Excel format	xls	Page range, text wrapping, enable pivot table, auto adjustment for pivot table, chart DPI, export charts as images, hide grid lines, output to multiple sheets
Microsoft Excel format	xlsx	Same as xls with the following additional option: enable live formulas
Microsoft Word format	doc, docx	Page range, chart DPI

Table 4-2 Supported file types and conversion options

File type	File-name extension	Conversion options
Microsoft PowerPoint format	ppt, pptx	Page range, page style, BIDI processing, text wrapping, font substitution, chart DPI
Pipe-separated values file	psv	Table name, column list, export columns data type, locale neutral format, encoding, maximum rows
PostScript document format	ps	Page range, page style, BIDI processing, text wrapping, font substitution, chart DPI
BIRT document	rptdocument	None
Tab-separated values file	tsv	Table name, column list, export columns data type, locale neutral format, encoding, maximum rows

Table 4-2 Supported file types and conversion options

How to schedule a file job

To schedule a file job using Categories view:

- 1 In Items You Can Run, navigate to the design or document file.
- **2** Choose Schedule.

Optionally, using Details, Icons, or List view, choose File→Schedule. In Icons and List view, File menu appears when the cursor is over a file icon.

3 In Schedule, provide scheduling information, as shown in Figure 4-4.

Schedule	Parameters	Save As						0
	Job Name:	Customer (Order Histor	У			*	
	Priority:	C Low C	Medium	С High	• Other (1	- 1000):	1000	
Executab	ble version:	C Always I Always I	use latest ve use version	ersion of	Customer Or Customer O	der Histo rder Histo	ry.rptdesign pry.rptdesigr	ו ר
Schedulir	ng Options:	Right no	w O Once	C Recu	ring			
Cancel			Back	Next			Finis	h

Figure 4-4

e 4-4 Scheduling a file job

 Accept the default job name or type a new name. To distinguish multiple run schedules for the same report, assign a unique name for each job.

- To set the job priority, select Low, Medium, or High, or select Other and type a priority value.
- Select a scheduling option:
 - De To schedule the report to run immediately, select Right now.
 - To generate the report once on a specified day and time, select Once.
 Type the date-and-time value, or choose the Calendar to select a date.
 - To repeat generating the report, select Recurring, as Figure 4-5 shows.

Scheduling Options:	○ Right now ○ Once ④ Every Day	л		(h	:mm a)			
	Starting 1/17/201	3 🗾 📠	O Sun	Janu Mon	ary Tue	▼ Wed	2013 Thu	Fri	× Sat
					1	2	3	4	5
			6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Cancel	Back	Next	13	14	15	16	17	18	19

Figure 4-5 Scheduling options

Select an interval, such as the first day of every month, and a time to run the report. Optionally, select a start and end date during which the run job repeats.

4 Choose Next. For a file requiring parameters, Parameters appears, as shown in Figure 4-6. Otherwise, Save As appears.



Figure 4-6 Selecting parameters

- **5** Select or type values for required parameters. Use the Query by Example syntax when the parameter is an ad hoc parameter, as explained later in this chapter. Choose Next to specify output settings.
- **6** In Save As, provide the information necessary to save the scheduled file, as shown in Figure 4-7.

•

Schedule Parameters	Save As	0
Headline:]
Output Location:	C Other (please specify)	Browse
Document Name:	Sales report]
Version Name:]
Document Format:	RPTDOCUMENT	
Notification:	Send me an email notification with No Attachment	Ŧ
If the File Already Exists:	• Create a new version	
	C Replace the latest version 🛛 🗖 Keep only the latest	version(s)
Copy permissions from:	C Output folder	
	C My privilege template	
	C Latest version of the file	
Cancel	Back	Finish

Figure 4-7 Adding information to save a file job

- In Headline, type a description of the file job. This description is included in any channel notifications and is saved with the job report.
- In Output Location, select a location to save the document or select the Home folder location. Other locations are available by typing a new location, navigating to a new save location or by using a date-and-time expression, as explained later in this chapter.
- In Document Name, accept the default or type a new name.
- In Version Name, optionally type a unique version name. When scheduling a file job to run on a recurring basis, adding a date-and-time expression creates unique document, directory, or version names.
- 7 Select the document format to generate. Each output type has various conversion options, as shown in Figure 4-8. Additional conversion options appear, depending on the selected document format.

Document Format:	PDF	<u>×</u>
Notification:	E Send me an email notification	with No Attachment
	Conversion options	
	Page range	
	Page style	Auto
	BIDI processing	
	Text wrapping	<u>र</u>
	Text hyphenation	Г
	Font substitution	
	Embedded font	<u>م</u>
	Chart DPI	192
	Render chart in vector graphics	ч ч

Figure 4-8 Selecting output conversion options

- 8 Optionally, to receive an e-mail notification when the file job runs, select Send me an e-mail notification. Select the attachment format to attach a copy of the file job output to the e-mail notification. The user's e-mail address as configured from the Information Console's user options is used to send the e-mail. If the e-mail notification option is not available, contact the administrator.
- **9** Specify a resolution if the file name already exists in the selected location. Select Create a new version to create a new version of the report and retain existing versions. Optionally, choose how many previous versions to retain by selecting Keep only the latest. Type the number of versions to keep.
- **10** Optionally, in Copy permissions from, choose Output folder or Latest version of the file.

Choose Finish. Confirmation of job submission appears, as Figure 4-9 shows.



Figure 4-9 Confirming submission of a scheduled job

Using parameters

A parameter is an element defined in a report or dashboard gadget that provides user input to select data used in a file job. Report developers use parameters to request report data from users. User input may define which records are retrieved, the sorting sequence of the data, and the output format for a report. If an Actuate file has parameters, the user sets the parameter values when running the file job or uses the default parameter values set by the developer. If a report parameter file is available, the user starts a report and loads the report parameters with predefined values.

Understanding parameter types

The parameter types available using Information Console are:

Ad hoc

An ad hoc parameter uses patterns to retrieve or filter data from a document's data source. This data displays in its tables, charts, maps, or other presentation formats built in to the document.

Cascading

Parameter choices depend on other parameters. For example, a parameter to select from a list of cities is empty until the country is selected first.

Multiple value

A multiple-value parameter accepts more than one value to filter the document data. For example, a report that provides sales information about products sold can prompt the user to select multiple products.

Optional

A user can select or group the data presented in a report by typing values or conditions into the optional parameter. If a user does not specify a value for an optional parameter, the document job uses a value set by the design developer.

Required

A required parameter must have a value before the document job can run. For example, a report that accesses a database can require a user name and password or require a user to select a city before running a city report. Typically, a document designer supplies a default value for a required parameter.

Single value

A single-value parameter accepts one value to filter the document data. For example, a report that provides sales information by customer requires the user to select a customer from a list of existing customers.

Figure 4-10 shows Parameters prompting input of values.

Schedule	Parameters	Save As			0
Custome	ers 🕜	ANG Resellers AV Stores, Co. Alpha Cognac American Souve Amica Models &	nirs Inc Co.	•	
Sales Of	fice 🕜 🛛 🛛	San Francisco		-	🗖 No value
Report C	omment 🕜 🛛 🛉	wo so cal cities			
Display D)etails (● No ● Yes			
Set Conf	idential 🕜 🛛 🛛	-			🗖 No value
Due Date 🕢		8/10/2012			
□ Location					
Count	гу 🕜	USA		•	🗖 No value
State		CA		•	🗖 No value
City		Pasadena Glendale San Diego Los Angeles San Jose		×	
Cancel		Back	Next		Finish

Figure 4-10 Using parameters to customize a report

Using multiple-value parameters

Multiple-value parameters are drop-down lists, radio buttons, or checklists. The values you select in a multiple-value parameter restrict the resulting document data to the elements with the selected values for that parameter. For example, selecting years from a multiple-value parameter causes the generated report to show data from the selected years.

Making expressions for ad hoc parameters

The value of an ad hoc parameter can be a single value or an expression. Expressions use special characters called operators to select a group or range of values. For example, a greater than sign (>) specifies matching a value that is greater than the value that follows the symbol, as in >10. In this example, the greater than sign is the operator and 10 is the value.

The type of ad hoc parameter available to Information Console users is a dynamic filter. Dynamic filters request users to build expressions using a single operator.

Examples of using expressions in an ad hoc parameter:

- A single value, such as 10.
- A relational expression, such as >10.
- A range of values, such as 10–20.2.

Dynamic filters are used in BIRT design and document files.

Using a dynamic filter operator

Dynamic filters appear in BIRT design and document files. When dynamic filters exist in an Actuate file, Information Console prompts the user to select from a list of operators and supply a value. The developer decides which operators are available in an Actuate file.

Dynamic filters support multiple values and complex string expressions, depending on the operator. Data matching this expression displays in the output document of the file job.

Figure 4-11 shows an example of using dynamic filter operators to make an ad hoc expression.





Table 4-3 lists the operators that are available in Actuate files. Developers select which operators are available to users of the file.

Table 4-3	Dynamic filter operators
-----------	--------------------------

Operator	Usage
Between	Find data that is between two specific values.
Equal to	Find data equal to a specific value.
Greater than	Find data greater than the specific value.
Greater than or equal to	Find data greater than or equal to the specific value.
In	Find data that matches any of the selected values.
Is false	Find data that equals zero.
Is not null	Find data that does not have a null value.
Is null	Find data that has a null value.
Is true	Find data that does not equal zero.
Less than	Find data less than the specific value.
Less than or equal	Find data less than or equal to the specific value.
	(continues)

Operator	Usage
Like	Find data matching the value's string pattern.
Match	Find data matching the value's string expression.
No condition	Find all values for this parameter.
Not between	Find data that is not between two specific values.
Not equal to	Find data not equal to a specific value.
Not in	Find data that does not match any of the selected values.
Not like	Find data not matching the value's string pattern.
Not match	Find data not matching the value's string expression.

Table 4-3 Dynamic filter operators (continued)

The Like operator supports the following special characters:

- % matches zero or more characters. For example, %ace% matches any value that contains the string ace, such as Ace Corporation, Facebook, Kennedy Space Center, and MySpace.
- _ matches exactly one character. For example, t_n matches tan, ten, tin, and ton. It does not match teen or tn.

The Match operator is case-sensitive and supports special metacharacters that combine to form text patterns called regular expressions. For example, using ^H.*(Gifts | Collectables)\$ to search through a list of company names matches all companies whose name starts with the letter H, has one or more letters after H and includes the word Gifts or Collectables at the end of the name.

If you need to match on a metacharacter, a backslash $(\)$ followed by the metacharacter causes the search to interpret the metacharacter as a normal character.

For example, if \$ is part of the data to be found, it must be entered as \$ because \$ is a metacharacter.

Table 4-4 lists the metacharacters available to form regular expressions with the Match operator. Table 4-5 provides examples of dynamic filter expressions.

Table 4-4	Regular expression metacharacters used with Match
Metacharacter	Usage
	Matches any single character.
*	Matches the previous character zero or more times. For example, po* matches Liverpool and Leipzig.
!	Matches everything not equal to the search expression.
()	Matches all characters in the set between the parentheses.

Table 1 1 Pagular avaragian matacharagters used with Matah

Metacharacter	Usage
	Matches if any one of multiple conditions is true.
[]	Matches any character in the set between the brackets.
[^]	Matches any character not in the set between the brackets.
+	Matches the previous character one or more times. For example, po+ matches Singapore and Liverpool but not Leipzig.
?	Matches the previous character zero or one times. For example, po? matches Singapore and Leipzig.
x{y}	Matches the previous character exactly y times. For example, o{2} matches Liverpool but not Lyon.
^	Matches the start of the string. For example ^A matches Australia but does not match Los Angeles.
\$	Matches the end of the string. For example n\$ matches Lyon.
\	Used with a metacharacter to make it a literal character. For example, to search for a string containing a sign, use
\A	Matches the start of a string.
\b	Matches the edge of a word, beginning, or end.
\B	Matches any place inside a word, but not the edge of a word.
\d	Matches any decimal digit.
\D	Matches any non digit character.
\s	Matches a space.
\S	Matches a non-space.
$\setminus w$	Matches a word that is made of letters, numbers, or an underscore.
$\setminus W$	Matches a non-word.
\Z	Matches the end of a string.
T-1-1- 4 5	

Table 4-4 Regular expression metacharacters used
--

Table 4-5	Example results	for dynamic	filter expressions
-----------	-----------------	-------------	--------------------

Operator	Values	Matches	Does not match
Between	'A'	'Barcelona'	'Zurich'
	'D'	'Dublin'	'Seattle'
Greater than	'Oslo'	'Oulu'	'Oslo'
		'Paris'	'NYC'

(continues)

Operator	Values	Matches	Does not match
In	'Lyon'	'Lyon'	'London'
	'New York'	'New York'	'New Haven'
Is false		'0'	'11'
Like	'A%'	'Amsterdam'	'Zurich'
		'Auckland'	
Like	'B'	'Bern'	'Berlin' or 'Boston'
Like	'Be%n'	'Berlin' or 'Bern'	'Bergamo'
Like	'%& Co%n'	'Handji Gifts& Co'	'Boards & Toys Co'
		'Models & Co.'	'Cruz & Sons Co.'
Match	'es.'	'Manchester'	'Nantes'
Match	'ity'	'City'	'Nantes'
		'Makati City'	'Paris'
Match	'ern'	'Stavern'	'Liverpool'
		'Bern'	'Bergen'
Match	'(ern) (New)'	'Bern'	'Glendale'
		'Newark'	'Cunewalde'
		'New Bedford'	
Match	'A'	'Allentown'	'Nantes'
		'Los Angeles'	'Paris'
Match	'.A'	'Los Angeles' 'Allentown'	
Match	'[A-C]'	'Burbank'	'Frankfurt'
		'Los Angeles'	'Singapore'
		'NYC'	
Match	L[^o]s	'Lisboa'	'Los Angeles'

 Table 4-5
 Example results for dynamic filter expressions (continued)

Tracking a file job

Information Console tracks a report job in the My Jobs area. Depending on its status, a report job appears in Schedules, Waiting for Event, Pending, Running, or Completed, as shown in Figure 4-12.

My Documents 🔻 🏭		🚑 Add Content 📃 Sav
Urup Documents Dashboard Home Public Resources My Jobs Channels	My Jobs - Schedules	
	Schedules Waiting for Event Pending Filter:	Running Completed
Mobile Subscription	Job Name Report Name	Next Run Details
	Sales by Product Line Sales by Product Line	Jan 18, 2013 4:01:00 PM 🛛 🔍
	Customer Order History 🔀 Customer Order History	Jan 18, 2013 4:00:00 PM 🛛 🔍

Figure 4-12 Tracking reports in My Jobs

A submitted report job appears first in Schedules or Waiting for Event. When a job enters the queue, it moves to Pending. When a job executes, it moves to Running. When the document is finished, the file job status moves to Completed. You can delete a job that is in Schedules or Waiting for Event. A job remains in Completed until you delete it. Deleting a completed job removes the job from the channels displaying it.

Only scheduled reports appear in My Jobs, and only file jobs that succeed appear in Completed.

To see more information about a file job, including options to open the output document from the file job and delete the file job information, choose View job detail. The displayed details include:

• Information about the scheduled file job, as shown in Figure 4-13.

<u>My Jobs</u> > <u>Completed</u> > Sales by Product Line : Detail		
Open	Delete Job	
Schedule (Succee	eded)	
Job Name:	Sales by Product Line	
Owner:	Administrator	
Priority:	1000	
Submitted:	Jan 18, 2013 4:01:01:00 PM	
Started:	Jan 18, 2013 4:01:02:00 PM	
Finished:	Jan 18, 2013 4:01:02:05 PM	
Run Job:	The job was scheduled immediately.	
Event Name:		
Event Type:	No event	
Event Parameter:		
Event Status:		

Figure 4-13 Displaying details about a file job

■ Information about the original file used in the file job, as shown in Figure 4-14.



Figure 4-14 Displaying details about the original file used in the file job

Information about the output document from the job, as Figure 4-15 shows.

Output Document	
Name:	Sales by Product Line
Type:	Actuate BIRT Document
Version name:	
Headline:	
Folder:	/Home/user

Figure 4-15 Displaying details about the output document from a file job

• Status of the file job, as shown in Figure 4-16.

Status	
Job completed.	

Figure 4-16 Displaying details about the status of a scheduled file job

Notification settings for the file job, as shown in Figure 4-17.

tification Settings	
end me an email notification:No	
tachment format:	

Figure 4-17 Displaying details about notification settings of a file job

Users can quickly find a specific document by using the filter option to search for files. The My Jobs filter supports using string expressions, as described earlier in this document.

How to filter reports in My Jobs

- 1 In My Jobs, choose Completed. Completed file jobs appear.
- **2** Choose Filter On. The available filter options appear.
- **3** Type a string in the text field. Use the asterisk (*) character to narrow a search. For example, to display all job names that start with Sales, type:

Sales*

4 Choose Apply. The resulting filtered jobs appear. For example, in Figure 4-18, only jobs that start with Sales appear.

My Jobs - Comp	pleted					
Filter: On <u>Off</u>	-					
Schedules	Waiting for Event	Pending	Running	Completed		
Filter: Sales	5*	☑ Succes	eded 🗹 Faile	ed	Apply	Reset
Job Name	Document	Name		Result	Finished	Details
Sales by Pro	duct Line 🔃 Sales by	/ Product Lir	пе	Succee	ded Jan 18, 2013	4:01:02 PM 🔍

Figure 4-18 Filtering jobs

How to cancel a scheduled job

- 1 In My Jobs, choose Schedules. Scheduled file jobs appear.
- **2** In Schedules, choose View job detail for the job to delete. The job details appear, as shown in Figure 4-19.

$\underline{M\gamma Jobs} > \underline{Schedules} > Sales by Product Line : Detail$		
Delete Schedule		
Schedule (Scheduled)		
Job Name:	Sales by Product Line	
Owner:	user	
Priority:	1000	
Next run:	Jan 18, 2013 4:01:01:00 PM	
Run Job:	Once at 11:01 AM on 8/2/2012.	

Figure 4-19 Deleting a scheduled report

3 Choose Delete Schedule. A confirmation page appears to confirm the deletion.

How to delete a job notice from the completed jobs page

- 1 In My Jobs, choose Completed. Completed file jobs appear.
- **2** Choose View job detail of the file job to delete. The completed file job details appears, as shown in Figure 4-20.

M	<u>Mγ Jobs</u> > <u>Completed</u> > Sales by Product Line : Detail		
	Open Delete	e Job	
	Schedule (Succeeded)		
	Job Name:	Sales by Product Line	
	Owner:	user	

Figure 4-20 Viewing details of a completed file job

3 Choose Delete Job. After you delete the job, a confirmation page appears. The job notice is deleted from My Jobs and from notification channels. The output file that was created from the file job must be deleted manually.

Using date-and-time expressions in names

Information Console supports date-and-time expressions to automatically add the document generation date and time value to the:

- File name
- Version of the file
- Directory name where the file will be saved

For example, to display Sales Report followed by the report generation date as a document name, use the following expression:

Sales Report {mm-dd-yy}

On August 28, 2011, the name appears as:

Sales Report 08-28-11

When scheduling a report to run on a recurring basis, adding a date-and-time expression creates unique document, directory, or version names. A user can create date-and-time expressions in either of the following ways:

- Use the date-and-time formats in Table 4-6.
- Create custom date-and-time formats based on the symbols in Table 4-7 and Table 4-8.

Table 4-6 lists the date-and-time format keywords to use and the expression to which each keyword evaluates in a report. This table uses the locale English (USA). Actuate recommends not using General Date, Long Date, Long Time, Medium Time, and Short Time types.

Keyword	Description	Example	Result
General Date	Returns a date and time in the Short Date Long Time format as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{General Date}	01/23/2011 8:53:03PM
Long Date	Returns a Long Date as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{Long Date}	Tuesday, January 23, 2011
Long Time	Returns a Long Time as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{Long Time}	8:45:00 PM
Medium Date	Returns a date with the month name abbreviated to three letters: dd-mmm-yy	{Medium Date}.xls	23-Jan-11.xls

 Table 4-6
 Date-and-time expressions

Keyword	Description	Example	Result
Medium Time	Returns hours and minutes in 12-hour format, including AM/PM designation (hh:nn AM/PM)	{Medium Time}	8:45 PM
Short Date	Returns a Short Date as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{Short Date}.xls	01-23-2011.xls
Short Time	Returns hours and minutes in 24-hour format (hh:nn)	{Short Time}	20:45

Table 4-7 lists the date format symbols to use and the expression to which each symbol evaluates in a report.

Table 4-7Date format symbols

Date-and-time expressions

Table 4-6

Symbol	Description	Example	Result
C	Returns the Short Date Long Time format as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{c}	01/23/2011 8:53:03PM
d	Returns the day of the month without a leading zero (1-31)	Day{d}.xls	Day3.xls
dd	Returns the day of the month with a leading zero (01-31)	Day{dd}.xls	Day03.xls
ddd	Returns the three-letter abbreviation for the weekday	{ddd}.xls	Tue.xls
dddd	Returns the full name of the day of the week	{dddd}	Tuesday
ddddd	Returns the Short Date string as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{ddddd}	01/23/2011
ddddd	Returns the Long Date string as defined in the Information Console locale map file	{dddddd}.xls	Tuesday, January 23, 2011.xls
m	Returns the number of the month without a leading zero	Month{m}.xls	Month1.xls
mm	Returns the number of the month with a leading zero	Month{mm}.xls	Month01.xls
mmm	Returns the three-letter abbreviation for the name of the month	{mmm}.xls	Jan.xls

(continues)

Symbol	Description	Example	Result
mmmm	Returns the full name of the month	{mmmm}.xls	January.xls
w	Returns the day of the week as a number, where Sunday = 1, and Saturday = 7	Weekday{w}.xls	Weekday3.xls
WW	Returns the week of the year as a number (1-53)	Week{ww}.xls	Week4.xls
q	Returns the number of the quarter (1-4)	Quarter{q}.xls	Quarter1.xls
у	Returns the number of the day of the year (1-365)	Day{y}.xls	Day23.xls
уу	Returns the last two digits of the year (00-99)	Year{yy}.xls	Year11.xls
уууу	Returns all four digits of the year (1000-9999)	Year{yyyy}.xls	Year2011.xls

 Table 4-7
 Date format symbols (continued)

Examples and results with a .xls file-name extension are document names. Examples and results without a .xls file-name extension are version names.

Table 4-8 lists the time format symbols that you use and the expression that each symbol evaluates in a report. The examples and results use a .xls file-name extension for names of document file types. The examples and results without a .xls file-name extension are version names.

Table 4-8Time format symbols

Symbol	Description	Example	Result
AMPM	Uses the format that is defined in the Actuate Information Console locale map file. The default format is AM/PM.	{h:n:s AMPM}	8:45:3 PM
AM/PM	Returns AM/am for any hour before	{hh:nn:ss am/pm}	08:45:03 pm
	noon and PM/pm for any hour after. This symbol is case-sensitive.	{hh:nn:ss AM/PM}	08:45:03 PM
A/P or a/p	Returns A/a for any hour before	{h:n:s a/p}	8:45:3 p
	noon and P/p for any hour after noon. This symbol is case-sensitive.	$\{h:n:s A/P\}$	8:45:3 P
h	Returns the hour of the day without the leading zero (0-23).	Hour {h}.xls	Hour 9.xls
hh	Returns the hour of the day with a leading zero (00-23).	Hour {hh}.xls	Hour 09.xls

Symbol	Description	Example	Result
n	Returns the minute without a leading zero (0-59).	Minute {n}.xls	Minute 5.xls
nn	Returns the minute with a leading zero (00-59).	Minute {nn}.xls	Minute 05.xls
S	Returns the number of seconds without a leading zero (0-59).	Second {s}.xls	Second 1.xls
SS	Returns the number of seconds with a leading zero (00-59).	Second {ss}.xls	Second 01.xls
tttt	Uses the format that is defined in the Actuate Information Console locale map file.	{tttt}	8:45:00 PM

Time format symbols

Table 4-8

Times return in 24-hour format unless you use an AM/PM symbol. The symbol for minute is n. The symbol for month is m.

Chapter

5

Using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices

This chapter contains the following topics:

- About using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices
- Using Mobile Subscriptions
- Configuring a connection profile
- Using BIRT Viewer for mobile devices
- Restarting BIRT Viewer for mobile devices

About using BIRT Viewer on mobile devices

You can view BIRT content on Apple[®] and Android[™] mobile devices using Actuate BIRT Viewer for mobile. Table 5-1 shows a comparison of features available based on the type of mobile device you use.

Feature	iPhone	iPad	Android Tablet
Exporting a report		1	1
Printing a report		1	1
Sharing a report		1	1
Using hyperlinks to access other reports	\checkmark	1	1
Using hyperlinks to launch third-party applications		1	1
Using multiple connection profiles		1	1
Using parameters	String parameter values only	1	1
Viewing HTML5 charts	1	1	1

Table 5-1 Comparing BIRT Viewer for mobile features

Using BIRT Viewer for mobile, you can connect to a volume over a virtual private network (VPN) or wireless network. Before you begin you must set up mobile subscriptions to the reports that you want to be viewed on a mobile device. These reports then become available for viewing after you install and configure the BIRT Viewer for mobile application.

Actuate BIRT Viewer HD supports performing the following tasks on tablet devices:

- Viewing BIRT reports
- Printing reports on supported printers
- Specifying parameter values to display specific data in reports
- Using hyperlinks to view additional details in other reports, access external web sites, and send e-mail
- Using contact e-mail and phone numbers in a report

Figure 5-1 shows the BIRT Viewer HD opening screen viewed on a tablet device.



Figure 5-1 BIRT Viewer HD on a tablet device

Actuate BIRT Viewer for mobile supports performing the following tasks on iPhone devices:

- Specifying parameter values to display specific data
- Using hyperlinks to view additional details in other reports
- Viewing HTML5 charts

Figure 5-2 shows the BIRT Viewer for mobile opening screen viewed on an iPhone device.





You must download a specific version of BIRT Viewer, based on your mobile device, as follows:

- If you use a tablet, download BIRT Viewer HD
- If you use a phone, download BIRT Viewer for mobile

After installing the application, you must configure a connection profile to access Actuate Information Console, which contains the reports you want to view. Next, you must log in to Information Console and subscribe to those reports. Then, when BIRT Viewer for mobile connects to Information Console, the BIRT reports become available on your mobile device.

To access Actuate Information Console from your mobile device, first configure a virtual private network (VPN) connection, if the Information Console server is protected by a network firewall. When using BIRT Viewer for mobile, data usage charges can apply depending on how your device connects to the network.

Using Mobile Subscriptions

An Information Console user subscribes to reports, using Mobile Subscriptions. A subscribed report is available for viewing on a mobile device. Typically, a report developer makes a report available for viewing on a mobile device. Figure 5-3 shows how to manage report subscriptions using Mobile Subscriptions.

Mobile Subscriptions		
Add		Add file subscription
Display Name Bookmark	Document Location	-
Revenue History	/Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Revenue History by Product 🖉 Line.rptdesign	Edit
Sales by Customer	/Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Sales by Customer.rptdesign 🞽	subscription
Top 5 Sales Performers	/Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples/Top 5 Sales	Delete subscription

Figure 5-3 Managing reports using Mobile Subscriptions

Each BIRT report you add includes a display name and display orientation. Additionally, you can specify the following options:

- Display a report or a bookmarked component such as a chart, or cross tab.
- Add default parameter values for reports run on demand. Data appearing in the report is based on the values specified for report parameters.

The following section describes how to add reports using Mobile Subscriptions.

How to add a report to Mobile Subscriptions

- 1 Using a web browser, log in to Information Console.
- 2 In My Documents, choose Mobile Subscriptions. Then, choose Add.
 - **3** In Mobile Subscription, choose Browse, as shown in Figure 5-4.

Mobile Subscription	Parameters	0
Report:	Browse	
	(Note: You are subscribing to the latest version of the report)	
Display Name:		
Bookmark (optional):	Select	
Orientation	O Portrait C Landscape	
	Subscribe	cel

Figure 5-4 Selecting BIRT reports to display on a mobile device

4 Navigate to the folder containing the report, as shown in Figure 5-5.

5

urup > Home > administrator > Reports	
Filter: Apply Reset	to navigate
No subfolders exist under /Home/administrator/Reports/	location
Selected item: /Home/administrator/Reports/ OK Cancel	

Figure 5-5 Navigating to a folder to select a report

5 In Filter, optionally type a word, or letters to specify a filter to narrow your search. You can use an asterisk * as a wildcard character if you know only the first or last few letters of the report name you want to search for. This feature is helpful if you do not know the exact name to search for. Choose Apply.

Information Console displays the BIRT reports that match the filter you specified.

6 Select the report that you want to view on a mobile device. If necessary, navigate to a different folder. The example in Figure 5-6 shows the selection of the Customer Order History report in My Documents/Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples.

urup > Public > BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples	-Folder path
Filter: Customer Order * Apply Reset	
Customer Order History.rptdesign (Version 1)	
Selected item: /Public/BIRT and BIRT Studio Examples OK Cancel	

Figure 5-6 Selecting a report for viewing on a mobile device

Choose OK. Mobile Subscription displays the name and folder location for the selected report.

- **7** In Mobile Subscription, provide the following information for the selected report:
 - In Display Name specify a name in place of the file name, to display on the mobile device. The example shown in Figure 5-7 uses the display name Customer Order History.

Mobile Subscription	Parameters		3
Report:	/Public/BIRT and	BIRT Studio Examples/Customer Order Browse	
	(Note: You are sub	scribing to the latest version of the report)	
Display Name:	Customer Order H	istory	
Bookmark (optional):		Select	
Orientation	• Portrait • La	ndscape	
		Subscribe	:el

Figure 5-7 Specifying a display name for the selected report

- In Bookmark (optional) choose Select to view any bookmarks in the report. Report developers add bookmarks to reports using BIRT Designer Professional or BIRT Studio.
- In Orientation, select Portrait or Landscape as the default display mode.

If your report does not require parameter values, go to step 9.

8 If a BIRT report requires parameter values, choose Parameters, as shown in Figure 5-8. Select a value from the list that appears to set as the default.

Mobile Subscription	Parameters		0
Customer		Alpha Cognac	•
		Subscrit	e Cancel

Figure 5-8 Specifying a default parameter value for the report

9 Choose Subscribe. Mobile Subscriptions displays the newly added report, as shown in Figure 5-9.



Figure 5-9 Reviewing a new mobile subscription

10 Repeat steps 3–9 to subscribe to additional reports.

Configuring a connection profile

If you use BIRT Viewer HD, you can create multiple connection profiles. If you use BIRT Viewer for mobile, you can create a single connection profile at a time. Each profile contains information required to log in to an Information Console account, available from your volume administrator.

How to create a new connection profile

To create a new connection profile, complete the following steps:

- **1** On your mobile device, launch BIRT Viewer and choose Settings.
- **2** Select New Profile if using a tablet device.
- **3** Add the following information, available from your volume administrator:
 - Profile Name
 On tablet devices, this is a name for the connection profile.

80

User Name

The user account name to log in to Information Console.

Password

The password associated with the user account on Information Console.

Server

Select Actuate Server.

Mobile URL

The URL to access Information Console. Use the following syntax:

http://localhost.domain.com:8900/iportal/m.

When connecting to BIRT iHub Release 2, use /m at the end of the URL to access features not supported in earlier releases. Contact your system administrator for more information about the Information Console URL.

Volume

The name of the Encyclopedia volume that stores the BIRT reports you selected in Mobile Subscriptions.

4 Choose Save, as shown in Figure 5-10.

Please enter your creden con	tials to access your BIRT Mobile tent below
Profile Name:	BIRT iHub
User Name:	administrator
Password:	•••••
Edit this profile:	
Server:	Actuate Server
Mobile URL:	urup.actuate.com:8700/iportal/m
Volume:	urup
Save Reset	Delete Cancel
0	Version 3.2

Figure 5-10 Configuring a new connection profile

If you select an existing profile, you can modify the settings to update the profile.

Using BIRT Viewer for mobile devices

BIRT iHub Release 2 introduces several new features for BIRT Viewer users. Using BIRT Viewer HD to connect to a volume, you can perform the following tasks:

- View a report.
- Navigate a multipage report using the page selector bar or table of contents.
- Export content to PDF and XLS formats.
- Print a report.
- Use dynamic and static parameter values to view specific data in a report.
- Launch third-party applications installed on the mobile device.
- Share the report.

Viewing a report

You can view reports using BIRT Viewer once you configure a connection profile and add reports to Mobile Subscriptions. Available BIRT reports appear in My Documents. As you view a report, a cached copy is stored temporarily for use offline.

How to view a BIRT report on a tablet device

1 Launch BIRT Viewer HD. The most recently-used connection profile is used to establish a connection.



- 1 To open a new connection profile or edit an existing one, choose Settings. Available connection profiles appear.
- 2 Select a connection profile from the list and choose OK.
- 3 Choose Update. The connection profile takes effect.
- **2** In My Documents, select a report and choose Open.
 - If the BIRT report does not contain parameters, all the data in the report is displayed.
 - If the BIRT report contains parameters, Parameters appears. You can either specify values or accept default values to run the report. Once you make your selection, choose Finish. The BIRT report displays data for the specified parameter values.

The example in Figure 5-11 shows selecting the Revenue History report.

My Documents	C-			Refresh
Revenue History		Pavanua History	Open	
Customer Order History		7/26/2012 5:13 PM	Open	
Sales by Customer		7/20/2012 5.15 111		
Top 5 Sales Performers				
Load More				

Figure 5-11 Opening a BIRT report

If your report is not visible, choose Load More to see additional reports or Refresh to reload the mobile subscriptions.

How to open a recently used BIRT report

You can view a copy of recently opened reports using Open Recent.

- 1 Launch BIRT Viewer HD.
- 2 In My Documents, select a report and choose open.
- **3** Choose Open Recent, as shown in Figure 5-12.

Classic Models, Inc 2207 Bridgepointe Parkway San Mateo, CA 94404 Customer Sales Dashboard	C		Open Recent
DEVENUE HISTORY TOP 5 CUSTOMERS		Classic Models, Inc 2207 Bridgepointe Parkway San Mateo, CA 94404 PEVENUE HISTORY TOP 5 CUSTOMERS	

Figure 5-12 Opening recent reports

4 Select a recently viewed report. Figure 5-13 shows available reports for viewing.



Figure 5-13 Selecting a recent report

How to view a BIRT report on an iPhone

You can only specify a single connection profile at a time when using BIRT Viewer for mobile on an iPhone. Because of the smaller screen size, BIRT Viewer for mobile displays report subscriptions immediately, as shown in Figure 5-14.

1 Launch BIRT Viewer for mobile.



Figure 5-14 Displaying available reports on an Apple iPhone

- **2** Select a report from the list to open it.
- **3** If the report contains parameters, an arrow appears next to the title, as shown in Figure 5-14. Specify a parameter value based on the prompt.

BIRT Viewer for mobile displays data for the specified value.

Navigating a multipage report

Using BIRT Viewer HD you can use the following features to navigate multipage BIRT reports:

- Sliding the page
 Slide the page to the left for the next page or to the right for the previous page.
- Using the page selector

Drag the page selector to a specific page number, as shown in Figure 5-15.



Figure 5-15 Using the page selector to view a page

- Using the table of contents
 - Select an entry from the available list. If the list contains additional entries, an arrow appears as shown in Figure 5-16. Use the arrow to navigate the table of contents and select the entry for which you want to view data.

	Table of contents Addi	itional	entrie	S		
×	els, Inc	Sale	es by (Customer		
MOO	Table of Content				Sales by	Customer
	Atelier graphique	>		Payment:	\$22,314.36	
Orde Orde	Australian Collectors,	Co. >		Shipped Date:	May 22, 2003 12:00 AM	
Prod	1			Orders	Price Each	Price
S18	Baana Mini Importo			26	\$120.71	\$3,138,46
S18		-	SS	46	\$114.84	\$5,282.64
S18			adster	34	\$117.26	\$3,986.84
S24_	Blauer See Auto, Co.	>	C	50	\$43.27	\$2,163.50
Orde						
Orde	La Rochelle Gifts	>		Shipped Date:	Oct 1, 2004 12:00 AM	
Prod				Orders	Price Each	Price
S10_	Mini Gifts Distributors	Ltd.		39	\$105.86	\$4,128.54
S18_	S18_2625 1936 Harley Davidson El 32 \$60.57 \$1,938.24 Knucklehead					
	Page 1 Of 24					
-						Page 1 of 24
Jui	ie zoj zozz			inerraring er com		rage 1 0124

Figure 5-16 Using the table of contents

Using parameter values

When you open a BIRT report containing parameters, the Parameters page appears. You supply parameter values and then choose Finish to run the report. Default values appear if the report developer adds them. You can specify default parameter values to use for the report when you set up Mobile Subscriptions using Information Console.



If you use an iPhone mobile device, BIRT Viewer notifies you that a parameter is required and you can then select Parameters to supply parameter values.

To view the same data in a report that requires parameters, you can specify the parameter values using Information Console. Then save the report as a BIRT document and add it to Mobile Subscriptions. Name the report based on the specified parameter values.

How to use parameter values

To specify parameter values based on which BIRT Viewer HD displays data, complete the following steps:

1 In My Documents, select a report that uses parameters and choose Open. Parameters appears, as shown in Figure 5-17.

Parameters		0
Product Line	In v 3 Items	
Order Date	Between v Jan 6, 2003	× ×
Credit Limit	Greater than v 5000	v
ReleaseDate	8/5/2012 IO:34:18 AM	No value
InternalOnly	• Yes No	
Comments	none	No value
City	Equal to v Boston	V
Order Number		No value
Cancel	Back Next	Finish

Figure 5-17 Providing values to parameters

2 In Parameters specify values for each field. You can select from a list of values as shown in Figure 5-17, or type the value. Figure 5-18 shows how you can select an operator and one or more associated values.

	Operator	list	List of v	alues
Parameters				0
Product Line	_In	3 Items		
Order Date	Between v	Jan 6, 2003	Done	
Credit Limit	Greater than V			
ReleaseDate	6/26/2012	Classic Cars		O No value
InternalOnly	Yes No	Motorcycles		
Comments	none	Planes	✓ .	No value
Order Number		Ships	✓ -	No value
Cancel		Trains	~	Finish
		Trucks and Buses		
		Vintage Cars		

Figure 5-18 Selecting parameter values

- **3** Choose Done after making your selection.
- **4** On Parameters, choose Finish.

The report displays data based on the operator and values that you specify.

Exporting a report

BIRT Viewer HD supports exporting a report in Excel (XLS) and PDF formats. To view reports in either format on your mobile device, you must install applications that support viewing these formats. For example, to view a PDF file on the mobile device, install Adobe Reader or an equivalent PDF reader. Adobe Reader enables additional features such as adding comments, e-mailing and printing the PDF file.

How to export a report

To export a report, complete the following steps:

- 1 In My Documents, open a report.
- 2 Select the report to display the BIRT viewer navigation bar.



3 From the navigation bar, select the context menu, then choose Export Content, as shown in Figure 5-19.





4 In Export Content, select a format to export the report output, as shown in Figure 5-20. Then, choose Done.

Cancel Exp	ort Content	Done
Export Format:	PDF	-
Page Settings		
Page range	Excel (XLS)	
	PDF	 Image: A start of the start of

Figure 5-20 Selecting an export format

5 If you are using an Android device, a list of third-party applications appears. Select an application, as shown in Figure 5-21.





Choose Done to close the application viewer and return to BIRT Viewer HD.

- **6** If you are using an Apple device, the report opens in BIRT Viewer HD. Continue with the following steps:
- 2
- 1 Choose Action.
- **2** In Action, choose a third-party application to open the report. The report launches in the selected application. Figure 5-22 shows actions available for a PDF file.




- 3 When you finish viewing the report in the selected third-party application, choose Done.
- 4 To return to BIRT Viewer HD, double-click the home button to display open applications, then choose BIRT Viewer. Figure 5-23 shows open applications.



Figure 5-23 Returning to BIRT Viewer from a different application

Printing a report

If you have a print application, such as PrinterShare[™] for Android devices or AirPrint[™] for Apple devices, you can print PDF files from your mobile device. The available paper size options depend on the locale setting of your mobile device. Use your computer to print documents that contain Adobe Flash.

How to print from an Apple tablet device

1 After exporting the BIRT report as a PDF file, in Apple devices, in the Action menu, choose Print, as shown in Figure 5-24.



Figure 5-24 Printin

Printing from an iPad

2 In Printer Options, choose Select Printer as shown in Figure 5-25.

Printer Options			
Printer	Select Printer >		
Range	All Pages >		
1 Сору	- +		
Print			

Figure 5-25 Viewing printer options

3 In Printer, select an available printer, as shown in Figure 5-26. Choose Printer Options. The available options depend on the printers in your network.

Printer Options Printer	
Copen On My PC	
✓ Print to Xerox 7328 Office	
Save to Dropbox	
Save to SharePoint	



4 In Printer Options, change the selected option, if necessary. Then, choose Print.

How to print from an Android tablet device

After exporting a PDF version of the report on an Android device, users select the printing application. Choose a printing application, such as PrinterShare. Then, follow the printing instructions for that application.

Figure 5-27 shows third-party applications that can open a PDF file on an Android device.



Figure 5-27 Choosing an application to open the PDF

Sharing a report

Using the context menu, you can share a report using e-mail in BIRT Viewer HD. When you choose Email in the context menu, BIRT Viewer HD attaches a PDF copy of the report to a new e-mail message using the default e-mail account configured on the mobile device.

Launching third-party applications

BIRT report developers can create links on text, charts, and images in a report, enabling you to open other BIRT reports, or launch third-party applications on your mobile device. BIRT Viewer HD supports using links in BIRT reports to launch third-party applications. BIRT Viewer for mobile supports using links to open other BIRT reports containing additional information.

Links to third party applications are essentially URI (Uniform Resource Indicator) schemes that open applications installed on your mobile device. For example in a simple report listing customers and their contact information, the customer name can contain a link, which when selected launches a report containing order information for that customer. Native iOS applications installed on an Apple mobile device can also launch from a link. For example, if the customer phone number in the example report contains a link, selecting it can launch the phone application and call the selected number.

A link can support multiple actions. Tap and hold the link to display a menu containing available options. For example, you can use a phone number to make a phone call, to send a text message, to add the number to a contact list, or to copy the number. Tap the link to use the default action. The default action for a phone number on a mobile phone device is to call the number.

Additional examples include selecting a zip code in a report to launch a map application, selecting a link to a video that launches a video player, and selecting a hyperlink to launch a specific browser displaying the associated web site.

Restarting BIRT Viewer for mobile devices

You can restart BIRT Viewer for Apple devices using the home screen. Apple devices running iOS 4.3 and later versions support background tasks.

How to restart BIRT Viewer using an Apple device

- 1 Verify that BIRT Viewer is not running in the background by double-clicking the Home button. A list of active applications appears.
- **2** If BIRT Viewer appears in this list, press and hold the BIRT Viewer icon until a minus sign appears on the top left corner of the icon, as shown in Figure 5-28.



Figure 5-28 Closing BIRT Viewer

- **3** Choose the minus sign on the BIRT Viewer icon to close the application. This action does not delete the application from the device.
- **4** Launch the application to restart it.

How to reset BIRT Viewer using an Android device

- 1 Choose Settings from the Android mobile device.
- **2** Select Applications and choose Manage applications.
- **3** Choose BIRT Viewer, as shown in Figure 5-29. Application info appears.
- 4 On Application info, choose Clear data, as shown in Figure 5-30.
- **5** Choose OK when asked to verify that you will delete the application's data.
- 6 Choose Force Stop.
- **7** Choose OK when asked if you are sure that you want to force the application to stop.
- **8** Return to the Home screen.
- **9** Choose BIRT Viewer to restart the application using default settings.





Manage applications Application info			
B I BIRT Viewer HD R T version 3.1			
Force stop	Uninstall		
Storage			
Total	1.49MB		
Application	1.41MB		
Data	80.00KB		
SD card 0.0			
Clear data			
Cache			
Cache	6.72MB		
	Clear cache		

Figure 5-30 Clearing application settings

Index

Symbols

^ operator 48
, (comma) operator 48
! operator 48
? operator 48
[] operator 48
[] operator 48
* operator 48, 51
\ (backslash) character 49, 112
operator 48
% (percent sign) character 112
< operator 48
> operator 48, 110
- (hyphen) operator 48
_ (underscore) character 112

A

access restrictions 39, 42 Access Rights pane 26 accessing Actuate documentation 22 channels 40 dashboards 3, 59 data sources 100 Encyclopedia volume contents 26 Encyclopedia volumes 4 external content 73 folder contents 43 Information Console 3, 5, 125 Information Console features 2, 4, 10 web browser-based tools 2, 19 Acrobat Catalog 24 Actuate product information 24 ad hoc parameters 109, 110 Add file links 7 Add File subfeature 11 adding bookmarks 18 channels 53 connection profiles 128 e-mail addresses 14 file types 31 folder shortcuts 16

folders 45 gadgets 58,81 links 139 report files 29 administrators 2 Adobe Acrobat Catalog 24 Adobe Flash content 86 See also Flash gadgets Advanced Data subfeature 11 Advanced Filter option 85 Advanced Function Printing (IBM). See AFP formats AFP formats 86, 104 aggregate values 74,88 Always Show Header command 82 archive policies 26, 29 archiving report files 29 attachments 14, 108 Auto Archive pane 26

B

backslash ($\)$ character 49, 112 banner 6 Between operator 111 BIRT Data Analyzer 19, 23, 91 BIRT document files 32 BIRT iHub system. See iHub system BIRT Interactive Viewer 19, 91, 92 BIRT Performance Scorecard 20 BIRT reports 37, 38, 69 BIRT Studio 21, 23 BIRT Studio links 7 BIRT Viewer 22, 23, 125, 140 BIRT Viewer for mobile feature 124, 125 BIRT Viewer HD feature 124, 130 Blank dashboard setting 15 blank dashboards 14, 15 book section gadgets 79 bookmarks 18,70 briefing book gadgets 79 Bring To Front command 82 browsers. See web browsers bursting 104

button gadgets 78 buttons 110

С

calendar gadgets 76 calendars 69 cancelling scheduled jobs 117 Categories view 7, 9, 34 changing dashboards 59, 60, 67, 72 data 83 data sources 3 external content 73 notification options 15 passwords 14 report designs 3, 38 report gadgets 72 template files 3 channel notifications 16, 40, 54 channels 40, 52, 53, 115 Channels feature 11 Channels icon 53 channels links 7 characters as literal values 49 filter expressions and 51 pattern matching and 112 search expressions and 48 chart gadgets 74, 83, 86, 89 chart types 74 chart view 95 charts 69, 73, 96 check box gadgets 77 check boxes 69 checklists 110 classic skin 9 Clear Filter option 85 code 69,73 column headers 88 column layouts (gadgets) 62 column names 88 combo box gadgets 77 comma-separated values files 36, 88, 104 completed jobs 54, 115 completed jobs page 117 completion notices 54, 55, 117

connection profiles 128 connections Encyclopedia volumes 4 mobile devices and 124, 129 conversion options 104, 107 Copy command 62 copying dashboards 62, 64 My Documents page 16 Create a new version setting 103 Create Folder subfeature 11 create report design operations 36 creating channels 53 connection profiles 128 dashboards 64 folder shortcuts 16 folders 45 report designs 36, 101 report documents 103 cross tab gadgets 95, 74, 86, 89 cross tabs 69 .csv files 36, 88, 104 cube view files 36 cube-based data 74 currency formats 5 custom file types 31 Customization feature 11 customizing dashboards 14,62 folder shortcuts 16 Information Console 2, 7, 13, 18 Information Console features 10 skins 18

D

Dashboard bar 7 Dashboard Developer subfeature 11 dashboard files 34, 36, 60 Dashboard folder 43, 47 Dashboard menu 61 dashboard mode 2 dashboard options 14–15, 61, 62 dashboard options pane 14 dashboard titles 62 dashboard tools 2 dashboards accessing 3 adding gadgets to 81 additional documentation for 23 changing 59, 60, 72 copying 62, 64 creating 64 deleting 62, 63 displaying data on 58, 65 displaying folders in 16 displaying links to 7 embedding external content in 73 embedding gadgets in 69,70 interacting with data in 58 opening 32, 59 personalizing 14, 62 printing 65 renaming 63 reordering 62 resetting 15, 65, 68 saving 67 setting default layouts for 15 subscribing to 60 updating 60, 64 viewing 12 data changing 83 displaying 31, 69, 76 exporting 88,89 filtering 109, 111 grouping 109, 110 retrieving 100, 108 searching 111 selecting 65, 108, 110 updating 72, 100 Data Analyzer 19, 23, 91 data cubes. See cube-based data .data files 36 data filters. See filters data object design files 38 See also data object files data object files 34 data object store 36 data object store files 34 See also data object files data objects 69 data repository. See Encyclopedia volumes

data selection gadgets 65, 69, 71, 76, 83 data sets. See result sets data source map files 35 data sources accessing external 100 accessing information objects and 34 changing 3 creating dashboards and 62 retrieving data from 100, 108 searching for data in 111 selecting data in 65, 108, 110 data usage charges (mobile devices) 125 data visualization gadgets 69, 73, 86, 88 databases 31,34 .datadesign files 38 date expressions 118–121 date format symbols 119 date formats 5, 118, 119 date stamps 118–121 default folder 16 Default Folder dialog 17 default skin 9 default values 65, 109 default viewer 32 Delete access right 28, 39 Delete command 29, 62, 82 Delete File subfeature 11 Delete Folder subfeature 11 delete operations 35, 37, 38 delete privileges 39 deleting completion notices 55 dashboards 62, 63 folders 12, 46 gadgets 82 jobs 115, 117 notifications 117 report files 12, 27, 28 design files accessing 33 creating 36, 101 embedding 69,70 generating 100 running 38, 101 designs 3,36 See also design files Details view 7, 26

directory names 118 directory paths 43 Display Filter settings 14 display names 88 display options (mobile devices) 126 displaying aggregate values 74 archive policies 26 channel contents 41 dashboards 12 data 31, 69, 76 external content 73 file properties 26 files 26 filter options 14 folders 16, 26, 43 gadgets 70 jobs 53, 114, 115 license options 12 locale-specific reports 5 mobile documents 130–132 privileges 26 report documents 18, 31, 54, 124 report parameters 70 Do not share setting 39 .doc files 36 Dock command 82 docked gadgets 82 document file formats 33 document file operations 37 document file types 32, 36 document files accessing 34 adding bookmarks for 18 converting output for 105 creating 100 displaying 31, 124 embedding 69,70 generating 33, 101, 102 naming 103, 107 opening 14 running 18, 100 saving 102, 103 viewing contents 18, 31, 54 document folder links 7 document viewing option 14 documentation v, 2, 19, 22-24

documentation files 22, 24 documentation updates 24 documents. See document files; document file types Documents feature 11 Documents You Can View category 36 .docx files 36 Download File subfeature 12 downloading documentation files 22 exported data 90 report files 33 third-party files 31 Drill into <categories> command 83 drop-down lists 110 dynamic filter expressions 112 dynamic filter operators 111, 112 dynamic filters 110, 111

Ε

Edit command 82 edit operations 37, 38 editors 73 e-mail 16, 108 e-mail addresses 14 e-mail services 14 embedded documents 70 Enable filters setting 14 Encyclopedia volumes accessing business documents and 2 accessing items in 26 adding items to 29 archiving files and 29 browsing content in 3 connecting to 4 filtering items in 51-52 logging in to 5 logging out of 6 moving items in 44 removing files from 27, 28 removing items in 12 searching 47, 47–50 selecting 5 storing reports and 43 .epr files 36 Equal to operator 111

Excel spreadsheet files 32, 37, 104 executable files 36, 38, 101 Execute access right 39 execute privileges 39, 41 Export Content command 86, 89, 135 Export Content dialog 87, 88 Export Data dialog 89 exporting data 88,89 gadget content 86-88 mobile reports 135–137 expressions adding date or time stamps with 118–121 filtering data and 112 filtering Encyclopedia volumes and 51 filtering gadget content and 84 searching Encyclopedia volumes and 47– 50 setting parameter values and 110, 111 external content 73 external data sources 100 external databases 34 external links 27 external procedure object files 36 external resources 59 extras category 73 extras gadgets 69,73

F

favorites. See bookmarks features 2, 4, 11 file and folder pane 7, 26 file categories 34 file explorer 16 file explorer mode 2 File menu icon 26 file-name extensions 48 file names 8, 118 file operations Categories view 7 document files 37 File menu 8 information objects 35 mobile devices 130 run operations and 38 file paths 43

file properties 26 file search pane 7 file type icons 8, 35, 36, 38 file types adding custom 31 documents 32, 36 file details and 35 file operations and 26 information objects 35 overview 33 report output 104 run operations 38 viewing 7,8 file view 7 file-name extensions 48 files accessing 3, 26 adding to folders 29 archiving 29 assigning privileges to 42 creating 103 deleting 12, 27, 28 displaying 26 downloading documentation 22 downloading report 33 downloading third-party 31 filtering 51 grouping 47 moving 44 restricting access to 39, 42 saving 31, 106 searching 47, 48, 49, 50 setting conversion options for 104, 107 setting date or time stamps for 118–121 viewing properties 26 Filter dialog 84 filter expressions 51, 84, 112 filter options 14, 51 filtering channel contents 53 channels 53 data 109, 111 Encyclopedia volumes 51–52 gadget content 60, 84, 85 jobs 116 filters 85, 110, 111

firewalls 125 Flash chart gadgets 73, 86, 89 Flash gadget types 75 Flash gadgets 75,87 Flash objects 69, 86, 89 Flex table gadgets 75, 86, 89 Flex tables 69 Float command 82 floating gadgets 82 Folder menu 44 folder names 8 folder shortcuts 16 folders adding files to 29 assigning privileges to 39, 41 creating 45 deleting 12, 46 displaying 26, 43 filtering items in 51 moving 44 opening 43 organizing contents 47 restricting access to 43 searching 47, 48, 49, 50 storing reports and 43 viewing home 16 viewing links to 7 viewing paths 43 viewing properties 44 format symbols 119, 120 formats exporting data and 88 exporting gadget content and 86 generating reports and 33, 100, 107 saving report documents and 31 selecting locale-specific 5 formatted content 31, 69 formatting date and time values 118–121 free form layouts (gadgets) 15, 62 functionality levels 10, 39

G

gadget files 36, 70 gadget headers 70, 82 gadget icons 82 gadget menu 70, 82 gadget options 82 gadget titles 70 gadget tools 2 gadget types 69,75 gadgets adding 58, 81 aligning multiple 15 cancelling content generation 98 changing data in 84 deleting 82 displaying data in 69 displaying linked status of 93 drilling down in 83, 85, 88 embedding documents in 69,70 embedding external content in 73 exporting content 86, 87 exporting data only 88–90 filtering content in 60, 84, 85 linking 76 maximizing 90, 91 opening 32 organizing on dashboards 15 printing 87 renaming 83 updating 72, 73, 83, 91, 93 viewing 70 General Date keywords 118 General tab (Options) 13 generating report designs 100 report documents 33, 101, 102 glossary of terms 23 Google gadget files 58, 70 Grant access right 39 grant privileges 39 graphic layout options. See skins graphical user interface. See user interface graphs. See charts Greater than operator 111 Greater than or equal to operator 111 grouping data 109, 110 notifications 53 report files 47 GUIs. See user interface

Η

headers 70, 82, 88 headlines 107 help 19 hiding filter options 14 home directory links 7 home folders 16, 43, 47 HTML code 69, 73 HTML documentation 22 HTML documents 36, 69 HTML gadgets 73 HTML text editor 73 hyperlinks 73 *See also* URLs hypertext markup language. *See* HTML code

I

IBM Advanced Function Printing. See AFP formats icon images 7 *See also* file type icons Icons view 8 iHub Encyclopedia. See Encyclopedia volumes iHub licensing options 12 iHub servers accessing Encyclopedia and 4 mobile devices and 124, 125, 129 running jobs and 104 sending completion notices over 52 viewing report documents and 18 iHub system 3 iHub system documentation 22, 24 image formats 73 image gadgets 73, 86 image viewer 73 images 58, 69, 73 immediate jobs 106 import gadgets 73 In operator 111 Information Console accessing browser-based tools and 19,90 accessing features 2, 4, 10 accessing from mobile devices 125 browsing volume content and 3 browsing web content and 59

delivering content and 2 enabling filter options for 14 exiting 6 missing features in 2, 4 navigating through 6 personalizing 2, 7, 13, 18 running 4 setting functionality levels for 39 setting locale-specific formats for 5 starting 5 tracking jobs and 114 viewing iHub licenses 12 Information Console login page 5 Information Console pages. See web pages information delivery solutions 2 information object data sources 34 information object file operations 35 information object file types 35 information object files 34 information objects 35 Information Objects category 35 inner banner menu 7 input 108 Interactive Viewer 19, 91, 92 interactive viewing 12 Interactive Viewing subfeature 12 .iob files 35 iOS operating system 140 iPhone devices 125, 132 iportal 5 Is false operator 111 Is not null operator 111 Is null operator 111 Is true operator 111 iServer System. See iHub system Items You Can Run category 38

J

JavaScript code 69, 73 job names 105 Job Priority subfeature 12 job status links 7 jobs adding bookmarks for 18 cancelling 117 deleting 115, 117 jobs (continued) displaying 53, 114, 115 filtering 116 providing input for 108 running 100, 101–103, 104 scheduling 100, 104–108, 118 sending notifications for 15, 16, 54–55, 108 Jobs feature 11

Κ

Keep only the latest setting 103

L

language settings 5 Layout command 62 layout options. See skins Less than operator 111 Less than or equal operator 111 licensing options 12 Like operator 112 Link command 83 link options 139 linked gadgets 93 links 6, 18, 27, 139 See also URLs list gadgets 77 List view 8 lists 69, 70, 76, 110 literal values 49 locales 5 Log out button 6 logging in to Encyclopedia 5 login credentials 5 login page 5 Long Date keywords 118 Long Time keywords 118

Μ

mail services 14 Manage Data command 62 Manuals directory 24 manuals. *See* documentation map files 35 Match operator 112 media services 73 Medium Date keywords 118 Medium Time keywords 119 menus 6, 70, 139 metacharacters 112 mobile browsing information 7 mobile connection profiles 128 mobile devices 124, 140 mobile display options 126 Mobile feature 11 mobile reports displaying recently opened 131 exporting 135-137 navigating through mobile 132 printing 137–138 setting parameter values for 133–134 sharing 139 viewing 124, 130–132 mobile subscription links 7 Mobile Subscriptions feature 126 Mobile Subscriptions icon 126 moving files and folders 44 multipage mobile reports 132 multiple-value parameters 109, 110 My dashboard tab 14 My Documents file explorer 16 My Documents page 4, 16 My Jobs folder 114

Ν

naming conflicts 103, 108 native iOS applications 139 navigation pane 7, 9 networked environments 2, 58, 73 No Condition operator 112 Not between operator 112 Not equal to operator 112 Not equal to operator 112 Not like operator 112 Not like operator 112 Not match operator 112 notification groups 53 notification options 15, 16 notifications 14, 40, 54–55, 108, 117 Notifications tab 16 number formats 5

0

online documentation v, 2, 22-24

online help 19, 22 See also online documentation Open in a new browser setting 14 open operations 37 Open Recent icon 131 opening **BIRT Viewer** 140 browser-based tools 90 dashboards 32, 59 Data Analyzer 91 document files 14 folders 43 gadgets 32 Information Console 5 Interactive Viewer 92 web browser-based tools 19 operators filter expressions 110, 111 search expressions 48 optional parameters 109 options (Information Console) 13, 16 options (licensing) 12 Options command 62 Options icon 13 output 36, 38 output formats export operations 88 gadgets 86 jobs 33, 100, 107 third-party documents 31 output locations 103, 107

Ρ

page count 7 page layouts 4 parameter gadgets 71 parameter types 109, 110 parameters displaying 70 filtering with 51, 110 retrieving data with 70, 71, 100, 108 running jobs and 102, 106 setting values for 109, 110 viewing mobile reports and 130, 132, 133– 134 Parameters page 102, 106, 133 passwords 5, 14 paths 43 pattern matching 109, 112 PDF documentation 19, 22, 24 PDF documents 36, 137 PDF files 32, 104 PDF formats 86 pending jobs 115 percent sign (%) character 112 performance gadgets 70, 79 performance map gadgets 80 Performance Scorecard 20 performance view gadgets 81 personal channels 16, 52 personal dashboards 14, 59, 62, 64 personalizing Information Console 2, 7, 13, 18 pipe-separated values file 36, 88, 105 play lists 73 plug-ins 59 port numbers 5 PostScript files 36, 86, 105 PowerPoint files 32, 36, 105 presentation modes 2 printing chart gadgets 60 dashboards 65 Flash content 86 gadget content 87 mobile documents 137–138 reports 40 priority settings (jobs) 106 privileges accessing folders and 41 accessing report files and 18, 42 assigning 39–43 creating folders and 45, 47 deleting files and 27 deleting folders and 46 displaying 26 embedding documents and 70 running information objects and 35 running reports and 18, 38 searching Encyclopedia and 47 subscribing to dashboards and 60 product updates 24

properties 26, 44 .psv files 36, 88, 105 Public folder 43, 47

Q

queries 34, 100

R

radio button gadgets 78 radio buttons 110 range of values 110 Read access right 39 read privileges 39, 40 recurring jobs 106, 118 Refresh command 83 regular expressions 112 relational databases. See databases release notes 24 removing. See deleting Rename command 62, 63, 83 renaming dashboards 63 gadgets 83 Replace the latest version setting 103 replacing report versions 40, 103 report bursting 104 report design files accessing 33 creating 36, 101 embedding 69,70 generating 100 running 38, 101 report designs 3, 36 report document file formats 33 report document file types 32, 36 report document files accessing 34 adding bookmarks for 18 converting output for 105 creating 100 displaying 31, 124 embedding 69,70 generating 33, 101, 102 naming 103, 107 opening 14 running 18, 100

saving 102, 103 viewing contents 18, 31, 54 report documents 18 See also report document files report executable files 36, 38, 101 report file categories 34 report files accessing 3, 26 adding to folders 29 archiving 29 assigning privileges to 42 creating 103 deleting 12, 27, 28 displaying 26 downloading 33 filtering 51 grouping 47 moving 44 restricting access to 39, 42 saving 31, 106 searching 47, 48, 49, 50 setting conversion options for 104, 107 setting date or time stamps for 118–121 viewing properties 26 report gadgets 70, 86, 89 report parameter values files 38, 109 report parameters. See parameters report servers. See iHub servers report template files 37 report viewers 23, 31, 32, 37 reporting system. See iHub system Reportlet gadgets 72, 86, 89 reports content delivery and 31 controlling access to 18 converting output 104, 107 displaying 124 generating 33, 101, 102 localizing 5 maintaining different versions 103, 108 overwriting 40, 103 printing 40, 137 retrieving data for 100, 108 running multiple 105 selecting data for 108, 110 selecting parameters in 70 storing 3, 43

viewing on mobile devices. See mobile reports repository. See Encyclopedia volumes required parameters 109 resources 59 Resources folder 43, 47 result sets 88 rich text formats 37 roles 4, 10 .rptdocument files 37 .rptlibrary files 37 .rpttemplate files 37 .rtf files 37 Run and Save command 102 run and save operations 38 Run command 101 run operations 38 running browser-based tools 19 jobs 100, 101–103, 104

S

Save As page 106 saving dashboards 67 Information Console options 16 report documents 31, 102, 103 report files 106 temporary files 27 URLs 18 Schedule command 105 schedule operations 37, 38 Schedule page (Items You Can Run) 105 scheduled jobs 115, 117 Schedules page (My Jobs) 117 scheduling jobs 100, 104-108, 118 scheduling options 106 search expressions 47-50 Search feature 11 searching channels 53 data sources 111 documentation files 24 Encyclopedia volumes 47, 47–50 Secure read access right 39 secure read privileges 39

security 59 security roles 4, 10 Select Folder dialog 17 Select Values option 85 selection gadgets. See data selection gadgets Self Notification With Attachment subfeature 12 semicolon-separated values files 88 Send To Back command 83 sending notifications 40 servers 5 See also iHub servers Share command 62,83 Share Dashboard subfeature 12 Share File subfeature 12 share operations 26, 35, 37, 38, 39, 41, 139 shared dashboard files 60 Shared dashboard setting 15 Short Date keywords 119 Short Time keywords 119 Show Selections command 62, 65 Show selections command 65 single-value parameters 109 skin manager 18 skin options 9 skins 4, 9–10, 18 slider gadgets 78 sliders 69 .sma files 35 Snap to Grid setting 15 source code 69,73 spreadsheet files 37, 104 spreadsheets 31 SQL queries 34 .ssv files 88 starting Information Console 5 strings filter expressions and 51 matching character patterns in 111, 112 search expressions and 48 structured content 31 subfeatures 11 subfolders 39, 45, 47 Subscribe Channel subfeature 12 subscribed dashboards 62 subscribing to channels 52, 53 subscribing to dashboards 60

summary values 74, 88 Switch View command 95 System default setting (dashboards) 15 system information 10 system resources. *See* resources

Т

tabbed skin 9 table gadgets 75, 86, 89 tables 69 tablet devices 124, 130, 137, 138 tabs 9,62 tab-separated values files 37, 88, 105 template files 3, 37 temporary files 27, 38 text 69 text editor 73 text files 31, 36, 37 text gadgets 73 text patterns 112 third-party applications 139 third-party files 31 third-party formats 31, 100 time expressions 118–121 time format symbols 120 time formats 5, 118, 120 time stamps 5, 118–121 time zones 5 toolbar. See inner banner menu tracking jobs 114 transient files 27, 38 treeview skin 9, 10 .tsv files 37, 88, 105

U

unavailable URLs 18 underscore (_) character 112 Uniform Resource Identifiers. *See* URIs Uniform Resource Locators. *See* URLs updates (documentation) 24 updates (product) 24 updating dashboards 60, 64 data 72, 100 e-mail addresses 14 external content 73

gadgets 83, 91, 93 passwords 14 URIs 18, 139 URLs adding gadgets and 73 becoming unavailable 18 creating dashboards and 58 mobile device profiles and 129 obtaining documentation and product information 22, 24 saving 18 sending notifications and 54 starting Information Console and 5 user information 10 user interface 5,6 user names 5, 14, 50 user roles. See security roles user selection lists 69, 70, 76, 110 users assigning privileges 39–43 changing passwords for 14 Information Console logins and 4 missing or erased dashboards and 14 sending notifications to 15, 16, 54-55, 108 setting channel subscriptions for 53 setting e-mail addresses for 14 subscribing to channels and 52 subscribing to dashboards and 60, 64 viewing privileges assigned to 26

V

values assigning to parameters 109, 110 retrieving specific 110, 111 specifying default 109 version names 103, 107, 118 versions 40, 103, 118 video gadgets 73, 86 video players 73 videos 58, 69 View folder detail icon 44 View in PDF operations 38 View job detail icon 54 viewers 23, 31, 32, 37 viewing aggregated values 74

archive policies 26 channel contents 41 dashboards 12 data 31, 69, 76 external content 73 file properties 26 files 26 filter options 14 folders 16, 26, 43 gadgets 70 jobs 53, 114, 115 license options 12 locale-specific reports 5 mobile documents 130–132 privileges 26 report documents 18, 31, 54, 124 report parameters 70 views 4, 43 virtual private network (VPN) connections 125 Visible access right 39 visible privileges 39, 41 volume information 10

Volume profile setting 5 volume profiles 4 volumes. *See* Encyclopedia volumes VPN connections 125

W

web addresses. *See* URLs web browser-based tools 2, 19, 90 web browsers 3, 5, 14, 59 web pages saving as favorites 18 viewing external content and 69, 73 viewing network content and 58 web servers 5 Word document files 36, 104 Word documents 32, 86 Write access right 39 write privileges 39, 40

Χ

.xls files 37 .xlsx files 37